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Financial Highlights

RS2

The following tables are summaries of the Group's results,
assets, liabilities and equity for the past five financial years:

TERBTEBBESBEVREEZEE B

E-BEREOHE:

Year ended 31 December

HE12BMHLEEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

20215 20204 20194 20185 201745

Results ES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFR AREFx AR®TRT AREFRT AR®TR

Revenue comprising: WA BE 548,507 441,570 446,236 1,045,414 1,557,652

MLCC business MLCCEH 444,589 352,236 367,285 1,143,656 739,343
Investment and REHEHRSE

financial services 103,918 89,334 78,951 (159,011) 152,450

Other general trading Hi—fRE - - = 60,769 665,859

Cost of sales HE A (330,316) (290,784) (381,920) (584,723) (1,179,036)

Gross profit eVl 218,191 150,786 64,316 460,691 378,616
Profit/(Loss) for the year i UN=iE7:2=PN 2t

attributable to owners of FENE/ (BB
the Company 68,819 (5,767) (125,976) 159,620 134,032
Basic earnings/(loss) per share SREARRBH,/ (BB  92centsfll (0.8 cents{l (16.9)centsfll 214 centsfll  18.6 cents fll
As at 31 December
®12R318

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

20215 20204 20194 20184 20174

Assets and liabilities BERER RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFTR ARETRT AR®Fx ARETR

Total assets mEE 1,589,542 1,364,869 1,318,648 1,795,968 2,051,985

Total liabilities = 641,100 478,337 438,855 802,542 1,208,522
Total equity attributable to AAREE AEMG

owners of the Company Y 939,226 870,683 867,338 987,020 832,175

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Chunhua (Chairman)
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Corporate Information

KEEH

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC
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No.13 Gaoxin North 4th Road
Songpingshan Community
Xili Subdistrict

Nanshan District

Shenzhen, the PRC
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Mr. Zhou Chunhua
Mr. Lo Chung Man

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lo Chung Man

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
Citibank N.A.

China Construction Bank Corporation

Ping An Bank Co., Ltd

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co. Ltd Hong Kong Branch
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd
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LEGAL ADVISOR AS TO HONG KONG LAW ERIAEER

Junhe Law Offices EEEMERM

LEGAL ADVISOR AS TO CAYMAN HEEAEEMN
ISLANDS LAW
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STOCK CODE AR
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHS

ANNUAL RESULTS OF 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's
revenue amounted to RMB548.5 million, representing an
increase of approximately 24.2% compared to last year, of
which the gross profit margin of the Multi-layer Ceramic
Capacitors (“MLCC") business increased to 25.7% from
17.5% of last year. The profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year was approximately RMB68.8 million,
as compared to a loss of RMB5.8 million from last year.

MARKET TREND

In 2021, driven by factors such as the continued
accommodative fiscal and monetary policies of the world's
major economies and the acceleration of global vaccine
production and vaccination, the global economy showed
signs of recovery from the previous year. Since 2021, with
the recovery of economic activities, terminal demand rose,
driving the development of the MLCC industry, especially
in the first half of the year, continuing the trend in the
second half of 2020. The MLCC industry maintained a
high level of prosperity in the first half of the year. In the
second half of the year, the serious shortage of chips
prevented some downstream manufacturers from normal
production, which accordingly decreased the demand for
passive components. Also, in the second half of the year,
the distributors concentrated on sales to lower inventory
level after stockpiling in the first half of the year, which
inhibited the shipment demand for MLCC manufacturers.
Besides, costs of material, energy and transportation rose,
and the competition was intensified in the industry. All of
these factors have brought pressure to the development of
the MLCC industry, leading to a pullback of the industry's
prosperity in the second half of the year.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

20212 FXE

HE2021F12831HEE2EE mERAK
ABARKSA48 SEAB T  BEELHY
242% HEP R XL EBEEZEEREE (TMLCCY)
EENEFNERREEMI7T 5%IRFAE25.7% °
2ERBBEEAEHRENNOAARKE6S.8H
B MEENEBEBAUAARBES SERTO

hiZE8E

2001 EFHAFERERERFTEERNE K
EBEREUREZEKEGEENZENERER
ZENEFH 2T 2RBER E—FFEHEND
RoBE021FE HBELKLE TN ME > &
WEK FR BHTMLCCITEZRRE  LEHZE
LFHEEBT2020E FHFEEMBE > MLCC
TEEL¥FERFTIBRENERE-EATF
FEoBO T HEBBRRBOREEXIBRNE
E OISt NEREAERL MEED
BT ¥FEEEMHMETEFEEPHER
EF WM& TMICCEENEEE K b M
BB R-B@EAALFA ERNFEIFNE > &
LRRBEMICCITEMERERT ANBE
N ERTHEFETESREBEIRA-



Despite of short-term volatile markets and intense
competition, the Group is still firmly optimistic about the
future development of the MLCC industry. On the one
hand, with the rapid iterative upgrading of in the long run,
smartphones and other consumer electronic products, the
upgrading of communication technologies, the increase
in the rate of automotive electronics and the increase in
new energy vehicles, as well as the development of new
infrastructure and the Internet of Things, MLCC products,
as one of the most common basic components, still have
extensive room for market growth. On the other hand, in
the global MLCC competitive situation, the market share of
manufacturers in Mainland China is still very low and the
technical force is relatively weak in general. In the context
of escalating trade frictions, there is an increasing demand
for domestic substitution of MLCC to ensure the stability
of the supply chain. In China's Outline of the 14th Five-
Year Plan and Vision 2035, the Chinese government clearly
proposed to fully implement the strategy of developing
China into a manufacturing powerhouse, and proposed to
accelerate to cover the bottleneck shortage of basic parts
and components, basic software, basic materials, basic
craftsmanship and industrial technologies. The deepening
of the domestic substitution process also provides a good
opportunity for the rapid development of China's MLCC
industry.

The funds managed and invested by the Group mainly
invest in alternative products in Mainland China and
mature overseas markets. The funds valuation is sensitive
to the overall global macroeconomic trend of the market.
In 2021, our overall performance was affected by the
outbreak of COVID-19 which had a significant impact on
global social economy and livelihood since 2020, resulting
in a drastic fluctuation of the financial markets, which
posed certain challenges to this segment’s operation of
the Group. The global financial markets are expected to
bounce back as the outbreak is controlled, government
stimulus measures are implemented and economic activities
restart.

Chairman’s Statement

EREHRS

BHAEHATSEMRE RFHLEHNZ
BB - BEERBAXRE FXEENARABREERY
MLCCITERKN SR — T EH > BEEETF
WREMBEEFEMRBNREBERT K B
M EHRBA AEEFIERNEAMN
MERSENEMN HER - YBENERE
MLCCERFARBANER TS Z—>
EHmBEREEDAER - S—FE 2
KMLCCHFRB R PEIKEBEFGE T
GRERDARBERMHEREBEES-
HETEHABRNESER RREHERZ
2> MLCCEHEBEANBREBRE - E(TEH
FTOEEFHRBM2035F2RER)ME
oh > FR B BT PR B 4R HH R A B Tl B 4 o B R B
BE - MR HBIREEERZT M Rt
ERANG - ERMH - ERIZNEEZERME
REMRBER BEENERMF WGP
MLICCEXERIEHTEREEENRTFHSE-

AEEFMEEMKRENEESFTEREPBEAE
RIBEARATBETSEERRE ESHE
M ERCERECEERRAHE 12021
FoOoREBREREEESTCOVID-1IMIEE
Z, B2020FEE2HHERE - EEFELEEKX
FE CERNEMMBENRIUEE HAEEIL
RIBHUBELTR—ENNE -FBABEELEBER
A RERKRETBERILEHRELSENRE
Mo 2IREM MBS TETRE YD -

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHS

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

MLCC is an industry that requires long-term technical
precipitation. Over the past 20 years, the Group's MLCC
business has laid a solid foundation for independent
research and development and large-scale production,
and has accumulated a good reputation among
customers. Miniaturization and high-frequency products
are the traditional advantages of the Group, and worth
the Group’s continuous cultivation. While maintaining
the traditional core advantages, the Group has also
continuously explored new market growth points and
increased the added value of products and technologies in
various aspects. In 2021, the Group has launched 008004
(0.25mm*0.125mm™*0.125mm) ultra-miniature MLCC
product which is the smallest size in the industry. The
product has successfully filled the blank in micro-miniature
field for China’'s MLCC manufacturers, and reached the
international advanced level. In addition, the Group has
also developed large-size high-capacitance and microwave
high-Q MLCC products, and realized the preparation
and delivery of industrial-grade and automotive-grade
products. In view of the changing market demands, relying
on a sound management system and a stable backbone
team, the Group adheres to technological innovation,
continuously improves its technological research and
development capabilities to broaden product boundaries,
so as to meet customer needs.

Against the active promotion of new infrastructure
construction and domestic substitution by the Chinese
government, the Group will continue to seize the
opportunity by increasing investment in MLCC business
and further enhancing the production capacity and
technology standard. The Group is gearing up for building
new production bases in Chuzhou and Dongguan so
as to realize the migration and expansion of existing
production capacity. At present, the construction works of
the new base in Chuzhou has been basically completed,
it is expected to put into operation in the second half of
this year. The new base in Dongguan has been listed as
Major Project of Dongguan in 2022 and its preparation
and construction work is advanced in order. Upon the new
bases being completed and put into operation, the Group's
MLCC production capacity will be significantly increased
with diverse product offerings, and the added value and
competitiveness of the industry will be further enhanced.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%
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MLCCE—RBRERMAKMITBNITE K&
EMLICCEBER - TERBEEEETMENR
BEEEFTEII T TRENER EEFHEE
RETRENOBR -HYENSHELERR
EENEREZ FAEBETE —BEFER
HMITE, EREZEHEZLEZNRARF > 7 F
BB TISIERA > 2 HURS E RN
& 2021 F > REBERTER/NRTH
008004 (0.25mm*0.125mm*0.125mm) 8
MEMLCCESR > BEMH T REMLCCRE R
EEBMARIAER  EmE R R EK
FofRrIbZ S REBTRINMET ART S
BRMKESEQ MLCCEm BRTIEMRK B
RMMERNEERIN EHFNEHEENTS
EXR AEBRENREFNEERRNBEN
B & B B BRI AR R B 1R & BT b 3
RN IMRERBR mETREFEX

T R B BT AR Ak o 2 R B B R R B 2 SR AN
EERNARBZE 2T AEESEBTEER
WE > MAMLCCR A E—PRAEEMNK
i 7K ¥ o 2 & [ IE 93 B! 72 B 0 A 51 52 o 3t 3
ERFNEERM UEBRRAEENERIE
ke BRI BMHEMEKLERTH TLEET
BRSNS ETFFENRE - R EM
A7 /RETH202268EAREE  RBEEH
MER TEOERRASZMMEE - f At E N
REB AEENMLCCERERFABIEM &
mEAEBEE EXNMENRIHORE
—F Rt



Pertaining to the asset management segment, the Group
will strengthen internal management and compliance and
risk management. Meanwhile, we will actively reduce the
impact of the epidemic through active management. In the
future, The Group will maintain a stable team and actively
look for new investment opportunities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Last year, under the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
development of the Company was also affected negatively
to a certain extent. However, with the joint efforts of the
directors and colleagues of the Company, the operating
condition of the Company gradually improved and the
management standard was further enhanced. | would
like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to
all of our directors and colleagues for their efforts and
dedication during the past year. Also, | would like to
express my gratitude to all shareholders, investors and
customers for their constant trust and support. The Group
will strive for the sustainable development of the businesses
so as to maximise value for the shareholders and other
stakeholders.

Zhou Chunhua
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 March 2022

Chairman’s Statement

EREHRS

EEEEEBRE EERMEANLEE B
REREE-AR BRTHEE BREL
EENRFE - RF EEAFRFERRE I
RBESHMBRERS -

g
EFEHECOVID-19EBENEE T RAIMNERE
thEIN-—ENEEXE BREEEENRTR
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ESMATRCERTRE BEAREBE—
FENESNHAMH ARFROERBEARRE
REEMEZTRAHAM-—ENGEENIFTER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEESwmA D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the global
economic recovery is still difficult amid repeated COVID-19
outbreaks. As the MLCC business is the Group’s main
business and a major source of growth, the management
is committed to overcoming the challenges and resolving
the difficulties so as to grow and strengthen the MLCC
segment in accordance with the established plans. For
the year ended 31 December 2021, the investment and
financial services segment has remained stable.

MLCC

The MLCC industry experienced a “development process
from up to down” in 2021. In the first half of 2021,
with a rising market demand for PC laptops, data centers
and recreational machines driven by 5G base stations,
smartphones, work-from-home and remote education as
well as recovering demand for automobiles, there was an
increasing need for the supply of MLCC. In addition, a
number of major manufacturers in the industry released
news of raising prices frequently, which drove the
purchasing intention of the distributors in the industry. The
Group’s MLCC business achieved remarkable growth in the
first half of the year. In the second half of 2021, however,
the serious shortage of chip prevented downstream
manufacturers from normal production, which restrained
the demand for passive components. Also, in the second
half of the year, the distributors sped up sales to lower
inventory level, and the competition also heated up in the
industry, which forced market price down. Besides, the
pandemic have disrupted global supply chains and caused
rising cost for certain materials and transportation. All of
these have had the negative impact on the Group’s MLCC
business in the second half of the year. Nevertheless, the
MLCC segment of the Group actively responded to those
effects and achieved a sales revenue of RMB444.6 million
throughout the year, representing an increase of 26.2% as
compared to the corresponding period last year, with gross
profit margin increased to 25.7% from 17.5% in 2020.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR
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EF5MEE

HE2021F12831HIEEEHBE > 2EHK
AHFETRHES(COVID-19)BEHNRE TE
HEH AMILCCEBRREAEENEIEXEER
FTERERR EEBR N RIS RERE
o MR TE IR R BE A 5T 8 MUK MBEMLCC
DEEFE -HE2021F 12831 LEFE &
BEHETRMIRB D EETERE

MLCC

2021F > MLCCITEEET TR S &K1 A8
Be L¥F Sal OEGRUL -BREFH
BERWA-BRAEEFHHHIPCEE - BIET
ODMEREETEBTRNBAREATRY
ZEWME  MLCCHIEXRBEZ Lk Mz &
FEENSRABELHRERS HFESH T
FRAREBHNRBER AEBEMLCCHER L
FEXBRERBE-BEEATH¥FE -BART
HERERCERE TREEZIBRNEE  HRE
TEaEFNBEROZEMG LI REFET
FEMEHEUREZF  ZABRFME > T 5
BEEWRER BN EBERESZEDIKMERE
A BB BB A L BEERHE K
EEMICCOB T ENEERFEELETAER
FE AN BEEXAEBMLCCH & 18 i
BH 2FTHHEERARBI44 688
REFRPAER26.2% > EFXHK2020FH
17.5% R A E25.7% °



Management Discussion and Analysis

In view of the changing market environment, the
Group continues to increase investment in research and
development in order to build and enhance its core
competency. On the one hand, the Group stays committed
to the traditional field of consumption grade, and on
the other hand, accelerates research and development
of technology and strategic deployment in the industrial
and automotive grade. In 2021, the Group has launched
008004 (0.25mm*0.125mm*0.125mm) ultra-miniature
MLCC product which is the smallest size in the industry,
becoming the first domestic company to pass the testing
and appraisal of the authoritative organization--CEPREI
(China Electronic Product Reliability and Environmental
Testing Research Institute), and such product has also been
recognized as a scientific and technological achievement by
Guangdong Electronics Industry Association. The successful
research and development of 008004 product has filled
the blank in China’s micro-miniature MLCC industry. In
addition, the Group has also developed large-size high-
capacitance and microwave high-Q MLCC products,
and realized the preparation and delivery of industrial-
grade and automotive-grade products. The Group has
been promoting technological innovation, and thus
effectively improved the overall technical level, realized the
diversification of product series, enhanced the Company’s
core competency, and further enhanced its reputation in
the industry while meeting customers’ needs. In 2021,
Shenzhen EYANG Technology Development Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, was recognized
as the Engineering Technology Research Center of
Guangdong Province.

While enhancing the technical level, the Group has
also reinforced its investment in personnel, equipment,
environmental protection, informatization and automation.
During the reporting period, the two factories of the
Group in Dongguan and Anhui were in normal production
and operation with stable personnel. The two factories
have strengthened staff training and refined management
to meet customers’ needs and proactively promoted
measures to reduce costs and raise efficiency. Despite the
complicated market conditions, the Group stays committed
to prioritizing customers’ needs and insists on innovation.
With the constantly enhancing technical capacity, the
Group has enlarged the application fields and scope of
the products and expanded cooperation with strategic
customers.

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ

mH SN HIBIRIE » A5 B4 8 0 Kb 8
BACHERABEEMNZOBEF N —HFEE
BHHEBEREFEEFTHMAE Z—F @
AR T2 4R A0 B8 4R AR 48 330 BY 1 i B &5 A e B
B 21 F  AEBHRHETER/NRTH
008004(0.25mm*0.125mm*0.125mm)iB
BAMILCCER FABRNERBAERILE—
THEEERE (PTEHBE %Euujﬁﬁg—ﬁ}a
IREBRMZER) WA ST WBEEREE

TEREWRERREETFE 008004 E &
MR IhERE TR MEMLCCEITIER T T EH
BRZER BRIEZIN KEBIHRINFET X
RIE28EMESQ MLCCER BIRT T
HBHRRERNEBRIT AEBESH
MR BRMOMIEA T BB KFE - BRT

EmrIBNZHELE - BETRLORFN &
mEE R E Xmﬂﬁﬁﬁ TmETERO

Beo2021F AEBTFTBE22EFREFII™
FHRENRSEEAERADIWNIEAERE LR
R ZT ALy o

T%ﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ AEBIFMART A
E-RBE BREEEL -BFEHRA R

B AERTEZR=MZHWELRE
F%ﬁE%’AE%EOmMIFWﬁTAE
BIMBHEEEE  FimEERER WLE
muEERN BERERER -BHATIHIRRE
MOEBERAEEBRFEREL BFAIMN K
AETHRERANKMAKFIERT EmER A
MEREE EATHEBETRNGIEREKE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B Rk

To seize the opportunity of domestic substitution of MLCC,
the Group is gearing up for building new production bases
in Chuzhou and Dongguan so as to realize the migration
and expansion of existing production capacity. During the
reporting period, the main structure of the new base in
Chuzhou has been completed, and the preparation work
for the new base in Dongguan was in process.

Asset Management

As at 31 December 2021, the Group is managing 11
funds, each with a distinct focus. The Group derives asset
management fee income by providing asset management
services to the funds. The capital commitments from their
limited partners are listed in the table below. The Group,
being one of the limited partners, also directly invests into
six of the funds.

Unit: US$ million

HTMEMICCHEBERNKE ~&EEE
DAEBMNANREZMEERRERTNEER
o LBRBEEANEBER REHHE
BN EM B TR TR T RENTE KA
TFEMERESHET -

EEEHE

R2021F 128318 AEBEEBI1EES
BREEATHAETNANKREER FEBEBD
ZEETRHUHEEEERTBTMELEEEERE
BEWA-ZSEEZAEREBAZEEERS
RTIEAN-AEEFREF-—LBEREBAT
ERRERHEPARRER-

B HGEET

Capital Commitment
E#HER
Total of  Total from
Investment Focus the Fund”  the Group”

LEEY E28EY FEELE

Initial Term
Fund Name Closing Date  (Year)
E&4iE MERER  HAR (FH)
1 Tianli China Opportunities Fund I LP.  January 2017 5.5
KA PEHEREE 5 2017F18
2 Tianli SPC January 2017 Not Applicable

2017118 @R

3 Tianli Private Debt Fund L.P. January 2017 6+19)

THMBEERES 2017118

4 Tianli Private Debt Capital L.P.

AN BEEER 2017438

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

March 2017 5+30410)

Project fund established for an 116.4 17.5
investment in Beijing

AR LRN—EREERMR
NWEEES

Invest in a wide range of assets 98.4 -
including private equity
investments, listed and unlisted
securities, debt securities and
other financial instruments

RENSBEE BELERE
K& LkF LTRSS BH
BHEREMEHMTA

Invest in a wide range of private 300.0 35.0
debt instruments with regional
focus primarily in developed
countries and China

BRENSBLEREREIR RE
ETEEREEERIRRT

Invest predominantly across a 175.0 9.8
wide range of private debt
instruments globally

IEREREULBLEERE
IR



Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ

Capital Commitment

REELX
Initial Term Total of  Total from
Fund Name Closing Date  (Year) Investment Focus the Fund”  the Group”
E& 41 MERER  HR(FEH) REER HEelm sEEREY
5  Tianli Global Opportunities Capital LP? March 2017 7420 Invest globally across various sectors 175.0 12.2

and distressed assets

RRRIKIEE R 2017538 BRERE2RAATERAREBE
6  Tianli Special Situations Capital L.P. March 2017 7420410 Invest predominantly in global 35.0 9.8
mergers and acquisitions, private
equity or other corporate finance
transactions
RREBER 2017434 TERENUME IERE
FEMEERERS
7 Tianli Public Markets Capital L.P. March 2017 6+2% Invest predominantly in the 20.0 5.6
secondary market of publicly
traded securities globally
R RBEDHER 2017434 FERBRZHKRTHEN LT
—YJ<
[Ei
8  Tianli M&A Investment L.P. March 2017 7 Invest predominantly in global 120.0 -
mergers and acquisitions or
other corporate finance related
investments
FHHBERERES 2017434 TERERIRMEI H M ER
BERERE
9 Tianli China Opportunities Fund Il LP.  April 2017 7 Project fund established for an 80.4 -
investment in Shanghai
RRPEHERES 2017444 AR LEN—EREEAMmR
NEEESE
10 Tianli UK Opportunities Fund L.P. March 2017 7 Invest predominantly in projects 150.4 =
located in the United Kingdom
FHRERBEEES 2017434 FERERUNEENER
11 Tianli US Opportunities Fund L.P. May 2017 7 Invest predominantly in projects 12.6 -
located in the United States
FHEEHBREES 2017558 TERENUINEENER
Notes Hrat -

Extension upon recommendation of the general partner with
approval of the investment committee

Formerly known as Tianli Real Estate Capital L.P.

Extension upon recommendation of the general partner with
approval of the advisory committee

Including cross holdings among the funds

Including direct capital

- KEBEBAEERREZEGHERER

2 AT R EHEE A

: REBEBARZREMEE G ERLTH

% BEESZ BN XER

5 BEEERER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B Rk

As at 31 December 2021, the total capital commitment of
the above funds (after eliminating the cross-holding effect)
was approximately US$647.8 million, among which the
Group had committed approximately US$89.9 million with
US$75.5 million capital invested. During the year 2021, the
six funds that the Group has invested contributed a net
gain of RMB55.2 million to the Group’s financial results, in
addition to the asset management fee income of RMB48.8

million.

Unit: US$ million

R2021E12831H LB &N AEERE
BRBEEIXFREER) NA647.88 8
ET o HPAARERMAEEARANAESIITBEE
T EREREERAIS SEBEETTMN2021
FE BREEEEBERAARKISSEE T
G REBFRBENANEESAREE BB
*XEEMFHRAEARKESS2HE T

B HGEET

Product
Em
Common Preferred Invested
Fund name Country/region Debt equity equity amount
BEERiE BR/ & L EiEEs Bk RESH
Tianli China Opportunities Fund | L.P. PRC - 107.7 - 107.7
A PEHARE S5 R
Tianli Private Debt Fund L.P. Australia - - 17.6 17.6
RS EEES B
Korea 5.5 = = 5.5
2
UK 19.5 - - 19.5
2LE
Tianli M&A Investment L.P. Hong Kong 56.4 = = 56.4
RAGHERERES P
Tianli Private Debt Capital L.P Cayman Islands 32.1 - - 32.1
AAMNSERER HEHE
Tianli China Opportunities Fund Il L.P. PRC - 68.2 - 68.2
A PEHARES 5 ]
Tianli UK Opportunities Fund L.P. UK - 143.4 25.2 168.6
R HEHARE S HE
Tianli US Opportunities Fund L.P. us - 13.8 - 13.8
A EEHBREES <E
Total st 113.5 333.1 4238 489.4

Consistent with prior periods, the investments made by
these funds were in six countries or regions, including
Australia, Hong Kong, Korea, PRC, UK and the US, and
these investments were in the form of debt, common

equity or preferred equity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investment

Following the investment strategy from previous periods,
the Group continues to hold two passive financial
investments, including one equity investment (classified as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income on the face of consolidated statement of financial
position), and one investment in an associate (classified
as interest in an associate on the face of consolidated
statement of financial position). The fair value of the
equity investment had been reviewed at the end of 2021
by the management using cash flow projections based on
a financial budget, and had been decreased to RMB12.4
million. The decrease is mainly due to the share buy back
from the equity investment. During the year, the equity
investment had excess cash flow, it bought the share back
with the amount of approximately RMB19.5 million.

The investment in an associate refers to a private equity
fund established in Korea, which is 29.98% held by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, a licensed
comprehensive asset management company in Korea. The
interests in an associate is accounted for by the Group in
the consolidated financial statements using equity method.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

Being an indispensable basic component to the
electronics industry, MLCC is widely used in consumer
electronics, communications, automotive electronics and
other fields, which has great strategic significance for
national development. According to the Basic Electronic
Components Industry Development Action Plan 2021-
2023 released by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the People’s Republic of China in early 2021,
it is clearly proposed to drive the development of basic
electronic components industry to achieve breakthroughs
for key sectors including smart terminals, 5G, industrial
Internet, data center and new-energy vehicles, and
enhance the supply chain security of key materials,
equipment and instruments. The 74th Five-Year Plan for
National Economic and Social Development and the Outline
of Long-term Goals for 2035 of the People’s Republic
of China, officially released in March 2021, proposes to
fully implement the strategy of developing China into a
manufacturing powerhouse, for which the country needs
to implement the industrial foundation reconstruction
project, accelerate to cover the bottleneck shortage
of basic parts and components, basic software, basic
materials, basic craftsmanship and industrial technologies.
In the short term, the MLCC market may still fluctuate,
and the presence of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
chaotic international situation will also bring uncertainty
to the global economic development. However, in the
long run, as the foundation of the electronic information
industry, MLCC is still in high demand, and the space for its
domestic substitution remains vast.

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ

N

JL =

=
T 55
il

rPJ

BERE AEEEERFS
T—IERAKE (REF
?ﬁ’&?@:ﬁr?\ﬁﬂﬂi
L/UE'Z—IEEAH?‘ /A_JE/J
NERNDEAER
FEC-EEERD
fﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ‘f@_ U%%ﬁﬁ§$§i
’/ ?Tﬁxﬂl LEANRHE
2 B8 7 1 B B [0] iR

%ﬁiﬁﬁéuui e 7AE¢§19.5§%

AN

HH

/)l

S

WE
M 3 35
A~

[ASERt

e
-m%ﬁ

S S
o _m

iz

»l
]|

= 5

B S & B
=@

HD S M 2=

o T B

2ty

\

D) 2y
Smm Fe-
>

V/’>U}:L|:
ot 1 S 2

,“?ﬁﬁg
Sh IR D
i
SE

e

o
5
N
, O
N
~

~

I}
@E
Dy
&

JDL

\
/

L\/
a%
~
m
L
Bl

[ /o = 1>

(& o

{0 a0f H Tk St S WS B O 3 ik WS
il
W

L fig

5
S

\|

%ﬁ%”

MLCCE TERARRDOOER TR E
Fﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁ%%?\ﬁuﬂ\ﬁﬁﬁ F R

HiﬁﬁA ‘%?*EE’\J@ZE%%‘%K@U%E 2021
FEV PEIEMEEAEHMNET(ERE

FroesFEXEETEISTE (2021- 2023)>>’
Eﬂﬁ’é%%ﬂj%ﬁrcﬂ% BEARIE~5G T X H B4~
%z?)@qﬂ/u\% ERAELEEHMmH HHER

%n%%#E%%IE%‘%EE’nii"%@%%fﬁﬁﬂ

RE GRS EHERRESE - H£E3ﬁ><<¢£t5
)\E tEERESENMTEEESE +NER
E%ﬁ%ﬂ%uzms&i%Eh,ﬂﬁ»ftﬁéféﬁﬁ Z
NIRHFAEMESRFEEHEE > Alt FEH
%%ﬁEmELI& N0 IR 2 BB R K ot
SR EBEM BB ﬁﬁ%léﬁﬂé%
}sﬁfhﬁﬁﬁ—frﬁﬁ«ﬁ%ﬂ&ol&t R HA AR G
MLCCHIBMARRE RS T BB RE L
REEREBNH EHAEHREEEREIAT
THEH BEREBRE FAETFEEEZE
WER > MLCCHMmBEERMABRK BHEERE
REMIRIARERE o

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

15



16

Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEESwmA D

With the increasing concerns to the MLCC industry,
the competition in the industry is tending to be fierce.
However, as one of the earliest MLCC manufacturers in
China, the MLCC segment of the Group has accumulated
years of experience and technology, and also keeps
agile to market change and strives for innovation. In
2021, the MLCC segment of the Group has made many
breakthroughs in new products and new technologies.
While maintaining its relative competitive advantage in
the field of small and micro products, it has successfully
developed large-size, high-capacitance and high-reliability
products with active deployment in the fields of consumer-
grade high-end products, industrial-grade products and
automotive-grade products, further expanding the space
for development in the industry. As such, the Group will
seize the opportunities of domestic substitution, continue
to increase its investment in the research and development,
equipment, environmental protection, automation and
informatization, and strive to accelerate the preparation
and construction of the new production bases in Chuzhou
and Dongguan to further enhance product quality and
optimize product portfolio to meet market demand.

In respect of investment and financial services, the
Group will reinforce the post-investment monitoring and
management of existing projects in its fund operation, take
various measures to prevent and mitigate potential risks,
through enhancing risk-control measures and reducing risk
exposure based on the terms of the existing agreements
in order to safeguard the interests of fund investors.
With most of its efforts directed towards the subsequent
management of existing projects, the Group will also start
developing new business when appropriate, exploring
value-added opportunities for investors in stable and
reliable investment projects.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's
revenue was derived from (i) MLCC segment; and (ii)
investment and financial services segment. Total revenue
of the Group was RMB548.5 million, which represented
an increase of RMB106.9 million, or 24.2%, as compared
to that for the year ended 31 December 2020. Revenue
from the MLCC segment for the year ended 31 December
2021 was RMB444.6 million, representing an increase
of RMB92.4 million, or 26.2% from the year ended 31
December 2020, which was due to continued recovery of
the market in the industry and the increase in sales volume
in the first half of 2021. Revenue from the investment and
financial services segment for the year ended 31 December
2021 reached RMB103.9 million. Among this, the asset
management fee income remained stable for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, but with the Group’s
net gain from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), which recorded RMB55.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 as compared to that of RMB35.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Gross Profit Margin

Aggregate gross profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2021 was 39.8%, representing an increase of
5.6% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2020.

Nevertheless, the gross profit margin of the MLCC segment
increased from gross profit margin of 17.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to gross profit margin of 25.7%
for the year ended 31 December 2021. This was due to the
enhancement of the product portfolio and effective cost
control implementation by the management during the
period.

Other Income

The Group's other income amounted to RMB19.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a
decrease of 26.5% from the year ended 31 December
2020. The decrease was mainly due to an one-off gain
on reversal of impairment loss of accounts receivables of
RMB5.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
a decrease of RMB2.0 million in the rental income for the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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HE2021F12831HIEEE  AEBNWA
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEESwmA D

Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs totalled RMB21.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, and this was
an increase of 37.4% from the year ended 31 December
2020. This was mainly due to an increase in staff salary of
sales department in the MLCC segment where the sales
level increased.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the year ended
31 December 2021 were RMB107.4 million, representing
a decrease of RMB3.6 million from the year ended 31
December 2020. The decrease was mainly attributable to
the decrease in staff cost in the investment and financial
services segment.

Research and Development Costs

The Group incurred research and development costs of
RMB45.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
representing an increase of RMB4.6 million from the
year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly
due to the Group’s continuous efforts in research and
development of new products and technologies during the
reporting period.

Other Expenses

The Group's other expenses were RMB1.1 million in 2021,
nature of which was an impairment loss of accounts
receivables.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs amounted to RMB22.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 representing
an increase of RMB1.0 million from the year ended 31
December 2020. The slightly increase was mainly due to
the additional drawdown of bank and other loans in 2021.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The net book values of the Group's property, plant and
equipment were RMB481.0 million as at 31 December
2021, increased by RMB82.7 million from the balance as
at 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly due to the
additions to plant and machinery used in production of
MLCC.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investment Properties

The Group's investment property was carried at RMB20.9
million as at 31 December 2021, comparable to the
carrying value of RMB21.6 million as at 31 December
2020.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s financial assets at
FVPL had a carrying value of RMB409.1 million, which was
an increase of 10.7% from the balance as at 31 December
2020 which was classified as financial assets designated at
FVPL. This was mainly due to a fair value gain of RMB55.2
million and net off the effect of appreciation in exchange
rate in Renminbi.

Accounts and Bills Receivables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s accounts and bills
receivables amounted to RMB191.0 million, an increase
of RMB5.7 million or 3.1% from the balance as at 31
December 2020. The increase primarily resulted from an
increase in sales for the year ended 31 December 2021
compared to the same period to 2020 in the MLCC
segment.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

As at 31 December 2021, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables amounted to RMB47.5 million, representing a
decrease of RMB6.4 million as compared to the balance
as at 31 December 2020. The decrease was mainly due to
the cash received from the distribution from Tianli China
Opportunities Fund | L.P. invested by the Group which was
declared in 2020.

Cash and Bank Balances and Pledged Bank Deposits
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s cash and bank
balances totalled RMB62.9 million, increased by RMB2.6
million from 31 December 2020. There was no material
change since 31 December 2020.

Trade and Bills Payables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s trade and bills
payables amounted to RMB69.0 million, a decrease of
RMB2.6 million from 31 December 2020. The decrease
was mainly due to a the improvement in cost control to
the MLCC production during the year ended 31 December
2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEESwmA D

Deferred Income, Accruals and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2021, total deferred income, accruals
and other payables amounted to RMB101.3 million, which
was an increase of RMB18.9 million from 31 December
2020. The slightly increase was mainly due to the
increase in other payables from acquisition of production
equipment.

Bank and Other Loans

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank and other
loans was carrying RMB391.0 million, which represented
an increase of RMB170.9 million from RMB220.1 million as
at 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly due to the
additional drawdown of the bank loans.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2020: Nil).

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital
commitments of RMB256.8 million (31 December 2020:
RMB256.0 million), including undrawn commitment to
Tianli Private Debt Fund L.P. of approximately US$13.2
million, or RMB83.5 million (31 December 2020: US$13.2
million or RMB87.0 million), Tianli China Opportunities
Fund | L.P of approximately US$1.2 million, or RMB7.9
million (31 December 2020: US$1.4 million or RMB9.0
million) from the investment and financial services
segment. Also, the capital commitment for construction
of plant of approximately RMB87.0 million (31 December
2020: RMB123.7 million), acquisition of land use right of
approximately RMB43.8 million (31 December 2020: Nil)
and additions to production equipment of approximately
RMB34.6 million (31 December 2020: RMB36.3 million)
from the MLCC segment. The increase was mainly
contributed by the MLCC segment, while the decrease of
the capital commitment of the investment and financial
services segment was attributable to the increase of the
exchange rate of Renminbi. There was no material change
in terms of US dollars for the capital commitment of the
investment and financial services segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Significant Investments
As at 31 December 2021, details of significant investments
(with individual investment value of 5 per cent or more of

BIEE &ﬁ#ﬁ
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R2021F12B31B  AEBEFENEARE
(BEBERELAEEESEREMNS%IHIUL)

the Group's total assets) held by the Group were set out as R
follows:
Carrying
value
to total
Interests Total assets assets of
Nature of investments held Investment cost Carrying value of the Group  the Group
FREEH
FEE
REEH ’ERHE REMK REE FEEEEQRE BELE
e
(i) Tianli China Opportunities Fund | L.P. 15.04% USD 16,264,000 USD 24,373,000 1,589,542,000 9.7%
(approximately (approximately
RMB103,081,000) RMB154,488,000)
(i BREXFPERBREES 5% 15.04% 16,264,000% 7T 24,373,000 7T 1,589,542,000 9.7%
WARE WARE
103,081,0007T) 154,488,0007T)
(ii) Tianli Special Situations Capital L.P. 5.60% usD 9,800,000 usD 29,511,000 1,589,542,000 11.8%
(approximately (approximately
RMB62,117,000) RMB187,051,000)
(ii) KHBBER 5.60% 9,800,000 7T 29,511,000% 7T 1,589,542,000 11.8%
WARE WARE
62,117,0007T) 187,051,0007T)

(i) Investment in Tianli China Opportunities Fund |
L.P (“REI")

The Group recorded investment in REl as “financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss”. REl is a project fund
established for a property investment in Beijing.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, unrealised gain
of RMB31,497,000 on revaluation of the investment in REI
has been recorded by the Group. No realised gain or loss
and dividend have been received from this investment.

(ii) Tianli Special Situations Capital L.P. (“SSC”)

The Group recorded investment in SSC as “financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss”. SSC invest
predominantly in global mergers and acquisitions, private
equity or other corporate finance transactions.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, unrealised gain
of RMB26,528,000 on revaluation of the investment in SSC
has been recorded by the Group. No realised gain or loss
and dividend have been received from this investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEESwmA D

The above significant investments are in line with the assets
management business segment’s strategy. The Group will
continue to consolidate resources, strengthen compliance
and risk management control, and proactively focus on
key markets and projects, thereby improving the value
of investment assets through sophisticated, proactive
management.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
shareholder return and sound capital position.

The Group’s bank and other loans as RMB391.0 million
as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: RMB220.1
million). Cash and bank balances totaled RMB62.9 million
as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: RMB60.3
million). The Group’s bank and other loans to total assets
was 25% as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
16%). If the bank loans totalling of RMB114 million were
classified under non-current liabilities, the net current
liabilities of RMB29.1 million would be turned into net
current assets of RMB85.3 million.

As at 31 December, 2021, The Group had ample liquidity
as evidenced by banking and other facilities totaling
RMB976.6 million, of which RMB633.7 million remained
undrawn.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure incurred by the Group (representing
acquisition and deposit of property, plant and equipment)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB167.8 million (2020: RMB138.9 million). The Group
anticipates that the funding required for future capital
expenditure will be principally financed by cash generated
from operations and bank borrowings, although the
Group may consider raising additional funds as and when
appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Banking Facilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had been granted
banking facilities of RMB20.0 million and utilised banking
facilities of RMB8.0 million. The leasehold land of the
Group with a carrying value of RMB18.2 million was
pledged to an independent third party which provided
a guarantee to a bank in respect of the bank facilities
granted to the Group. The bank facilities have been paid
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had been granted
four new banking facilities of RMB568.0 million in
aggregate, which utilised banking facilities amounted to
RMB132.4 million. A leasehold land and land use right of
the Group with carrying values of approximately RMB56.2
million in aggregate was pledged to a bank to secure
the banking facilities and a guarantee was provided by a
wholly owned subsidiary to the bank in respect of the bank
facilities.

Gearing Ratio

The Group monitors its capital structure through gearing
ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt.
Net debt is calculated at the sum of bank and other loans,
lease liabilities, trade and bills payables and accruals and
other payables (excluding deferred income and receipt in
advance) less cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents
equity attributable to the owners of the Company
(excluding share capital). As at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020, the gearing ratios of the Group were
approximately 36.0% and 28.8% respectively. The increase
in gearing ratio was a result of the increase in bank and
other loans during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Financial Resources

With the amount of liquid assets on hand as well as credit
facilities granted by banks, the management is of the view
that the Group has sufficient financial reserves to meet its
ongoing operational requirements.
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BIEESwmA D

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's
revenue was mainly denominated in Renminbi, US dollars
and HK$, whilst its purchases were mainly denominated
in Renminbi, US dollars, HK$ and Japanese Yen. The trade
receivables denominated in US dollars were greater than
the trade payables denominated in US dollars, and the
trade receivables denominated in HK$ were smaller than
the trade payables denominated in HK$. Meanwhile, the
Group is exposed to risks in respect of trade payables
denominated in Japanese Yen, but is basically not exposed
to risks in respect of trade receivables denominated in
Japanese Yen. In the event of vigorous fluctuation of
exchange rates, foreign exchange risk will exist to a certain
extent. The Group will adopt corresponding hedging
measures in relation to its foreign currency exposure,
with a view to providing protection against future foreign
exchange risk.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, leasehold land, land use right
and machinery of the Group with carrying amounts of
approximately RMB34.8 million (31 December 2020:
RMB18.2 million), RMB21.5 million (31 December 2020:
Nil) and RMB18.4 million (31 December 2020: Nil)
respectively have been pledged as securities for bank and
other loans facilities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 1,199
(2020: 1,255) employees. The remuneration policy and
package of the Group’s employees are structured in
accordance with the market conditions, performance,
educational background and experience of individual
employees as well as statutory requirements where
appropriate.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chunhua, aged 44, joined the Company as
an executive Director in January 2016 and was appointed
as the chairman of the Board of the Company in January
2018. Mr. Zhou was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company in July 2018. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhou holds a
Master of Business Administration degree in Finance
from Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern
University, a Master of Philosophy degree in System
Dynamics from University of Bergen and a Bachelor of
Science degree in Management Information Systems from
Fudan University. Mr. Zhou had held various executive
positions in a reputable investment bank and had worked
for various international financial institutions and business
organizations. Mr. Zhou has extensive experience in
financial management, investment and corporate finance.

Mr. Pan Tong, aged 50, was appointed as chief executive
officer of the Company and ceased to be chief risk officer
of the Company in April 2019. Mr. Pan is an executive
Director since August 2017. Mr. Pan is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Pan holds a
bachelor’s degree in international finance from Hunan
College of Finance and Economics (currently known as
Hunan University). Mr. Pan had held various executive
positions at several banks and financial institutions in China
with extensive experience in the fields of risk management,
corporate banking and investment.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

EFEREREERAR

INDEPENDENT NO-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, aged 57, joined the Company
as an independent non-executive Director in April 2007.
Mr. Chu is also the chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Chu holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from The
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chu is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Chu is also an associate of both The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) and The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He has extensive
experience in corporate finance, audit, accounting and
taxation. Mr. Chu was previously a deputy chairman and
executive director of Chinese People Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 681) until September 2020, a non-
executive director of Perfect Group International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3326) until March 2017, and an
executive director of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1152) between August 2021 and March 2022,
the shares of which are all listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chu is currently or used to be an independent non-
executive director of the following companies, the
securities of which are listed on the Stock Exchange:

o Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited
(stock code: 846) since November 2016;

o Madison Holdings Group Limited (formerly known
as Madison Wine Holdings Limited) (stock code:
8057) since September 2015;

o Huayu Expressway Group Limited (stock code: 1823)
since May 2009;
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

o China First Capital Group Limited (formerly known
as China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 1269) since October 2011;

o Xinming China Holdings Limited (stock code: 2699)
between April 2021 and August 2021;

o Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited (stock code: 618) since October 2021;

° Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8512)
since December 2021;

o Flyke International Holdings Limited. (former stock
code: 1998) until December 2020; and

o SuperRobotics Limited (formerly known as SkyNet
Group Limited) (stock code: 8176) until November
2021.

Mr. David Tsoi, aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in August 2017. Mr.
Tsoi is also a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Tsoi obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from the University of East Asia, Macau
(currently known as the University of Macau) in 1986. He
is a certified public accountant registered with the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a chartered
certified accountant registered with the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a chartered
professional accountant and certified general accountant
certified by the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia, Canada, fellow member of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, The
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors and the
CPA Australia. He is also a certified tax adviser registered
with The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Currently, he
is the managing director of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited. Mr.
Tsoi is an independent non-executive director of Guru
Online (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8121), Green
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700), VPower
Group International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1608),
Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1026),
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (stock code: 3699)
and InvesTech Holdings Limited (stock code: 1087), the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

EFEREREERAR

. hEEZEERARAT (518D EEH
SEHREERAERAT) (BRMDALE:
1269) (H2011FE10BE%S) ;

. HHEAEERERAT (RMDMAE:
2699) (H2021F48 F2021F8A L)

. IEAREREER)BERAT (BRMH LR :
618) (H2021F10BE%) ;

. SEESEBERERAT (RMHMRE:
8512) (H2021F12B &%) ;

. MREBEERERERAE (BIRMMAE :
1998) ({FHEZE2020F12A 1) ; &

. BAZKEZRERAE (BIEMZTEH
EBEBRAR) (BRMHMH :8176) (fF
HAZE2021F 118 1E)

BARUMERE 745 R201 7583 EZFEA K
NREIBIUFRITES - BEETABERZEES
&E°§#‘§‘E$B\1986$?—/ PR K2 (IR
HAAZ)REIHEEBEI 2N -RANSE
%@%Jrﬁﬂﬁ@EEHHZ%R%@%EW\E@%?F’&%@
B AEAMZETFAESHIRENE
AEBEMIELEEFTEXLEHMBERE
2R EESHMAEME M U R ERE
REBHNSTEtMAE EBEAGHMAR

ERENSHAMLREERGTE - BTARS
%%ﬁ?‘ TEMHERBFEB KIRTH
Eg ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%%@ﬁﬁl@“jz%%#@mﬁo%
LEAHBNLER (ER) BRAE (RMHARE :

8121) “BMMEREZERBRLE (RMHAK:
2700) - BEEEERERAERAT (RHK

5 01608) " BHMEBEMKERABRAT (K
PR 1026) “HKRKXKEARAT (RHAK
5% 0 3699) REFERARAT (RMH AR !
1087) ZBUFRITEST  ZFRIZRMY
iy I

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

27



28

Board of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Xu Xuechuan, aged 59, has been an independent
non-executive Director since July 2015. Mr. Xu is also
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Xu holds a
bachelor’'s degree in economics from Peking University in
China, a Master of Arts in Economics degree and a Master
of Science degree in Marketing Research from University
of Guelph, Canada. Mr. Xu has extensive experience in
direct investment and corporate finance. Mr. Xu has held
senior management and consulting positions in various
international enterprises in Canada, Hong Kong and China.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liao lJie, aged 53, joined the Group in September
2001 and is currently the president of MLCC segment of
the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. He was previously an executive director of
the Company from April 2007 to September 2013. Mr. Liao
is in charge of the strategic planning and development of
MLCC business of the Group. He holds a master’s degree
of Engineering specializing in electronic materials and
components from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology.

Mr. Jing Wenping, aged 40, joined the Group in July
2005 and is currently the deputy vice president of MLCC
segment of the Group. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He was previously an
executive director of the Company from May 2013 to July
2019. Mr. Jing is in charge of the Group’s MLCC product
management, including development, quality, production
and plan. Mr. Jing holds a master’s degree in business
administration from Peking University HSBC Business
School.
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Mr. Zhuang Yixin, aged 57, joined the Group in January
2009 and is currently the vice president of MLCC segment
of the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Zhuang is in charge of the Group’s
MLCC product management in Eastern China, including
development, quality and production. Mr. Zhuang holds
a bachelor’s degree specializing in electronic ceramic
materials and components from South China University of
Technology.

Mr. Tang Yingchun, aged 40, joined the Group in July
2005 and is currently the vice president of the MLCC
segment of the Group. He is also an executive director
and a legal representative of a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Tang is responsible for the daily production and
operation of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Tang
holds a Bachelor of Laws and a Bachelor of Engineering
specializing in inorganic non-metallic materials engineering
from Changchun University of Science and Technology. Mr.
Tang studied business management in Tsinghua Shenzhen
International Graduate School between 2009 and 2011.

Ms. Xue Yuan, aged 41, is currently the vice president
and general manager of the marketing centre of the
MLCC segment of the Group. Ms. Xue is in charge of
sales of MLCC products and market development of the
MLCC segment. She left the Group in March 2007 and
rejoined the Group in March 2020. She holds a Bachelor
of Engineering specializing in measurement and control
technology and instrumentation from Tianjin University and
also a Master of Business Administration from University of
Science and Technology of Hong Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report

TEELHRS

The board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of
the Company recognises that good corporate governance
is vital to the success of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) and sustains
development of the Group. The Board believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the
Company and the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to upholding high standards
of corporate governance practices. Throughout the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company had complied
with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"“Stock Exchange”), save and except for the code provision
E.1.2 which stipulates that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting.

Mr. Zhou Chunhua, being the chairman of the Board, was
unable to attend the annual general meeting held on 22
June 2021 (the “2021 AGM") due to travel restrictions
in place as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The 2021
AGM was chaired by Mr. Pan Tong, the Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer, with the consent of members
present.

The Company reviews its corporate governance practices
on an ongoing basis to ensure they continue to meet
the requirements of the CG Code. The key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised in this report.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for the leadership and
control of the Group, and oversees the businesses, strategic
decisions and overall performance of the Group.

The Board is charged with promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising its affairs in a
responsible and effective manner. Each Director has a duty
to act in good faith in the best interests of the Company.
The Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to all shareholders of the Group for the
manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed,
controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep
abreast of his responsibilities as a Director and of the
conduct, business activities and development of the Group.

To facilitate effective management, The Board delegates
the authority and responsibility for implementing day-
to-day operations, business strategies and management
of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors and
senior management. Besides, the Board has established
three Board committees, namely Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, and Remuneration Committee,
and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

The Board is also responsible for business activities
like acquisition and disposal transactions, connected
transactions, investments and capital expenditures and
discusses the related issues thoroughly. The Board monitors
the financial performance and the internal control of the
Group's business operations.
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TEELHRS

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises five members, consisting
of two executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The executive Directors of the
Board participate in the Group’s daily operations and
management and convey a clear picture of the direction,
business objectives and goals of the Company to the staff.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Board of Directors and Senior Management” of
this Annual Report. An updated list of Directors identifying
their roles and functions is maintained on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board
comprised the following Directors and the attendance of
individual members of the Board at various meetings in
2021, as well as the number of such meetings held, are set
out below:

EFREZEAM

EXgRRAARNEMEN BEMANTE
ERZHBUFPTEF - EFTATESS
HAEBENHEEEREE THRAETHER
EARBNAA-EHFERKRERN-

EFEZEEFBENEAERZESTETREMR
EEABI—H s AEEABRBENRT
ESLBHENEI AT KRBT Z @b -

HE2021F12B31HEEE EFgHUT
EEHAN O MEZTZTENMENR2021FRH
FEEEZNEBEARBTHNERSE I
FUE

Number of meetings attended/held during the year (Directors’ tenure)

FRME/ BINEERE ES2EH

2021
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
20215
EEi4 £X8 BHRZET HFWZE8E€ REZET RRBEEAE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Zhou Chunhua (Chairman) ~ BEZESE (/&) 15/15 11 17 0/1
Mr. Pan Tong BYRE ((THEZ) 15/15 7
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chou, Benjamin Bang Yi  BFBREE (20214 99 1N
(resigned on 7 July 2021) 787HEHE)
Ms. Du Weilin (resigned on HEMZ L (202146 6/14 0/1
13 September 2021) 95 13HE#E)
Independent BIEYTES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus KREEE 15/15 4/4 1n 17N Il
Mr. David Tsoi ERMRE 15/15 4/4 71
Mr. Xu Xuechuan H"E)1%E 15/15 4/4 171 17 71

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZERREMAIRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%



Corporate Governance Report

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The chairman of the Board is Mr. Zhou Chunhua and the
chief executive officer is Mr. Pan Tong. The roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer are separate and
are not performed by the same individual. Their respective
roles and responsibilities were set out in writing.

The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the function of
the Board and formulating overall strategies and policies
of the Company and, with the support of executive
Directors and the company secretary, seeking to ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
Board meetings and that they receive, in a timely manner,
adequate and reliable information. The chief executive
officer is responsible for managing the Group’s business
and overall operations. The day-to-day running of the
Company is delegated to the management with divisional
heads responsible for different aspects of the business.

Relationship between Board Members and
Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between each other. The
Company has received written annual confirmation
from each Independent Non-executive Director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. Independence of each of the independent non-
executive Directors has been assessed and reviewed by
the Nomination Committee and the Board continues to
consider each of them independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines as set out in rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

EEELAHRS
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SmEE -
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e THRBHRETEEAERB 2 EFRERE
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Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, an independent non-executive
Director, has served the Board for more than nine years.
Notwithstanding his length of tenure, in view of his wide
spectrum of knowledge, extensive business experience
and familiarity with the affairs of the Company, the Board
is of the opinion that he possesses the required character,
integrity and experience to ensure his independence
in order to objectively scrutinise performance of the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors had been
expressly identified as such in all corporate communications
of the Company that disclose the names of Directors.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-
executive directors of the Company have entered into
letters of appointment with the Company for a specific
term of one year unless terminated by either party in
writing. In accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”), any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of Company after
his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. In
addition, at each annual general meeting of the Company
no less than one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. When an independent non-executive director
proposing for re-election has served the Company for more
than nine years, and if the proposed independent non-
executive director will be holding his or her seventh (or
more) listed company directorship, his or her re-election will
be subject to a separate resolution to be approved at the
annual general meeting of the Company. The directors who
shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company are set out on page 55 of this
Annual Report.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets at least four times each year or more as
required. Directors may participate in meetings either in
person or through electronic means of communication. At
least 14 days' notice of all regular Board meetings together
with the meeting agenda is given to all Directors such that
all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. All accompanying Board
papers were sent to the Directors in a timely manner and at
least three days before the meetings (or such other period
as agreed). For other meetings, Directors are given as much
notice as reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles
of Association and the Listing Rules, a Director would
abstain from voting on resolutions approving any contract,
transaction or arrangement in which he or any of his close
associates is materially interested in, and such Director is
not counted for determining a quorum.

The company secretary assists the Chairman in preparing
the agenda for the Board meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations regarding the proceedings
of the Board meetings are followed. Draft and final
versions of minutes of each Board meeting are sent to
all Directors for their comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time. All minutes are properly kept by
the company secretary and are available for the Directors’
inspection.

Directors at all times have full and timely access to
information of the Group. Directors also have independent
access to senior management for information on the Group
and unrestricted access to the services of the company
secretary. The company secretary advises the Board on
corporate governance matters and board procedures.
Directors can also seek independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by them at the expense of the
Company, as appropriate.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Every newly appointed Director
receives a comprehensive induction package containing
an overview of the Group's businesses and the applicable
statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed
company. The Company Secretary reports from time to
time the latest changes and development of the Listing
Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory
regime to the Directors with written materials related to the
duties and responsibilities of a director of a listed company.

According to the training records provided by the Directors
to the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the training undertaken by all Directors during the year is
summarised as below:

EFEFEERYER

FARBDBBMESSHEFEERLERUERK
EHMREZNMBRRE - SLNEEESTHE
H—MEEMNARES G AEEEEREEN
%%Wﬂ&t$@7%$m@%£E&&”
EEO@TwiTﬁﬂ§$ﬁit$ﬁ%
XEOBRKES é%ﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BoiREEF LT RADESFHEAEEZERE
e

BEBEEERNAATIRHEZEHE2021F12831
HEEEZEIZH 2REENERETN
pr || Il N

Type(s) of
training
1EaNEEEY
(Note(s))
Name of Directors ERH4 Bzt (s)
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Zhou Chunhua BEELE A, B
Mr. Pan Tong Vi Jr e A, B
Mr. Chou, Benjamin Bang Yi BRI E
(resigned on 7 July 2021) (20214757 H B E) =
Ms. Du Weilin MIEM L £+
(resigned on 13 September 2021) (322021495 13 H £ (E) _
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus RERFTE A B
Mr. David Tsoi HRMERE A, B
Mr. Xu Xuechuan RE)&E A, B
Notes: Bt -
A Participated in external seminars/conferences or webinar or A 2I0MBIA N T FR AL AR 1B
online training (including giving speeches) (BIREREH)
B: Read regulatory updates or other relevant reference materials B: Rl o e 7 B B I S L AB R SRR B e
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MODEL CODE FOR DEALING IN SECURITIES
BY DIRECTORS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regulating Directors’ dealings in securities
of the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all the
Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in Model
Code regarding their securities transactions throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee for overseeing specific aspects
of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
accountable to the Board and will report their outcomes,
opinions, findings and recommendations arrived at the
committee meetings to the Board. All Board committees
are established with defined written terms of reference
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company for public information. The Board
committee memberships and the attendance records of
each member of the Board during 2021 is set out on page
32 of this Annual Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, all of
whom are independent non-executive Directors. During the
year and at the date of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises the following members:

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus (Chairman)
Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Xu Xuechuan

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditor of the Company.
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The Audit Committee reports to the Board and holds
regular meetings to assist the Board in discharging
its responsibilities for effective controls over financial
reporting, risk management and internal control
systems. It monitors the integrity of the Company’s
financial statements, annual report and accounts
and half-year report and reviews significant financial
reporting judgements contained therein. It reviews,
makes recommendations and reports to the Board on
findings relating to the financial statements, reports and
accounts, risk management and internal control systems
and compliance issues. It also oversees the Company’s
relationship with the external auditor, reviews auditor’s
letter of engagement and makes recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of
external auditor. It is empowered to review and monitor
the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards. It discusses with the management
about the internal control system and ensures that
management has discharged its duty to have effective
systems including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training schemes and
budget. The Audit Committee meets at least two times a
year and is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.

During the year, the Audit Committee had held four
meetings. The following is a summary of the major tasks
carried out by the Audit Committee during the year ended
31 December 2021:

(i) reviewed and recommended to the Board for
approval of the annual financial results, both
management accounts and audited report, in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2020
and interim financial results and report for the six
months ended 30 June 2021;

(ii) reviewed the internal audit findings prepared by
outsourced internal auditor in relation to the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group;
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(iii) reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems based on the internal
audit findings and recommended actions to the
Board when appropriate;

(iv)  reviewed the corporate governance practices in
order to comply with CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report; and

(v) reviewed the independence of the external
auditor and recommended to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Board and
the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhou Chunhua

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Xu Xuechuan (Chairman)
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus

The majority of them are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee reports directly to the
Board and the principal objectives include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy
and structure for all Directors and senior management'’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
and reviewing and approving the individual remuneration
packages with reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time. The Remuneration
Committee reports to the Board on the outcomes of their
meetings.
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The Remuneration Committee adopts the approach
of making recommendation to the Board on the
compensation packages of the Directors with reference to
the skill, knowledge, experience and the tasks assigned
and individuals’ performance and overall results of the
Company. In determining the remuneration package, the
Remuneration Committee also obtains reports, surveys
and relevant information from external sources for the
competitive level of remuneration and market trend for
the directors. The Remuneration Committee meets at
least once a year and is provided with sufficient resources
enabling it to discharge its duties.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year to
review the existing remuneration policy and structure for all
the Directors and senior management and recommended
to the Board on their remuneration packages.

No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration
at the meeting of the Remuneration Committee. Particulars
of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The number of the highest paid individuals other than
Directors and chief executive of the Group by band for the
year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises three members:

Executive Director
Mr. Zhou Chunhua

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Xuechuan

The majority of them are independent non-executive
Directors.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for
reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board with reference to the board diversity policy of the
Company and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate
strategy of the Company; making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships, the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors; assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and reviewing their annual
confirmations on independence. The Nomination
Committee meets at least once a year and is provided with
sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Below is a summary of the major works performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year under review:

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition of the
Board, including diversity based on a range of
perspectives with reference to the Company's
business model and requirements such as gender,
age, ethnicity, education background and
professional expertise, industry experience, skills and
knowledge and length of service with the Company;

(ii) assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

(iii) reviewed and recommended to the Board the
retirement and re-election of Directors at the 2021
annual general meeting of the Company.

Nomination Policy

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) in December 2018 which sets out the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria adopted to guide
the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for the Board. The nomination will be in
pursuit of a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives in the Board appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business as well as succession continuity.
The Nomination Committee will identify and nominate
qualified individuals for appointment as additional
Director(s) or to fill vacancies as and when they arise.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee would consider factors including:

(a) reputation for integrity;

(b) experience in (i) investment and financial services
business; and (ii) MLCC business;

(©) accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules;
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(d) diversity in all its aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

(e) commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest; and

(f) requirements in respect of independent non-
executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be
considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines as set out in the Listing
Rules.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to
be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in accordance with the requirement
set out in the CG Code. Such policy aims to set out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
appointment of new directors of the Company shall be
based on meritocracy, and candidates shall be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. In selecting director
candidates, Board diversity shall be considered, including
but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. Directors with technical,
legal, financial, management and audit background will
provide various extensive business experiences to the
Company. Such factors will be considered by the Company
based on its business model and specific needs and
the ultimate decision will be based on merit, value and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Nomination Committee monitors, from time
to time, the implementation of the policy, and reviews, as
appropriate, the policy to ensure the effectiveness of the
policy. The Nomination Committee will continue to give
adequate consideration to these measurable objectives
when making recommendations of candidates for
appointment to the Board.
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EEERERS

The Nomination Committee will review annually on the
composition of the Board under diversified perspectives
according to the Board Diversity Policy, and monitor the
implementation of this policy to ensure its effectiveness.

The diversity profile of the Board as at 31 December 2021
is as follows:

0 1 2

RLZEERBEEFEZS T TLHRRSER
NEFERZSTEEHBZEN WERERARKR
BIEAT IR A B RITZ BN -

20215128310 BEFEHNZ KR
T

3 4 5

Gender f Male
1451 %
Designation . Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
6 BITES BIFRITES
Ethnicity * Chinese
& EYN
Age Group . .
Year of Service

Number of Directors

Company Secretary

The company secretary is a full time employee of the
Company and is appointed by the Board. He possesses
the day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs and
is responsible for facilitating the Board’s processes and
communications among Board members, with shareholders
and with management. He complied with the professional
training requirement under the Listing Rules during the
year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Board, with the assistance by the Group’s senior staff
of the Finance Department, is responsible for overseeing
the preparation of financial statements for each financial
period. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility
for the preparation of the annual report and financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, which
give a true and fair view of the financial affairs of the
Group. The Directors consider that in preparing financial
statements, the Group ensures statutory requirements are
met and applies appropriate accounting policies that are
consistently adopted and makes judgments and estimates
that are reasonable and prudent in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt over the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

External Auditor

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited is primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the annual
consolidated financial statements of the Company.
A statement by the external auditor of the Company
in respect of its reporting responsibilities is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”
of this Annual Report. During the year, the total fees
payable to the Company’s external auditor amounted to
RMB1,753,000, with breakdown as follows:
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Audit services Z AR 1,497

Non-audit services IERZERTS 256

Total #Est 1,753
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for the
corporate governance of the Company and performing the
following corporate governance duties as required under
the CG Code:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices
of the Group on corporate governance aspects
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the policies and practices of

the Group on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to the employees
of the Group and Directors; and

5. to review the compliance by the Company with
the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report.

During the year, the Board reviewed the compliance with
the CG code through the Audit Committee.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for devising and maintaining a
sound and effective internal control and risk management
systems to safeguard the value and assets of the Company
on an ongoing basis. In designing and implementing the
internal control and risk management systems, the Board
has to balance the benefits of a good control against
the additional costs while adopting a system that can
provide assurance to the Company that it lives up to the
expectation of the Board, the shareholders as well as the
regulatory bodies. The management of the Group identifies
risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the
Group's objectives, assesses and prioritises the business
risks in accordance with a set of standard criteria to develop
a risk mitigation plan for those risks that are considered to
be significant.
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The risk management and internal control systems of the
Group comprise, among others, the relevant financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management
procedures, a well-established organisational structure with
clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each
department is accountable for its daily operations and is
required to implement the business strategies and policies
adopted by the Board from time to time.

With reference to the “Internal Control — Integrated
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ"),
the Group has established an Enterprise Risk Management
("ERM") framework to proactively manage the risks,
assisting the Board and the Audit Committee in discharging
its risk management responsibilities and integrating ERM
activities into our business planning process as well as daily
operations.

The Group has been maintaining procedures in handling
and dissemination of inside information in an accurate
and secure manner, in order to avoid possible mishandling
of inside information within the Group. Also, in order to
comply with all applicable laws and regulations in relation
to the anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, the
Group has adopted an anti-money laundering and know-
your-client policy to combat money-laundering and terrorist
financing activities and to generate a level of awareness
of the obligations and responsibilities of staff on the anti-
money laundering and terrorist financing.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions
set forth in the Corporate Governance Code contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, same as last year's
practice, the Company engaged an independent
professional firm as the outsourced internal auditor
(the “internal auditor”) to conduct a review on the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the internal
auditor conducted an annual review to assess the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The review covered financial and
operational controls of the major business segment
of the Group. No significant deficiency was identified
during course of review and the systems were operating
effectively and adequately. The internal audit findings
and recommendations were submitted to the Board and
rectification actions were taken based on recommendations
by the internal auditor.

Having considered the internal audit findings by the
internal auditor, the Board opined, with the concurrence
of the Audit Committee, that internal control system
of the Group is adequate and effective during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and no internal audit function
is considered necessary in consideration of the current
operation size and organisation structure of the Group.
The Board has also assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget and considered that they are effective and
adequate.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which outlines the principles of payment on
dividend. The Dividend Policy would be in the best interests
of the Group and the shareholders of the Company.
The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting the Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable Dividend Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the following
factors of the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends, inter alia:

(a) the Company’s actual and expected financial
performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

(©) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return
on equity and the relevant financial covenants;
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(d)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group's lenders;

(e) the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

(f) general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s MLCC business and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

() any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company has established Shareholders Communication
Policy to ensure that all shareholders have ready and timely
access to all publicly available information the Company so
as to enable the shareholders to engage actively with the
Company and exercise their rights as shareholders in an
informed manner.

Shareholders’ Meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company provides
an important channel for shareholders to exchange ideas
with the Board. Notices and circulars regarding the annual
general meeting and other general meetings are given in
well advance to ensure that shareholders have sufficient
time and information to prepare for the meetings. During
the general meetings, the Directors will answer questions
and queries raised by the attending shareholders and the
Board believes that such face-to-face interaction with
shareholders can promote mutual understanding between
the Company and shareholders. The external auditor is also
invited to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor’s independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and putting
proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns in writing to the company secretary
of the Company at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Suites 2711-12, 27th
Floor, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as a director

Pursuant to the article 88 of the Articles of
Association, no person other than a retiring Director
shall, unless recommended by the Board for
election, be eligible for election as a director at any
general meeting, unless a written notice signed by a
shareholder (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose that person for election as a director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such notices are given, shall be at least
seven days. The period for lodgment of such notices
will commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such general meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election
are published on the Company’s website under
Corporate Governance section.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no change in the constitutional documents
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021.
A printed copy of the Company’s latest constitutional
documents is publicly available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, respectively.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHRS

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Tianli Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are pleased to
present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review for the year and future business
development of the Group as well as the principal risks
and uncertainties of the Group are set out in “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 6 to 9 and the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 24 of this Annual
Report. Also, the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group can be found in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements. Particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the year ended 31 December 2021, if applicable,
are provided in the “Chairman’s statement” on pages
6 to 9 and the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 10 to 24 of this Annual Report. An analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial
Highlights” on page 2 of this Annual Report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental
policies, relationships with its key stakeholders and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
“Chairman’s Statement”, the “Management Discussion
and Analysis”, the “Corporate Governance Report” and
this report on pages 6 to 9, pages 10 to 24, pages 30 to
51, and pages 52 to 65 of this Annual Report respectively,
and in the upcoming “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” to be available on the websites of the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) respectively. The above discussions
form part of this report.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the financial positions of the Group as at 31
December 2021 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 78 to 81 of this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company, is set out on page 2 of this Annual Report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2021 were the retained
earnings of approximately RMB638,500,000 (2020:
RMB652,836,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties of the Group during
the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchases from the
major suppliers of the Group to total purchases of the
Group is as follows:

Percentage of purchases from the largest supplier of the
Group to total purchases: approximately 13%.

Percentage of purchases from top five suppliers of the
Group to total purchases: approximately 38%.

None of the Directors, nor their associates or any
shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors, holding more than 5% of the share capital of the
Company) has an interest in the above suppliers.

During the year, the percentage of sales from the major
customers of the Group to the total sales of goods or
service of the Group is as follows:

Percentage of sales from the largest customer of the Group
to total sales of goods or service: approximately 8%.

Percentage of goods sold by the Group to its top five
customers to total sales of goods or service: approximately
26%.

None of the Directors, nor their associates or any
shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors, holding more than 5% of the share capital of the
Company) has an interest in the above customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where
the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Chunhua

Mr. Pan Tong

Mr. Chou, Benjamin Bang Yi (resigned on 7 July 2021)
Ms. Du Weilin (resigned on 13 September 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus

Mr. David Tsoi

Mr. Xu Xuechuan

Pursuant to article 87(1) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus and Mr. David Tsoi will retire
from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The Company has received written confirmation from
all independent non-executive directors of the Company
regarding their independence as required under rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The Company considers all the
independent non-executive directors of the Company to be
independent.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the “Board
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this
Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the directors of the Company
is determined based on their respective terms of service
agreements (if any). The directors’ fee is reviewed annually
by the remuneration committee of the Company and the
Board is authorised by the shareholders at the annual
general meetings to approve the remuneration of the
Directors. Details of remuneration paid and to be paid
to the directors of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Related Party
Transactions and Balances” as set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, there were no other
transactions, arrangements or contracts that are significant
in relation to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company or his
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates
has any competing interests which need to be disclosed
pursuant to rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions
of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company

Number of
ordinary
shares held

FrFEERRNEBE
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EERERITHRAESR KRN EEARMD R
Rz m Rk

R2021F12B31H RESBEFES71E
BHEABERA (TBHFRIBEEA ) F3521F
KNG BFEEZSRMEPFAE HRE LS
RAFMBZ LHETAESETESRSW
BETFR STHEERARB R XA F
EEBEEARSBRITHAERARAST N ETAE
BErE (TEEREBESMPERAEXVE) 2K
M EEARNDRESTHEEZERE R KB EHT
mE

TATRGREMRRZIFE

Number of
award
shares*

RERMEE

Approximate
percentage of

total issued
Name of Director Personal interests” Personal interests Total interests shares*
HEBITRHM
EElA BARERE" PN F BmiEEE BN E L
Mr. Zhou Chunhua 1,400,000 5,958,000 7,358,000 0.99%
BEELS (Note 1)
(Hrzt1)
Notes: Hat
(1 These represented interests in unvested shares granted under (M ZERAM RPN BEA QB RMRE B E 2K
the Share Award Scheme of the Company. BRI RS 10 PRI A o
g Details of the award shares are set out in the section headed * RENRRD 2 BRI RN TR (D 2B St B —Ef o
“Share Award Scheme".
A Interests as beneficial owner " BmES AR
" The percentage is calculated based on 744,750,000 shares of # BAEBER2021F12831BHA A B B ETRM

the Company in issue as at 31 December 2021.

744,750,000/8 5+ & o
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the
Directors, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 14 July 2017 (the “Adoption Date”)
to provide any individual employees of the Company
proposed by the Board with an opportunity to acquire a
proprietary interest in the Company for the purpose of (i)
encouraging and retaining such individuals to work with
the Company; (i) providing additional incentive for them
to achieve performance goals which in turn increase the
value of the Company; and (iii) aligning the interests of
the beneficiaries of the Share Award Scheme directly with
that of the shareholders through ownership of interests
in the Company. Unless terminated earlier by the Board,
the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.
The award shares are subject to conditions and vesting
schedules as determined by the Board in its sole discretion.
The aggregate number of shares to be awarded under the
Share Award Scheme throughout its duration shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
of the Adoption Date.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share of
the Company has been purchased from the open market
(2020: nil). At 31 December 2021, no share of the
Company was held in trust by the trustee (2020: nil).
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Movements in the number of awarded shares outstanding
during the years were as follows:
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Number of awarded shares

®BRAYE
Balance at
31 December
Fair value Balance at Lapsed 2020 and Lapsed Balance at
Date of grant per share 1 January during 1 January during 31 December
Categories of awardees (Note 1) (Note 2) 2020 the year 2021 the year 2021
20205
12A31H
BRATHE 120205 Ra021E 20216

ERBARR RHRE 1) (W#2)  1B1RZEH RERXY  1B1RZER RERKY  12ANAZER

Directors of the Company (note 4) 14 July 2017 RMBI 5,958,000 - 5,958,000 - 5,958,000

KRATEE (1) 017578148 NP

Notes: Bt -

1 The date of award refers to the date on which the selected 1 2B H AR E R B R BRI R M AR B F
employees agree to undertake to hold the awarded shares on MR M IR =Z R0 RE T EIFRRAR
the terms on which they are granted and agreed to be bound HEfo
by the rules of the Share Award Scheme.

2 The fair value of the awarded shares are based on the fair 2 BRRN 2 ATFEREBEENEHERZ AT EE
value at the date of grant. E ©

3 The awarded shares granted to the beneficiaries during the 3 REZE2017F12A31B L FERTRE A Z 2R
year ended 31 December 2017 would be vested in three D =#EE > SHE71,986,00002 817 > & B
tranches of 1,986,000 shares each on the vesting date on HEA D BI2A20185F ~ 20195 52202038310 o ¥
31 March 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively. Subject to the KRR RZENE B E W E 15 E 8RB R RIEIE[
expiration of the Share Award Scheme, in the event that the IBEFEZFEREB 2 BEMN > B (E S IR
specific vesting conditions cannot be fulfilled on a particular B BEEARMEMHEER - RDIEEFEEWE T
vesting date of any given year, the entire vesting schedule A1 81 R AT (6018 11 oK B B DY AR B AR 1D 8 B SR A R 2
shall be adjourned until such conditions are met. Upon expiry BIERD
of the Share Award Scheme, any outstanding but unvested
award shares shall lapse and become returned shares.

4 During the year, Mr. Zhou Chunhua, being the Director of the 4 KAREEFEELENFANDERDERSE -

Company, participated in the Share Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the vesting
conditions cannot be fulfilled and the vesting schedule has
been adjourned.

REZE2021F12B3 1 HLEEE  REEKGE
EER MEBHEER-
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERRKRHEMALRRG RMERAKRGZ
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT S R%RE

POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, substantial shareholders of 202151283 1H  RIEZESRASEAE
the Company and other persons (other than Directors or XVERE 2R B3N H 2B X AR REIRE K
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or RIEFE S RAEERAIEIBCHEALABETEFE
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Z2EGMAEE XEMEERRE P XATE
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company EREREMALT (KRB ESIRSITEHA
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the BRI REAABRMBVEREKRGO PR 2 #
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be mIKBAT -

kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or
which were notified to the Company, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of REABT RN RBRAKRGSE ZEFE
the Company

Name of Shareholders

IRRBTE,

Number of ordinary shares held

FRiFEERHE
Approximate
percentage
Personal Family Corporate Total of total
interests* interests” interests® interests issued shares”
HEBITRG

B A * Rkt AE D EREE BURNELL

(a)

(b)

Substantial shareholders

FERR

Cosmic Riches Investments
Limited

BB ERRAR

Ms. Du Weilin

HIEM L+

Other persons

Hft AL

China Tian Yuan Manganese
Limited

HEXTHERRAE

Ningxia Tianyuan Manganese
Industry Group Co., Ltd.

BEERTHEERERAT

Mr. Jia Tianjiang

BXREE

Ms. Dong Jufeng
REEUL

93,443,650 - - 93,443,650 12.55%
- - 93,443,650 93,443,650 12.55%
(Note 1)
(Hizt1)
60,590,482 - - 60,590,482 8.13%
- - 60,590,482 60,590,482 8.13%
(Note 2)
(Hizt2)
- - 60,590,482 60,590,482 8.13%
(Note 2)
(Hizt2)
- 60,590,482 - 60,590,482 8.13%
(Note 3)
(H523)
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Notes:

M 93,443,650 shares are directly held by Cosmic Riches
Investments Limited which is wholly owned by Ms. Du Weilin.
As such, Ms. Du Weilin was deemed to be interested in the
93,443,650 shares held by Cosmic Riches Investments Limited
by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

) 60,590,482 shares are directly held by China Tian Yuan
Manganese Limited, a company wholly-owned by Ningxia
Tianyuan Manganese Industry Group Co., Ltd. which is in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Jia Tianjiang. As such, Ningxia Tianyuan
Manganese Industry Group Co., Ltd. and Mr. Jia Tianjiang
were deemed to be interested in the 60,590,482 shares held
by China Tian Yuan Manganese Limited by virtue of Part XV of
the SFO.

(3) Ms. Dong Jufeng was deemed to be interested in the
60,590,482 shares held by China Tian Yuan Manganese
Limited by virtue of her being the spouse of Mr. Jia Tianjiang
for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

* Interests as beneficial owner
Interests of spouse or child under 18 as beneficial owner
3 Interests of controlled corporation

L The percentage is calculated based on 744,750,000 shares of
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021,
there were no other persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or
which were notified to the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Share Award
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Award Scheme as stated above, at
no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or the holding
companies of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject to the
provisions of the relevant statutes, every Director shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses and liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of his office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Company
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any
business of the Company were entered into during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions
which are required to be disclosed in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules. To the best of the
Director’s knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiries, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements constitutes a connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s remuneration policy comprises primarily
a fixed component (in the form of a base salary) and a
variable component (which includes discretionary bonus
and other merit payments), considering other factors
such as their experience, level of responsibility, individual
performance, the profit performance of the Group and
general market conditions.

The remuneration committee of the Company will meet
at least once for each year to discuss remuneration related
matters (including the remuneration of Directors) and
review the remuneration policy of the Group.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Details of the employee retirement benefits of the
Company are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB10,000 (2020: Nil).
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 30 to 51.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF THE

DIRECTORS

The changes in information of the Directors, which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules, as notified to the Company, since the

EEEN R

RiIE FHIRAIE13.51B(1)E > BAXRAT2021
FHRFIEURBTIREZ2ESTERNEE (B
HEgARAT) HIWT .

publication of the Interim Report 2021 of the Company are

set out below:
(i) Changes in Biographical Details

Name of Director

() EEFEZEE

Details of changes

appointed as an independent non-executive director of Peking University

BEEEH BEEE
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus ()
KERTE

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(i) Change in Director’s Remuneration

Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 618), on 8 October 2021
PR2021F10A8HBZERIEARER (1ER) BRAF (—
MmZAE RIHHASR : 618) B IERITES

IR B2 P £

appointed as an independent non-executive director of Hyfusin Group
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8512), on 1 December 2021

R2021F 121 BEZERIEEERIERBRAS (—ENBEFR
EHZAB] BB 8512) BIFFRITES

resigned as an independent non-executive director of SuperRobotics
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8176), on 30 November 2021

1202111 A30HREBAE S ERARAR (—RHARBRFRLEHZ
NE RIDAEE : 8176) B IERNITES

appointed as an executive director of Momentum Financial Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1152), on
13 August 2021 and resigned the same position on 25 March 2022
PR2021E8A 13HEZER EREMIERBR AT (—MIR P L
M2 AB] BRIDASE 1 1152) MITESE > WHt202243825H s¥ E %8
#

(i) EFHMZEE
REALNBDFNEETRZREFTTH

As recommended by remuneration committee of
the Company and approved by the Board, the
remuneration of Mr. Zhou Chunhua being executive
Director and chairman of the board, has been
revised as a remuneration mix comprising a fixing
pay of HK$2,200,000 per annum, and an annual
incentive payment of up to a maximum amount of
HK$3,800,000 for the year from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on
information which is publicly available to the Company, at
least 25% of the Company’s issued share capital was held
by the public as at the date of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed
by the audit committee of the Company. The Group’s
consolidated financial statements have been audited by the
auditor of the Company, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been audited by Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhou Chunhua

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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Independent Auditors’ Report

VRS IR

Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Tianli Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
78 to 232 which comprise the consolidated statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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Independent Auditors’ Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

VR ER S IR

ERER

RMPERBEEBGMAT ((EEEEMA
) BRMHEBESEL (TEBEER )
ETEZ HARZFEI THNEEELIRS
MZHML B R M BRRARKENS T
—HE—THL-RIEEBEMAEEMOY
(BXgsmERTR) (TFR) » HABIL
R OEEE TERETRIBITHMERS
FEoHFEE RMMESHNBZRELETE
RBEMSHANEFEREHER-

FREZER

HREZFEESRERMANEXHE TLAY
TG EMBTRERNEZERSEENEEH &%
SERRERMERERGOMBRR RO
BEERFETREN - RAFTEMXFTERRE
HEBHER -
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Independent Auditors’ Report

VRS IR

NON-CONSOLIDATION OF STRUCTURED
ENTITIES AND VALUATION OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Refer to notes 2(i), and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Key Audit Matter
B I%EIR

FFEHEBIEERRHERATES AEDR
NEMBEENGE

F2REREVBRERME2() K190

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAINEZMFAREZER

The management of the Group made significant judgements
to assess whether the Group has the power over and is
exposed to significant variable returns from structured entities,
mainly the private equity funds, to determine whether or not
it has control over the structured entities, which the Group
has accounted for as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

it SEERSHERULEER E2ALERER
B EERNERREZEHEARTEMR BEEEEE
BEHTEXRAE UREEREHEEIEERERZN
- BEEEERZZEEUERARIARATESA
BENE/REE-

The valuation of these financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is based on unobservable inputs which involves
significant management judgement.
HZERATEFABENERBENGEDERFIR
RBABR ET I REREEREFE-

Due to the significance of these structured entities to the
Group and the uncertainties inherent in these judgements,
this is considered as a key audit matter.
HRZEERMEERY SEENEZMLUKERN
HERFFEI BN AREN AL EREAEBEZS
I o

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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Our procedures to assess the recognition of interests in structured
entities as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
their valuation included the followings:

HRNREBTERREaER SR ATEF AR
BEUMHMGE ZMANFHEREFSENTEE

. obtaining and evaluating the management’s assessment
regarding whether or not to consolidate the structured
entities that the Group holds an interest;
ERUsHEEREENMAY SERFAEEGNERBILE
BED S ARPTERETE ;

. reviewing the terms of the relevant contracts, considered
the returns of the underlying assets, and assessed the
Group’s power on and the exposure to the variability of
returns from the structured entities;

BRBASHNGR ZREMEENRR LT h &
EEHEREMEBRNENRZEEEBIEERTE MR
BE;

. testing the controls over financial instrument valuation

process,

HeRMITAGEBENEERRETAR ;



Independent Auditors’ Report

NON-CONSOLIDATION OF STRUCTURED
ENTITIES AND VALUATION OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS (Continued)

VR ER S IR

FFEHGEEMEEREBEATES Afm
NEMBEENGE @

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

FRELEE BANERMAREZEE

selecting samples and checked the appropriateness
of the valuation methods used and evaluated the
assumptions used in those methods;

ERER AN SR P A E S ZNEE S » LUk h
ZE R AERNRE ;

recalculating fair value estimates and comparing the
results to the Group’s valuations and investigating
significant differences, if any; and
EMtEMESATE KERE SEERNMGEE
THB WHEXER WAH) ETHE; &

performing audit procedures on selected financial
statements items of the private equity funds.
HMWSREESTHNEEUHFHRRBEEBEREZIE
Fo
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Independent Auditors’ Report

VRS IR

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

Refer to notes 2(f), (p)(i), and 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter
REERER

ME BB Rz ERE

B 2RGRE M BIRRWEE20  (p)i)215°

How the matter was addressed in our audit

HANELMAREZEE

Increase in costs of production including labour and
raw materials has negatively impacted the multi-layer
ceramic chips (“MLCC") manufacturing profit of the
Group.

FEMK (BREFIREME) NS SEEETAH
AEEREERS (MLCC)) WRESEFBELEER
20 o

There is a risk that the carrying value of property, plant
and equipment of the MLCC segment may not be
recoverable in full through the future cash flows to be
generated.

MLCCR B2~ E MR ENREEFT O AR
EIBEBARRELENRERERBUWEZ R -

Management reviews the performance of the MLCC
segment at the end of each reporting period to identify
if there are any negative performance criteria which
could indicate impairment or reversal of previously
made impairment. The recoverable amount of the
property, plant and equipment is determined by
management at the higher of the value in use and the
fair value less cost of disposal of these assets.
EEENEREARERMLCCOE 2RI LUIEE
B A 712 BJ 58 BRI R {8 30 88 [ S Bl 5T 1R BB Z 1A
BEXRERE-YE - BERKEZIIKRLEEERE
HERZSEEZERABEEAATERBEENZA (X
REERE) EE-

In determining the value in use of the cash generating
units where the property, plant and equipment
belongs to, a valuation is carried out by independent
professional valuer with reference to a discounted cash
flow forecast prepared by management.

TEEME -BERREBIBZREEFBUZFEH
BER BUIRXEHEMSZTEEBREZRERN
IRTRAIEITIEE

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of property,

plant and equipment included the following:
BPETEYE - BE AR EETRENEZEFEEU
T&RIE:

challenging the Company’s impairment assessment model
by assessing the impairment indicators identified by
management and by considering whether the discounted
cash flow forecasts supported the carrying value of the
relevant assets;

BENMEEEERR 2 BENR RHER SR RER
EOXFHEREEZREE H SATRZREN LR
ARHER ;

evaluating the methodology used by management in the
preparation of its discounted cash flow forecast and the
valuations performed by independent professional valuers
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;
SERTEHEARETLERETRRETRITREA
AR AR A E KB B EEMPTFH ARG (E

comparing the most significant inputs used in the
discounted cash flow forecasts, including future revenue
growth rates, future margins and future costs, with
the historical performance of the cash generating unit,
budgets approved by management and agreements signed
subsequent to the reporting date;
RRERTBBAMERZRE2HAHE (B1ERK
B RE SRR BRARAE) BREELENU S
FRFE EEERECAERRSBRERTI 2 HREE
ITHEE S



IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
B %EIR

Independent Auditors’ Report

VR ER S IR

ME - -BERRERE (&

How the matter was addressed in our audit

HAINEZMAREZER

In preparing the discounted cash flow forecasts, key
inputs, including future revenue growth rates, future
margins and future costs of the cash generating
unit are determined by management taking into
consideration factors which include changes in product
mix and changes in expected customers numbers, all of
which involve the exercise of significant management
judgement.

ARERERTRBAR  SEARE AR (81
REEFBAUNRRIGEIE R RIEFH AR R

X HEEEEEEZREAZREE - AREREE
ZEBEIRITREAEEBHENERESEI R

BHE R #EEZIE-

We identified the assessment for impairment of
property, plant and equipment as a key audit matter
because identifying impairment indicators and
determining the level of impairment, if any, involves
a significant degree of management judgement,
particularly in forecasting future cash flows and
estimating the recoverable amounts of these assets,
both of which are inherently uncertain and could be
subject to management bias.

B EYZE B R R ERENT G AREREZ
B RRZHIHESRREERBEKT WA) F
RERBEENEEREHE  5Fh ERARRELRE
MM ZEEEZPINEIEEE  EMEBERG BRI~ E
E B EEENRETE

assessing the discount rates used in the discounted cash
flow forecasts by benchmarking against other similar
companies;
PEREEMBELUREHRE
TRZTRE;

s (43R & R R B PR

obtaining sensitivity analysis of the significant inputs used
in the cash flow forecasts prepared by management and
considering the resulting impact on the recoverable amount
and whether there were any indicators of management
bias; and

ENEEEARRFEcRERNBEPMERZE
ziﬁj/\%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁlﬁﬁ“ o A > H B F UL ¥ P W 0] & 2B

JRERREEHEEERERENGR ; &

evaluating the experience, competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional valuer engaged
by management to carry out the valuations of property,
plant and equipment and to understand the methodologies
adopted and key inputs used in the valuation of property,
plant and equipment.

AEEEEMEZREUANE - BRERREEITHE
MBIEXMGEMNER - BE - EOREEM U
RTBEME - BRERRBEGHEBERAEANA
& R P A RO B SR A\ B8 o
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Independent Auditors’ Report

VRS IR

VALUATION OF INVENTORIES

Refer to notes 2(r) and 22 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Key Audit Matter
FREZEIR

FEE
B 2RGE M BRRWEE200 K22 -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANERMAREZEER

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
judgement associated with the determination of write-
down of inventories.
BPREFEEEENABAREZEE RRAZERELR
SHHBRREBE EEMAEEEFSREER 2
Sall=

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of inventories is
RMB248,203,000 as at 31 December 2021.

FANAR & I PSRRI 5 22PN 1K R » R B ERE(E 122021
F12H318 4 AK15248,203,0007T ©

In estimating the amount of write-down of inventories,
management reviews the net realisable value of
inventories periodically with reference to the condition
of the inventories, historical and current sales
information, as well as the ageing of inventories to
identify slow-moving items to ascertain the amount of
write-down of inventories.

RitstFERE R EEBES2EFER B

BEHETIRE (M p % 518 B L b E 7 ER a0
TRE o

In addition, the management carries out a review of
its inventories on a product-by-product basis with
reference to subsequent sales and usage, latest selling
prices and current market condition.

IEoh EREE2ZHRFHERBR EMEEBRER
ThRE ERFEEREENHEEETES-
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Our procedures in relation to evaluating the reasonableness of the
valuation of inventories included:

HAFEFEAEGEENEFEEUTIE

o understanding the inventory allowance policy of the
Group in the identification of slow-moving inventories and
measurement of the write-down of inventories;

TR EEERHANFHEEERFEFGRLHENTE
EREDER;

o assessing whether the inventory allowance at the end of the
reporting period was calculated in @ manner consistent with
the Group's inventory write-down policy;

AR RSRANGFERERERE SEEFSERC
BER—BNAHHE ;

o discussing with management and assessing the basis of
management’s estimations of subsequent selling price,
costs to completion and costs necessary to make the sale;
HEEENRLTHEEEMtEBRER THALSK
WESHERARIEE |



Independent Auditors’ Report

VALUATION OF INVENTORIES (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
REERER

VR ER S IR

FEME @)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

HANELMFAREZER

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

testing inventory ageing analysis, on a sample basis, to the
goods receipt documents and assessing the accuracy of
the base data used to determine the allowance/write down
and re-performing the allowance/write down calculation to
check arithmetic accuracy; and

Wl EeREX N FEERE DT LA EARE
EEE/ RTNERBIENERY UREMETERS
/SRR EURERERE ; &

assessing the reasonableness of the estimation of the net
realisable value of inventories with reference to usage and
sales of inventories subsequent to the end of the reporting
period and latest selling prices, on a sample basis.

2ERTRRBEFENARRIHEURRNER
R L EE ) 2B ELSNEEKE-

fr e MBS RRMEZHEMR S UM E R

EXAFHMEN HthEHNEEFERST
WER EFNEREGEMBRERRAEZBENR

ARGV BRENERIABEEME
o AT AHZEFEMENZEREAMEZAD

fREGAE 5 ©

BERMEGEEMBTRENEZ HMANEE
EHBEBHMEMN  FLEBRESR - EREAMER
ERRGRSMBRRAKMEZTZBETRF
THENBRAEFEERFT—RABUFEFEE
KR EE R BRI BB I

ERFEMEATHIF WIRRMIAEME
HEEERERRL RMATERSZFEE -
EEHE KARKEERMRS -
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Independent Auditors’ Report

VRS IR

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued
by IASB and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

VR ER S IR

*(2%%Eﬁ/‘ﬁ%*%%éﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁd%ZEE

ERESBEELETEZNARZEF > HM
BRHTHEXENE RETEXEREE - HM
37 o

e HAMAEHERIRFREZIMER TS
MEBRRFREEAERRANEAR > R
SRPTESEFUBHELERRE MU
RERTEMBEBENE BRI FRRK
PERVER - BN EEFRI W R EE
RE - BERER - ERRL  HEENRA
MEG 2 £ B REZHFERNRFEME
HHNEBEAERRENARS IR ARELEIR
HERMERNERERRAL AR -

s THEBSZHEBNANEES  URFTHE
ERBRATEEENEZER EEN
WY BSEEAMZEFRERIERER
ER-

s TEEEFMHRASHEENBEMRIE
S MAERKENSEM -

s HEFRAFEKESTHERNBEM
fEHER - RIBFMENN B RE BT
EEFEAFEABRAEBNEKRRE
EM -RMAIEERYE SEENFEKL
EENEEERRE - NREMAIDF
EEXRTHEER AL EAEZHENR
EHRFERAEIEGEMBTRERTH
HRAKEZE - REEFANKRERE  BIEX
FEREBEER - HMANEHREEREBE
BB SR LIRS NELERRE A
m: AKRBBEXBERAEER EEEAF

ab 4o 43 4w kX
BEEREKE-

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

75



16

Independent Auditors’ Report

VRS IR

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2022

Fong Yat Sing, Cyrus
Practising Certificate Number PO7150

VR ER S IR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
maiRmkEMEERNER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021FE 12831 H LEFE

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARBFT AREBTT
(Restated)
(BRE5)
Revenue WA 6 548,507 441,570
Cost of sales SHE LA (330,316) (290,784)
Gross profit EF 218,191 150,786
Other income HAth 7 19,057 25,920
Selling and distribution costs 5 & e D8 AR A (21,862) (15,916)
Administrative expenses THER (107,384) (110,966)
Other expenses HhpEx (1,104) =
Research and development costs B 38 R B B2 Bl AN 8(c) (45,096) (40,482)
Profit from operations RE G 61,802 9,342
Finance costs =YD % 8(a) (22,341) (21,354)
Share of profit of an associate FE(E—EHE A B aF 18,895 5,034
Profit/(loss) before taxation from FEBELE RN
continuing operations PRI AETER (B518) 8 58,356 (6,978)
Income tax credit FrigfiiEse 9(a) 11,137 1,482
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing TRESEEBFNEE
operations wmA], (E518) 69,493 (5,496)
Discontinued operations BARIEEEER
Loss for the year from ER IS EHN
discontinued operations FEBEIE 14 (21) (24)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERMN (58 69,472 (5,520)
Other comprehensive income for FEHMEZEWE
the year, net of income tax NBREASIA
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit A B EFFEEER
or loss: MIEE -
Financial assets at fair value through BATESAREMEE
other comprehensive income WEHNEMEE
(“FVOCI") — net movement in fair — N EEEEE)FEE
value reserve (non-recycling) (ReJ#EE]) 6,832 15,836
ltems that may be reclassified HEEEMFEEET
subsequently to profit or loss: MIEE :
Share of other comprehensive income of FEIEEE AR HMEm|
associate, net of related income tax Wz o 0 BRAEREPT 1SR - 1,030
Exchange differences on translation of MEBINEEHE AR
foreign operations (4,255) (1,612)
Other comprehensive income for the FEHMEEWE
year, net of income tax NBRER1SHR 2,577 15,254
Total comprehensive income FEZEWEEEE
for the year, net of income tax MERFTSA 72,049 9,734
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
relRmkEMEERNER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021F12831HIEEE

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
s ARBFRT AR®TT
(Restated)
(BRE5)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AT EE AELEE
owners of the Company: wmH (B518) -
— from continuing operations —RBFRERE TS 68,840 (5,743)
— from discontinued operations —REBRIERE T (21) (24)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RABVEE NEBEEE
owners of the Company w818 68,819 (5,767)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: U TFALEGEEE
wmHl (§518) -
Owners of the Company ViN/N=TE7:Z =N 68,819 (5,767)
Non-controlling interests FEER S 653 247
69,472 (5,520)
Total comprehensive income EATEEAEGEZE
attributable to owners of the YR 48 EE -
Company:
— from continuing operations —RBFEREET 68,584 2,465
— from discontinued operations —REERIEEER (41) (48)
68,543 2,417
Total comprehensive income for UTATEREFEZE
the year attributable to: We k4B %E -
Owners of the Company KABHEA A 68,543 2,417
Non-controlling interests FEIERGHE R 3,506 7,317
72,049 9,734
RMB cents RMB cents
AR®ES ARED
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to FEZHATHEE AL
owners of the Company during the sREH (58
year (basic and diluted) (BA R i#5%)
— from continuing operations —REFEREER 13 9.2 (0.8)
— from discontinued operations —REBERIEREER 13 0.0 0.0
9.2 (0.8)

The notes on pages 86 to 232 form part of these financial

statements.

F86HEF2I2EMNMAERRILFMBHRE
B—& e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR MESIARR

At 31 December 2021 FA2021412H31H

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
fisE  AR®BTFT AEETT
Non-current assets JERBEE
Property, plant and equipment EN Y 15 481,013 398,279
Investment property KREME 16 20,872 21,553
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WL BB 2 ~ R s S e B P A
plant and equipment and other non- e kHEHMIERE
current rental deposit s 24 51,687 28,661
Interest in an associate Nl A= N=IP - 5 17 35,791 17,910
Financial assets at FVOCI AT ESAREMEEWER
RS E 18 12,435 25,893
Financial assets at fair value through profit  #ZAF{Est AL
or loss (“FVPL") NErEE 19 409,092 369,519
Other intangible assets HithmAEEE 20 819 1,304
Deferred tax assets FIERIEE & 31(a) 28,296 23,946
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 1,040,005 887,065
Current assets MBIEE
Inventories 75 22 248,203 178,337
Accounts and bills receivables JFE W =R T8 Ry FE U 2 4 23 190,975 185,236
Prepayments, deposits and AN RIE ZE R EAM
other receivables FE W FRIE 24 47,495 53,933
Cash and bank balances IR& KMIRTTAE BR 25 62,864 60,298
Total current assets MENEEME 549,537 477,804
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fRE MR

At 31 December 2021 722021512831H

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
zE AR®FT ARETT
Current liabilities mENaE
Trade and bills payables FE B Z R B 4% 26 68,983 71,570
Deferred income, accruals and other REWAESHER K
payables HAERIE 27 101,309 82,437
Lease liabilities HE&R 28 12,931 14,084
Tax payable FETR1IE 10,576 10,395
Bank and other loans BT REMER 30 384,824 220,136
Total current liabilities mENB AL 578,623 398,622
Net current (liabilities)/assets wE (AR BEFRE (29,086) 79,182
Total assets less current liabilities BEEMERTRESEE 1,010,919 966,247
Non-current liabilities ERHEE
Lease liabilities HE&R 28 16,636 23,794
Deferred income EIEU A 29 10,006 15,352
Bank and other loans RITREMER 30 6,222 =
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEAE 31(b) 29,613 40,569
Total non-current liabilities JERENEELERE 62,477 79,715
Net assets BEFE 948,442 886,532
Capital and reserves BARMEE
Share capital i 35(a) 6,637 6,637
Reserves = 932,589 864,046
Total equity attributable to owners of QTR AELLEEZ
the Company 939,226 870,683
Non-controlling interests JEEERE e T 9,216 15,849
Total equity et 948,442 886,532

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 31 March 2022.

Zhou Chunhua
BEE
Director

EFE

The notes on pages 86 to 232 form part of these financial

statements.

B —&B 7 o

Pan Tong

B
Director

4

FR2022%F3A3 HESSEHETRBET -

E8EEE2I2EMNMMABRILFMHBRE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mAEmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021FE 12831 H LEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRFAREAELER
Share Exchange Fair value Non-
Share premium  Contributed ~ Shareaward  fluctuation Statutory ~ reserve (non- Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve recycling) eamings Total interests equity
&t Ex AT ERE
Rk RiVEER BAES REGE R tehE  (FTRE) HaEH 4 RS G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ABETR ABETR
At 1 January 2020 20201818 6,637 491,518 201,761 4597 1,658 88,119 (3,968) 71,566 867,888 11,905 879,793
Loss for the year FEEE = = = = = = = (5,767) (5,767) 247 (5,520)
Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ EEINERFTEER
foreign operations ERER - - - - (£ - 87 - (818) (794) (1,612)
Share of other comprehensive income of EEREATEMZENE 11
associate, net of relted income tax Gl - - - - 973 - - - 973 57 1,030
Financial assets at FVOCI - net movement n fair AT (&5t A K2 E R A
value reserve SHEE-ATERE
2958 - - - - - - 8,029 - 8029 7807 15,836
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year ~ £E2E M/ (B1) A& - - - - W - 794 (5,767) 2417 7317 9734
Dividends declared by subsidiaries to non- KBATmERERE R
controlling interests RS = = = = = - - - - (3373) (3373)
Recogition of equity-settled share-based SRR R e TR
payment expenses under share award scheme ~ £ELRAARRZ
(note 32) AR (3E32) - - - 378 - - - - 378 - 378
At 31 December 2020 R2020£128318 6,637 491,518 201,761 4975 1,900 88,119 3974 71,79 870,683 15,849 886,532
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R20206128318 R
WNEIRIAR 6,637 491,518 201,761 4975 1,900 88,119 3974 7,799 870,683 15,849 886,532
Profit or the year FEEf - - - - - - - 68,819 68,819 653 69472
Exchange differences arising on translation of &SN ERFTEL R
foreign operations ERER - - - - (3632) - (108) - (3,740) (515) (4,.255)
Financial assets at FVOCI - net movement in fair %A P& AR M2 EMER
value reserve SREE-ATERESS
58 = = = = = - 3464 - 3464 3,368 6,832
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) for the year ~ £E2EME/ (1) B8 - - - - (3632 - 33% 68,819 68,543 3506 72,049
Capital reduction by a non-controlling HEATEERRRN
shareholder of a subsidiary ERHlA - = = = = = = = = (10,139) (10,139)
At 31 December 2021 R2021E 128318 6,637 491,518 201,761 4975 (1732) 88,119 7330 140,618 939,226 9216 948,442
The notes on pages 86 to 232 form part of these financial FSOEEF2I2EHENMNEERMILET BFRE
statements. B —E&B 5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021F12831HIEEE

2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HMizE ARBFT AREBTFT
Operating activities KEEE
Profit/(loss) before taxation: BRI ERRN S (B518) -
— Continuing operations FFERE 58,356 (6,978)
- Discontinued operations -JERERE (21) 24)
58,335 (7,002)
Adjustments for: QR
Finance costs =N 8(a) 22,341 21,354
Interest income A E WA 7 (112) (246)
Gain on lease modification MMEEFEWE (76) (1,613)
Depreciation e 8(c) 76,786 59,975
Amortisation of other intangible assets HhiER & E# 8(c) 921 701
Write-down of inventories FEHEE 8(c) 50,532 18,743
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEREC#EO] 8(c) (37,089) (31,021)
Reversal of impairment loss of accounts FE WS R I8 R B 5 1R 55 ]
receivables (358) (5,775)
Impairment loss of accounts receivables FEWRIE 2 B (B E5 18 1,462 457
Release of government grants as income B AT AR TEA WA 7 (5,492) (2,748)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - -BREKRKE
plant and equipment e oFi- 8(c) 657 985
Net gain from financial assets at FVPL BATESFABTNERME
EW T HEE 6 (55,151) (35,184)
Share of profit of an associate FE(E — B E A Bl A (18,895) (5,034)
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses RSB LRGN RER
2B 8(b) - 378
93,861 13,970
Changes in working capital EEEREH
Increase in inventories FEIEM (83,309) (50,503)
Increase in accounts and bills receivables FE WU R TE e FE U ZE #3800 (9,128) (52,913)
Decrease in fund investment HEERERD - 23,343
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FENRIE e R EMEK
deposits and other receivables A (g R (3,079) 32,750
Decrease in finance lease receivable JFE i Bk 5 AR & T A e - 19,945
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills payables FE B SRR B 245
CRiZL) /3810 (2,587) 27,020
Increase in deferred income, EIEW A FE st B B R EAth
accruals and other payables &S FRIEIE 0 19,028 5,630
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n\7|-\ iﬁ% ;lltl. E ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021FE 12831 H LEFE

2021 2020
20215 20205
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
{53 ARETRT AR®BTR
Cash generated from operations RETHEEZRE R 14,786 19,242
Interest received BUF S 112 246
Hong Kong tax paid BENEERIE (2,425) (3,950)
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") tax paid B EAREFE
(M E) I8 - (280)
Net cash generated from operating activities &= FHELEZIREREE 12,473 15,258
Investing activities KREEE
Cash receipts from dividend income RKEREWAZRERE - 6,921
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant ~ UXBE4 2 = K 21
and equipment IR & (48,622) (25,709)
Payment for purchase of property, plant and BEYE -BERSE
equipment 2SI (119,144) (113,239)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR ZFREME 39 - (240)
Payment for purchase of other intangible assets B8 B HEFL & E 2 (FK 20 (436) (437)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair HEZ AT E AHMEE
value through other comprehensive income WEHNEMEEMMSMIE 19,492 -
Net cash used in investing activities KREZSFMAZREFEE (148,710) (132,704)
Financing activities A EEE
Dividends declared by subsidiaries to non- AR R IR
controlling interests FIKAIAE B - (3,373)
Capital reduction paid to non-controlling B —EW BB IEER
shareholder of subsidiary R B AR (10,139) -
Capital element of lease paid ENEEZEXRID (13,507) (11,864)
Interest element of lease paid ENHEEZFEEHD (1,878) (2,301)
Proceeds from new bank loans MEIRITERTIENIE 132,400 8,000
Proceeds from new other loans HM¥r e EFEMIEA 45,000 3,019
Repayment of bank loans EEIRITER (8,000) =
Repayment of other loans EEHMER (8,656) =
Interest paid EFE (1,355) (150)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEESESE S FrA) 2
financing activities IREBEE 133,865 (6,669)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A LBE=
GEHRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021F12831HIEEE

2021 2020

20215 20205

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000

BsE ARETRT AR®BTR

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents REKRBESEEBYZRE L EEE (2,372) (124,115)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R1B1BZRERIREZEY 60,298 175,257

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SMEEREE) > B2, B4E 4,938 9,156

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12831HZIHER

REEEW 62,864 60,298

The notes on pages 86 to 232 form part of these financial FROEEFE232ENMEBMIILLEZFNHFRRK
statements. B —E&B 5 °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tianli Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 6 March 2007
as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised). The Company’s registered office
address is the office of Conyers Trust Company (Cayman)
Limited, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, and the head
office and the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong was located at Unit 907-909, 9/F., Three
Pacific Place, 1 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. On 1
November 2021, the Company has changed the head
office and the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong to Unit 2711-12, 27/F, The Center, 99
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 38.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from the initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group's interest in an associate.

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group’s presentation currency,
and all value are rounded to the nearest thousand RMB
except where otherwise indicated.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies:

- financial assets at FVPL (see note 2(i)); and

- financial assets at FVOCI (see note 2(i)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

A5 ER R MIEE

2. FEEHHEKGE

b) MBHRRZEREE

BE2021F12B31HEFEZGEMHTRE
BREARDRENBRAE MBIAER)) XU
REEBRBEQAT 2 B o

AEREETRERYHTRRANEESNUE
REEMAEMNEIELBRENEGR (T8
EBNFAE-ZFMBEREUAARE (AR
K125 MARBEREARININEEEMA
EEMNENNER BRIFEZAFZH TRIFFA
KEONBERBAZARET T

FUTEERBEZAERFTERZS (BERFE
HINGHEBR) I MBREZRBRIGUE
EHREEEERSAEREE

— RBRATESFAEmzNEREE (RWE
2(i)) s &

— BATEFAEMEEWREZNERIEE
(RBHEsE2())

RERBERVYBZREENREVMBERERRTEE
EE {F H H i~ b5t R R R 0 B R F T~ {5 5t
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainly are
discussed in note 4.

As at 31 December 2021, the current liabilities of the
Groups exceeded its current assets by RMB29.1 million.
Included in the current liabilities was bank loans of
RMB114 million which contain a repayment on demand
clause which give the lender a right at its sole discretion to
demand immediate repayment at any time irrespective of
whether the Group has complied with the covenants and
met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the
covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of
the borrowings and does not consider it probable that the
banks will exercise their discretion to demand repayment so
long as the Group continues to meet these requirements.
The management of the Company considers that none
of the portion of borrowings of RMB114 million due for
repayment after one year which contain the repayment on
demand clause and that is classified as a current liability is
expected to be settled within one year.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

2. FEEHHEEKGE

b) MBERRZGREE (B

ERGSRAARRERFECERER
el EEH A BB MKEITRERXE
ERERET NS5 HIRE > @S EZIERE

B BUMESTHER MR RN E St EIBNE R
2 R E 7 1F A RE ST B B 8 e oK 2K HA i e

=]
e ©

4T mEEEMBARYBERR MG
TREARTERBREEAZENEARMY
¥R & 2 B PR 1F 2 ) o

202112831 B AEENARHTERE L
RBEBEEARE2.1BEB T - RBEEEER
TERXRARBN4EE T %ZBRTERSER
TERANEFNA 2B IBERZXREFER
ZREBRKEZBHRR MARTEBREETEE
SHRERBTREEREE-

FEBERERRAETZEFREZRBR 25
TEM

_E$§D+2Uj§ﬁﬁﬁ E ﬁwu%/\§$$.
BEBETZSERTE EMARIKRAETER
MNEEERER - AABEEERA BEZ

SR —FRIPEENVRTERARK1148
ExHEASFLoBEREXRKEERRED
BRRERNERETERRER —FARES-



Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

Also, considering the Group's ability to generate net
operating cash inflows and the available undrawn
banking and other facilities totaling HK$233.2 million
(equivalent to RMB198.1 million) and RMB435.6 million
as at 31 December 2021, respectively, management
considers that the Group is able to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due within the next twelve-month period.
Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Q) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability.

A5 ER R MIEE

2. FEEHHEKGE

b) MBERRZGREE (B
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Q) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income or loss for the year between non-
controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss (see note 2(p)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee's identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment. The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any
direct investment into the associate that forms part of
the investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment. At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition post-
tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with the Group’s any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d) Associates (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture or significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former investee at the date when joint control or significant
influence is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset.

e) Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a
business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first
to financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets/liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(p)).
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its estimated residual value over its estimated useful life.
The principal estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values used for this purpose are as follows:
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st R A fhstER{E

Buildings 40 years or over the remaining term of 10%
T the lease, if shorter
A0F B FERFH UBREERE)

Leasehold improvements 3 years or over the remaining term of 0%
HEYZEEE the lease, if shorter
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Plant and machinery 5-10 years 10%
P 5 Je i 28 5-104F

Office and other equipment 3-10 years 0%-10%
WA S HAth 52 s 3-104F

Motor vehicles 4-10 years 0%-10%
= 4-106
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the profit or loss in the period the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and equipment
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for its intended use.

9) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(0))
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
Such properties are initially measured at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 40
years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

g) Investment properties (Continued)

Any gains or losses from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the profit or loss.
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 2(w)(iii).

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-
occupied properties, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its carrying amount at the date of
change in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment” up
to the date of change in use.

h) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the Group's statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at FVOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

By default, all other financial assets are measured
subsequently at FVPL.

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following
irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a
financial asset:

o the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if certain
criteria are met (see (iii) below); and

o the Group may irrevocably designate a debt
investment that meets the amortised cost or FVOCI
criteria as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (that is, assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses (“ECL"), through the
expected life of the debt instrument or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the
debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the
estimated future cash flows, including ECL to the amortised
cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

() Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at
which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, the Group recognises interest income by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The
calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the
credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income—interest income” line item
(note 7).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated at FVOC/

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments at FVOCI.
Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity
investment is held for trading or if it is contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling). The cumulative gain or loss is not
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the equity
investments. Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
‘other income’ line item in profit or loss.

The Group has designated all investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading at FVOCI on initial
application of IFRS 9.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2.

i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification of financial assets (Continued)

(if)

Financial assets at FV/PL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (see (i) to (ii) above)
are measured at FVPL. Specifically:

Investments in equity instruments are classified
as FVPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination at FVOCI on initial recognition (see (ii)
above).

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised
cost criteria or the FVOCI criteria (see (i) and (ii)
above) are classified as FVPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet either the amortised cost
criteria or the FVOCI criteria may be designated at
FVPL upon initial recognition if such designation
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting
mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets
or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses
on them on different bases. The Group has not
designated any debt instruments at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not
part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
‘other income’ line item (note 7). Fair value is determined in
the manner described in note 40(a).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end
of each reporting period. Specifically;

o for financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the ‘other income’ line item (note 7);

° for debt instruments measured at FVOCI that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences on the amortised cost of the debt
instrument are recognised in profit or loss in the
‘other income’ line item (note 7). Other exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the investments revaluation reserve;

o for financial assets measured at FVPL that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
‘other income’ line item (note 7); and

o for equity instruments measured at FVOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the fair value reserve (non-recycling).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI, accounts and bills receivables,
as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
and bills receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the
time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
gualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument, for
example, a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the
length of time or the extent to which the fair value
of a financial asset has been less than its amortised
cost;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 90 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(a) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(b)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(c) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or, if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that financial assets that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or
o information developed internally or obtained from

external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral held by
the Group).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event (see (i) above);

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.

) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (that is, the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together
with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down
in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-
looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with IAS 17 Leases.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVOCI, for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, and
does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset
in the statement of financial position.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there was objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets was impaired. An impairment
existed if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset had an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors was experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there was a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assessed whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that were individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that were not individually
significant. If the Group determined that no objective
evidence of impairment existed for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it included
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed them
for impairment. Assets that were individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss was,
or continued to be, recognised were not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On the derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on
the derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on the
derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i) Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

k) Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVPL.

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a
financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are measured in
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out
below.

Financial liabilities are classified as FVPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination; (ii) held for trading; or
(iii) designated at FVPL.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVPL
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination may be designated at
FVPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated at FVPL.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not
part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest
paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other
income’ line item (note 7) in profit or loss.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated at FVPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or
loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value
of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that
are recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the
financial liability.

Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued by
the Group that are designated by the Group as at FVPL are
recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note
40(a).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination; (ii)
held for trading; or (iii) designated at FVPL, are measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in the ‘other income’ line item in profit
or loss (note 7) for financial liabilities that are not part
of a designated hedging relationship. For those which
are designated as a hedging instrument for a hedge of
foreign currency risk, foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a separate component of equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k) Financial liabilities (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses (Continued)

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a
foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting
period. For financial liabilities that are measured at FVPL,
the foreign exchange component forms part of the fair
value gains or losses and is recognised in profit or loss for
financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender
one debt instrument for another with substantially
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the
Group accounts for substantial modification of terms
of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a
new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received and discounted using the original effective
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. If the modification is not substantial, the
difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability
before the modification; and (2) the present value of the
cash flows after modification should be recognised in profit
or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains
and losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

m) Derivative financial instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts, to hedge its foreign currency
risk. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.

n) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

n) Intangible assets (Continued)

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— computer software 10 years straight-line

o) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease components and non-
lease components, the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily office and other equipment. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

o) Leased assets (Continued)

(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see notes 2(f) and 2(p)(i)), except for the following types of
right-of-use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 2(g); and

- right-of-use assets related to leasehold land and
buildings where the Group is the registered owner
of the leasehold interest are carried at cost in
accordance with note 2(f).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost
(see notes 2(w)(iii) and 2(i)). Any difference between the
initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

o) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on
the revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
The only exceptions are rent concessions that occurred
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16
Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognized the
change in consideration as negative variable lease payment
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

o) Leased assets (Continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

(i)  As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this
is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. The rental income from operating leases is recognised
in accordance with note 2(w)iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 2(o)
(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

p) Impairment of non-financial assets
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- investment properties;

- interest in an associate;

- deposits and prepayments;
- other intangible assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (that is, a cash-generating unit).
A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest group of
cash-generating units if otherwise.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

p) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

- Reversal of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(ij)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(i) and

2(p)(@)).
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

q) Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

r) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such
sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed
in the production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

s) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(i).

t) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ij)  Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme, a share
award scheme and other share award agreement for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payment transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”) of the Company.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial lattice model or Black-
Scholes Option Pricing Model, if applicable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

t) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ij)  Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition,
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings/
loss per share.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided that those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not
part of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

u) Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

V) Provisions and contingent liabilities
(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

(ii)  Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing
with the contract.

w) Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services or the
use by others of the Group's assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation is
satisfied, that is, when control over a product or service
underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to
use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration that is, only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

0] Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession
of and accepts the products. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other goods and/or
services, then the amount of revenue recognised is an
appropriate proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

(i) Advisory and management services

Revenue from the provision of advisory and management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

w) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(i) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iv) Finance lease income

The income under finance lease is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective
interest rate implicit in the lease over the term of the lease.
Contingent rent is recognised as income in the period in
which it is earned.

v) Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

(vi)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (that is, the gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note 2(i)).
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

w) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(vii)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

X) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The transaction date is the date on which the Group
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value
was measured.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

X) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into
RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates ruling at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in consolidated equity in the
exchange fluctuation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate/a joint venture that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

y) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the
operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit
or loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or
on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

aa) Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained earnings within the
equity section of the consolidated statement of financial
position, until they have been approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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iii)

Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.
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M5 ERAR MIEE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

ab) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

Vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

viii)  The entity or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

ac) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's board of directors (the chief operating decision
maker) for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB:

Interest rate benchmark reform—
phase 2

Amendments to
IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16

Covid-19-related rent concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendment to
IFRS 16

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to
IFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent concessions beyond 30 June
2021.

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent
concessions and early application of Amendment to
IFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent concessions beyond 30
June 2021

The Group has applied the Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-
19-related rent concessions for the first time and early
applied the Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent
concessions beyond 30 June 2021 in the current year
retrospectively. The amendments introduce a new practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to assess whether a
Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease modification.
The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions
that occurred as a direct consequence of the Covid-19
pandemic that meets all of the following conditions:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022,
and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and

conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16") if the changes were not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are
accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or
waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent
concessions and early application of Amendment to
IFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent concessions beyond 30
June 2021 (Continued)

The application of these amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
in the current and prior years as the Group opted not to
apply the practical expedient, but applied the applicable
requirements of IFRS 16 to account for rent concessions
provided by certain lessors.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

a) Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

a) Judgements (Continued)
(i) Operating lease commitments—Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

(ij)  Classification between investment properties
and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independent of the other assets held by the
Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does not qualify
as an investment property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

a) Judgements (Continued)
(iiij)  Control on structured entities

The Group’s management needs to assess whether the
Group has all the following: (a) power over the structured
entity; (b) exposure to significant variable returns from its
involvement with the structured entity; and (c) the ability
to use its power over the structured entity to affect its
returns. If such power, exposure and ability exist, the Group
has to consolidate such structured entity. When the Group
served as manager or trustee of the structured entity, the
Group uses the following judgement to determine whether
control exists in a structured entity: the scope of decision-
making as a manager or trustee, the power held by other
parties, the remuneration and the exposure to variability of
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls a
structured entity if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

For private equity funds where the Group involves as both
general partner and limited partner, the Group assesses
whether the combination of investments it holds together
with its remuneration creates exposure to variability of
returns from the activities of the fund that is of such
significance that it indicates that the fund manager is a
principal. The fund shall be consolidated if the Group acts
in the role of principal.

(iv) Classification of financial assets

The Group’s management needs to make critical
judgement in classifying financial assets based on the
purpose and nature on the initial recognition date. Due to
the differences of the subsequent measurement of financial
assets, the classification will affect the financial position
and operating results.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

a) Judgements (Continued)
(v)  Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowance for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 40(b).

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

b) Estimation uncertainty

i) Estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values of property, plant and equipment
and investment property (Carrying amount:
RMB501,885,000 (2020: RMB419,832,000))

In determining the estimated useful lives and estimated
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment,
and investment property the Group has to consider various
factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in production, or
from a change in the market demand for the product or
service output of the asset, expected usage of the asset,
expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the
asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based
on the experience of the Group with similar assets that
are used in a similar way. Additional depreciation is made
if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment are different from
the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at the end of the reporting period based on
changes in circumstances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

b) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

if) Fair value of financial instruments
(Carrying amount: RMB421,527,000 (2020:
RMB395,412,000))

The Group uses valuation technique for financial
instruments which are not quoted in an active market.
Valuation techniques include the use of discounted cash
flows analysis or other valuation methods as appropriate.
To the extent practical, models use only observable data.
However, areas such as cash flows, credit risk, volatilities,
discount rates and correlations require management to
make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these
factors could affect the estimated fair value of financial
instruments. As at 31 December 2021, the total fair value
of level 3 financial assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis amounted to RMB421,527,000 (2020:
RMB395,412,000).

iiij)  Deferred tax assets (Carrying amount:
RMB28,296,000 (2020: RMB23,946,000))

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and
losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

b) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

iv)  Impairment assessment of non-financial assets
(Carrying amount: RMB629,940,000 (2020:
RMB504,583,000))

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

v) Write-down of inventories to net realisable
value (Carrying amount: RMB248,203,000
(2020: RMB178,337,000))

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
based on the estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the required write-down amount
involves management’s judgement and estimates. Where
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different
from the original estimate, such difference will have an
impact on the carrying amounts of inventories and the
write-down charge/write-back amount in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

b) Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

vi)  Provision of ECL for accounts and bills
receivables (Carrying amount: RMB190,975,000
(2020: RMB185,236,000))

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for
accounts and bills receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, accounts and bills receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's accounts
and bills receivables are disclosed in notes 40(b) and 23
respectively.

vij)  Tax payable (Carrying amount: RMB10,576,000
(2020: RMB10,395,000))

The subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income
tax in the PRC and Hong Kong. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for income tax.
There are many transactions for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current tax and deferred
tax provisions in the financial period in which such
determination is made.

A5 ER R MIEE

4. FEESHHIETRMAES &

b) @“EZFRERE (&)

vi) EUSERIER FEUS E iR AR B R IR i
(BRET1E - A R #190,975,0005T (20204 :
A R #185,236,0005T))
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vii) FEIFRIE (BRETIE @ A E#10,576,0005T
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the
Board (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the Group has presented the following three reportable
segments. No operating segments have been aggregated
to form the following reportable segments.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
ceased its businesses in other general trading which are
classified as discontinued operations for the year ended 31
December 2021. Further details of the businesses in other
general trading are set out in note 14.

Continuing operations:
i) MLCC: manufacturing and sale of MLCC; and

i) Investment and financial services: including but
not limited to (i) direct investments in debt, equity
and/or any other asset; (ii) asset management; (iii)
provision of financial advisory services; and (iv)
financial technologies.

Discontinued operations:

i) Other general trading: trading of goods other
than MLCC, including but not limited to electronic
components and commodities such as metals,
minerals and petroleum products.

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Board monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each
reportable segment on the following basis:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets,
deferred tax assets and current assets with the exception
of corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all payables,
deferred income and deferred tax liabilities attributable to
the activities of the individual segments and borrowings
managed directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is
earnings and loss of each segment without allocation of
corporate interest income, other corporate income, central
administrative expenses, central finance costs and income
tax.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit/(loss), the Board is provided with segment
information concerning revenue, interest income,
depreciation and amortisation, write-down of inventories,
reversal of write-down of inventories, impairment losses
of accounts receivables, reversal of impairment losses
of accounts receivables, finance costs, share of profit/
(loss) of an associates, income tax and additions to non-
current segment assets (other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets) used by the segments in their
operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies.

A5 ER R MIEE

5. EIWS E
a) ZDEHEE - BERER#E
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M5 ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Board for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended

5.
a)

DEEWE (E
DEFEE-BEERER (@)

BRBRABIFEE D Z2EFELEHWA > UKIE
HFEESTUETERDPEAHEE20215F
F22020F 12831 HIEFEE 2 DB FRIBETTE
HZEAEBZIE2HRDIERIHIIAOT -

31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out below:

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12831H L EE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
FFELE
REREER £%
Investment Other
and financial general
MLCC services trading Total
KEH Hith
MLCC SRR —RES st
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue SEUA
Disaggregated by timing of BWAEREEE 2
revenue recognition
Point in time BN EFHE R 444,589 55,151 - 499,740
Over time P PR P e 22 - 48,767 - 48,767
Revenue from external customers  ZREIMEEE Z WA 444,589 103,918 - 548,507
Segment profit/(loss) AEiEF (§518) 298 99,500 (21) 99,777
Central administrative expenses ~ HR{TEE A (21,953)
Central finance costs FRRFE A AN (19,489)
Consolidated profit before taxation F&FREI4R & & F 58,335
Segment assets DBEE 957,320 630,111 1,553 1,588,984
Cash and bank balances RERIBITHER 491
Unallocated corporate assets AR EEE 67
Consolidated total assets RREERE 1,589,542
Segment liabilities SEam (394,577) (4,256) (852) (399,685)
Other loans HMER (237,302)
Other unallocated corporate Hittkplhtxas
liabilities (4,113)
Consolidated total liabilities LEaEEs (641,100)
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A5 ER R MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

5. EIWS E
a) ZDEHEE - BERER#E

Year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021FE128318LEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
FERFERE
FHEREER 2%
Investment Other
and financial general
MLCC services trading Total
REH Hth
MLCC ERIART —REZ 4zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFw AREFw AREFw
Other segment information Hith Eh&E R
Additions to non-current assets REFERBEE 207,973 - - 207,973
Unallocated KN -
207,973
Interest in an associate R—EBE Bz En - 35,791 - 35,791
Depreciation and amortisation HrEE Rt (71,487) (5,299) - (76,786)
Unallocated RpEe -
(76,786)
Interest income FEWA (105) ) - (112)
Unallocated corporate interest ROBECEENEBA
income -
(112)
Finance costs RUE B 3,136 97 - 3,233
Unallocated E Ay 19,108
22,341
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisiiE R/ (%) 13,761 (2.624) - 11,137
Unallocated RN -
11,137
Impairment loss of accounts PUWGRIR A E R
receivables (1,104) - - (1,104)
Write-down of inventories HFERE (50,532) - - (50,532)
Reversal of write-down of FE R &R
inventories 37,089 - - 37,089
Share of profit of an associate RiE—RBE R EEr - 18,895 - 18,895
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M5 ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. DEIRE (&
a) Segment results, assets and liabilities a) DEESE - BEREE @)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020 (Restated)
HZE2020F 128310 EEE (CE5)

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations
ERBRE
RELEER =%
Investment Other
and financial general
MLCC services trading Total
K& Hit
MLCC TR —RE5 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T ARETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue SEUA
Disaggregated by timing of revenue #ZUTAFEERESREEI 9
recognition
Point in time BRFRESD 352,236 35,554 - 387,790
Over time BB RRE 5D - 53,780 - 53,780
Revenue from external customers  ZREIMBEF Z WA 352,236 89,334 = 441,570
Segment profit/(loss) SEER (B18) (25,791) 68,964 (24) 43,147
Corporate interest income hEFSBA 784
Central administrative expenses ~ FR{TEE A (32,030)
Central finance costs RRRE A A (18,903)
Consolidated loss before taxation BRI ATAR S B8 (7,002)
Segment assets DEEE 784,878 565,213 1,618 1,351,709
Cash and bank balances RE RIBITHER 13,089
Unallocated corporate assets RAOECEEE 71
Consolidated total assets TaBEBE 1,364,869
Segment liabilities a3 =Ri | 256,126 5333 887 262,346
Other loans HER 212,136
Other unallocated corporate HittkphEtxaE
liabilities 3,855
Consolidated total liabilities raaEEst 478,337
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

5. EIWS E

A5 ER R MIEE

a) ZDEHEE - BERER#E

Year ended 31 December 2020 (Restated)
HZE2020F128310 L EE (BEF)

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations
EFERE
FEREER £
Investment Other
and financial general
MLCC services trading Total
BEH Hith
MLCC B RARTS —RE 1Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®ETT AE®T T AEET T AEBETFIT
Other segment information Hith Eh&E R
Additions to non-current assets REFERBEE 233,057 - = 233,057
Unallocated R -
233,057
Interest in an associate R—EBE Bz En - 17,910 - 17,910
Depreciation and amortisation HrEE R fiE (54,320) (5,627) = (59,947)
Unallocated RpEe (28)
(59,975)
Interest income FIEWA 183 57 — 240
Unallocated corporate interest ROBECEENEBA
income 6
246
Finance costs RUE B (2,240) 211) - (2,451)
Unallocated Pl (18,903)
(21,354)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisiiE®,/ B 4,088 (2,606) = 1,482
Unallocated ke -
1,482
Reversal of impairment loss of PR IR A E 1R R
accounts receivables 5,318 - - 5,318
Write-down of inventories FERED (18,743) - = (18,743)
Reversal of write-down of FE R &R
inventories 31,021 - - 31,021
Share of profit of an associate RiE—RBE QB Er - 5,034 - 5,034
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

b) Geographical information
i) Revenue from external customers

The geographical analysis of the Group's revenue from
external customers by geographical location based on
where the goods are sold and delivered or the services were
provided is as follows:

5. SEERE (@)

b) HEHK

i) KEIHBEEZHUA
EERHERITRRBRBZHBEUEY

REBRBEIIEER Z WA EH B D
mE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AREFT AR¥TT

Mainland China (place of domicile) A RE (&8P 1Eih) 384,000 281,965
Hong Kong 58 18,144 50,825
Other countries HEz 146,363 108,780
548,507 441,570

ii) Non-current assets

No non-current assets information is presented for the
Group's geographical location, as over 90% of the Group’s
non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) is located in Mainland China.

Q) Information about major customers
None of the customers individually contributed over 10%

of the Group's total annual revenue for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. DEHRE 2
d)  Revenue from major products and services d RBEFEERKERHFEZVRA
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its UTARATXEEBRBEEELARBZHRAD
major products and services: Mo
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Sale of MLCC MLCCIHE 444,589 352,236
Finance lease interest income MERENEWA - 370
Asset management fee income BEBTEEAEKRA 48,767 53,780
Net gain from fund investments EER BN PR 55,151 35,184
Revenue from investment and financial services 2R B ZEH L RIARFEAIUA 103,918 89,334
548,507 441,570
6. REVENUE 6. WA
The principal activities of the Group are the manufacturing REBZFEXEFANGKRHEMLCCREE
and sale of MLCC and investment and financial services. BERMARTE -
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers RIEELARBENE D Z2EREHNKRA
by major products or service lines is as follows: WwE
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B T ARBT T
Revenue from contracts with customers REERM SRS 2R FE155%
within the scope of IFRS 15 HEINE R EOWA
Sale of MLCC MLCCIHE 444,589 352,236
Asset management fee income BEBEBRA 48,767 53,780
493,356 406,016
Revenue from other sources H Rz WA
Finance lease interest income MERENEUWA - 370
Net gain from financial assets at FVPL BATESABTENEREE
Wz B8R 55,151 35,184
55,151 35,554
548,507 441,570
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

6.

Notes:

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets
is disclosed in note 5.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date.

All sales contracts with customers for MLCC are for periods of
one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these contracts for the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations is not disclosed.

Contracts for asset management service typically have the
same terms with the funds managed by the Group, which
ranged from 3 to 7 years and are subject to extension of
2 to 4 years, in which the Group bills a fixed amount for
service rendered. The Group elected to apply the practical
expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to which
the Group has the right to invoice. As permitted under IFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these contracts for
the remaining unsatisfied performance obligations is not
disclosed.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total amount of
interest income on financial assets measured at amortised
cost, including bank interest income (note 7), was
RMB 112,000 (2020: RMB616,000).
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7. OTHER INCOME

7. Htlyam

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Interest income on financial assets FREIH AT EZ
measured at amortised cost ETHBEENBWRA
— bank interest income —IR1TH] B WA 112 246
Gross rental income from investment properties 2R B EY)EMNHE S IR A 4858 2,221 4,429
Government grants (note) BT RL (IaE) 9,913 8,551
Release of government grants BT R RG (E R A
as income (note 29) (Bfz£29) 5,492 2,748
Other management fee income HMEEEWA 477 460
Gain on lease modification HEEE W E - 1,613
Reversal of impairment loss of & WL R I Rk (B s 1B 1 [
accounts receivables (note 40(b)) (M15£40b)) - 5,318
Sundry income HEIEU A 842 2,555
19,057 25,920

Note:

Government grants represented the subsidy to the Group
by the government of the PRC as incentive primarily
to encourage the development of the Group and the
contribution to the local economic development.

In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding support
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong Government. The
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy
period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the
employees.

Mt -

e PR AN E R 2 2R 2R
B B AE BRI H M S KEERELE

J%ﬁo

20205 » REBBIRE BB R IOMHETEE
T NRIMESEIRRFE TEERF -ZEEZ
BERNEREERMHMBXR UEEIEEBREY
B -REZMMZIFRRE > AEME R
TRETHE WARHMAZRSESAN I ESR

HE-
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M5 ERAR MIEE

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 8. HEKEEBESRRAIGT, (&
FROM CONTINUING OPEATIONS 18)
Profit/(loss) before taxation from continuing operations is RHEKESXBEMEKRMRAEFN, (BB 20
arrived at after charging the following: PR TFAIER !
a) Finance costs a) MEMRT
2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREBT T
Interest on bank loans (note 25(b)) IRITERZHE Bz225(0b)) 1,165 150
Interest on other loans (note 25(b)) HMEMRZHE Bz£25()) 20,313 18,903
Interest on lease liabilities (note 25(b)) HMESBEZHE Bz250b)) 1,878 2,301
Total interest expense on financial liabilities IR AT ESt AR Z
not at fair value through profit or loss g =N EPA NN R T 23,356 21,354
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of qualifying I8l : BEZ&EA S EREEME
assets Z I8 (1,015) =
22,341 21,354
b) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) b) ETHZ (BEEEM$)
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTFT ARBTFT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEHMER
(notes i and ;) (B 52 R%ii) 170,613 164,649
Contributions to defined contribution TERRHEFGR RSB 2 =R
retirement plans (notes i and ii) Gz 15,569 4,642
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses REGEURMDBER
NEERa - 378

186,182 169,669
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 8.
FROM CONTINUING OPEATIONS

(Continued)

Q) Other items

)

A5 ER R MIEE

FHEKE X BFRERIRAERN, (85
1]) (&)

Carrying amount of inventories sold

Write-down of inventories

Reversal of write-down of inventories
(note iif)

Cost of inventories (note i)
Depreciation charge

— owned property, plant and equipment

— investment property
— right-of-use assets

Depreciation (notes i and i)
Amortisation of other intangible assets
Research and development costs:
Current year expenditure (note /i)
Short term lease
Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services
— non-audit services
Net foreign exchange loss
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment
loss) of accounts receivables, net*
Donation
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Rental income on investment properties
less direct outgoings of RMB286,000
(2020: RMB230,000)

R EE (i)

FEERA (Biati)
MERX
—BEVE -BERSLRE
—REYE
—fFREEE
& HatiRii)
HihE A & E#
PR R B S AR A
NEERX BaEi)
SRHEE
1% EREMEN &
— B PRFE
—IERZHRTS
ERFEE
FEWFIE R ERE
CRERSIE B [E]) J$EE*

B

HEYE BE k&2 E1E

L EYER TR ERE
X H A R #286,00070
(20204 :
AR #230,0007T)

Hihia g

2021 2020

20214 20204

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat AREFT AR¥TFT
313,621 301,007

50,532 18,743
(37,089) (31,021)

327,064 288,729

60,427 45,203

681 681

15,678 14,091

158 16 76,786 59,975

20 921 701
45,096 40,482

858 2,406

1,497 1,607

256 274

10,032 4,828
40(b) 1,104 (5,318)
10 =

657 985
(1,935) (4,199)

* The impairment loss of accounts receivables are included

in “other expenses” (2020: reversal of impairment loss
of accounts receivables are included in “other income”)
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

FEWFIRZ B BRI AR G IR R E M 2 m W
RETHAMBEISZ) (20204 @ FEUWERFR 2 Rl E RSB 5
[El5t ATEMKER ) o
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M5 ERAR MIEE

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 8. FERESEBFRERREEN (8B
FROM CONTINUING OPEATIONS 18) @)
(Continued)
[9) Other items (Continued) ) HIgg #)
Notes: Kisz -
i) Cost of inventories includes depreciation of RMB57,152,000 i) FERAEEITE ARE57,152,0007T ( 20204 :
(2020: RMB39,603,000) and staff costs of RMB98,407,000 A #539,603,0007T) & 8 T k4 A B #598,407,000
(2020: RMB78,568,000), which are also included in the 7t (2020%F : AR%78,568,0007T) > INEIEESH
respective total amounts disclosed separately above. R B IR R 2 4AEE P ©
if) Included in research and development costs are depreciation i) MEREERAEIFETE ARES,355,0007T
of RMB5,355,000 (2020: RMB3,705,000) and staff costs of (20204 : AER#3,705,00070) RETRAE AR
RMB20,593,000 (2020: RMB18,036,000), which are also 20,593,0007T (20204 : A R #&18,036,0007T) > 77 &
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately BESEN EXBERE QBN -
above.
i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was a i) REE2021F12831HIEFE > AR R EFE R &
reversal of write-down of inventories of RMB37,089,000 EMEFEEELEFLS R B AK37,089,0007T
(2020: RMB31,021,000) due to subsequent usage and sale of (20204 : 31,021,0007T) ©
obsolete inventories).
0. INCOME TAX CREDIT 9. Frigiiig s
a)  Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement a) NRiERcEzkHEHMEEWERABEZ
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income Frig#i+s .
represents:
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FT ARET T
Current tax RVEAFR 1A
— Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year —KEEEANER 2,624 2,409
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") —REERFHTEMBESR
for the year (note (iv)) (TZFRER)
(152 (iv)) 1,550 197
— Over provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax —BEFERENER
in prior year BRI - (383)
— Under provision of EIT in prior year —BEFEREMSR
BERE - 7
Deferred taxation IRIEFR IE
— Origination and reversal of temporary — R EENESE RO
differences (note 31(a) & (b)) (H1zE31(a)R (b)) (15,311) (3,712)
Income tax credit for the year KEFEEMSRIER (11,137) (1,482)
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a)

Notes:

i)

Notes to the Financial Statements

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)
(Continued)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2021 is calculated
at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits
for the year, except for one subsidiary of the group which is
a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate
regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits
are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for
this subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2020.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, all PRC subsidiaries
were subject to EIT at the standard rate of 25% (2020: 25%)
on their respective taxable profit during the year, except
that RN FHREILZEREBRAE (literally translated
as Shenzhen Eyang Technology Development Co., Ltd.),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was
recognised as High and New Technology Enterprise on 23
December 2021 and is subject to income tax rate of 15% for
three consecutive years commencing in 2021.

a)

MIsE -

iii)

A5 ER R MIEE

FRISHER (&

(&)

KEBMANSERN S RBNAEKREE 2 BE#
BEEZABEREREEGNIMER

REEGEHERRFIEIZ16.5% (20204 : 16.5%)
IR0 EF BN EREE EAER 2 —
B ASEBRMAFSRREFNE T ZEERE
B 4 BR Oh o

HZMBABMES  EH2EB BT ERRFH
128.25% MR E - - HERERIN A H1R16.5%8
MEE - ZWB LB ZEBFISREFHI 20205
DAERIE#ESE -

RENEHEREBRLMESEZ RARSAE &%
B A B B B A B R A R 1 B B B IR
8o

HE2021F 12831 B IEEE  FrATENE AT
25% (20204 : 25%) IZEREREHZAEE
FERMAE MR ERER R T FER %
BERAE (S RBEZEEE2EWEAT) 120214
128230 BB AN MR > WA HR20215E
78 1 = (B F FEZ HAR 4R 1 5% Z IR R WA FT 1875 o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

b) Reconciliation between tax credit and accounting
profit/(loss) at applicable tax rate:

9. FIEHER (&

b) MEERERBBAMREX
M (B518) MAHER !

stENE s R

2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTFT ARBT T
(Restated)
(BRE5))
Profit/(loss) before taxation from FERE
continuing operations BrMATEA] (B518) 58,356 (6,978)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEAEMREFEZNE 14,313 (146)
Tax effect of: UTFRBZRIBEZ
Lower tax rates for specific districts or countries 45 E M@ o ER 2 BIKIREK (5.162) (1,750)
Share of profit of an associate FE(E—EHE A B aF 346 2,976
Income not subject to tax BERRUA (13,055) (15,822)
Expenses not deductible for tax ENGIE Y7 6,923 7,568
Tax losses not recognised REERZ HRIBEEE 2,281 13,229
Tax incentives MEEE (3.811) (1,267)
Statutory tax concession EERTE R R (137) (147)
Utilisation of tax losses EANIERE (90) (2,185)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBREE - (383)
Effect of deferred tax balance at 1 January R EESEEH 181 HRER
resulting from a change in tax rate BEEREE 2 E (1,831) =
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable RN EAEE 2 RN B
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries REIADIRFEZ &
(note 31) (Hfa£31) (2,353) (944)
Others Hth (8,561) (2,611)
Income tax credit for the year KEEPSRIER (11,137) (1,482)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

10. 5=

BIBEEBRBKRAIEIMNFERRAE (REE
FEMHER ROAF2BREZESTMEUT:

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021F12831HILLEE
Retirement
Salaries and benefit Discretionary Share-based Total
Fees  allowances contributions bonus Sub-total ~ payments emoluments
ag) Wiiha
it HEREE RN DERA Nt BREZAR e
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
g ARMFrn  ARMTrn ARMTrn ARMTRT ARMTRT ARMTRT ARETR
Executive directors: HiEs.
Mr. Zhou Chunhua BEERLE
(Chairman) (XR) - 3962 15 166 4,143 - 4,143
Mr. Pan Tong (Chief A rE
Executive Officer) (T 4EH) - 2,008 15 166 2,189 - 2,189
Ms. Du Weilin gyt () - 736 - - 736 - 736
Mr. Chou Bang Yi, Benjamin B %k4E 0] - 1,198 15 - 1213 - 1213
Independent B FHITES:
non-executive directors:
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus  kEREE 150 - - - 150 - 150
Mr. David Tsoi ERERE 150 - - - 150 - 150
Mr. Xu Xuechuan #we)I1%E 150 - - - 150 - 150
450 7,904 45 332 8,731 - 8,731
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M5 ERAR MIEE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

10. EFME @)
HZE2020F128B31HIEEE

Salaries Retirement
and benefit  Discretionary Share-based Total
Fees  allowances  contributions bonus Sub-total payments  emoluments
AR W2 A
e  HehEE BRI RBTEA Nt BRZAF s
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M ARETn ARETR AREFrn ARETR AREFr ARETR ARET:
Executive directors: HTES.
Mr. Zhou Chunhua BEELE
(Chairman) (E35)) - 5,142 16 179 5337 378 5,715
Mr. Pan Tong (Chief BV RE
Executive Officer) (fTH4E%) - 2,151 16 179 2,346 - 2346
Ms. Du Wellin et (i) - 580 - - 580 - 580
Mr. Chou Bang i, Benjamin  #f%k2t (i) - 1616 16 45 1677 = 1677
Independent BUERTES:
non-executive directors:
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus ~ RERELE 161 - - - 161 - 161
Mr. David Tsoi BRERE 161 - - - 161 - 161
Mr. Xu Xuechuan || 161 - - - 161 - 161
483 9,489 48 403 10,423 378 10,801
3 No outstanding awarded share in respect of the Share * HERSHE BIEARAKRMERE S 2 HRITE

Award Scheme has fulfilled the vesting conditions or vested
to any awardee up to the reporting date. The awarded
shares granted to the beneficiaries during the year ended 31
December 2017 would originally be vested in three tranches
of 1,986,000 shares each on the vesting date at 31 March
2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively. According to the notice
of award issued by the Company on the date of grant, as
the specific vesting conditions cannot be fulfilled on 31
March 2020. As at the date of this annual report, the vesting

schedule has adjourned.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:
(i) Resigned as Executive Director on 13 September 2021.

(ii) Resigned as Executive Director, Chief Risk Officer on 7 July
2021.

Certain directors were granted award share during the year
ended 31 December 2017 in respect of their services to
the Group under the share award scheme of the Company
adopted on 14 July 2017, further details of which are set
out in note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value
of such award shares which was recognised in profit or
loss over the vesting period was determined as at the
date of grant. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
no equity-settled share-based payment expenses were
recognized (2020: RMB378,000).

11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals during the year included
two directors (2020: two directors), details of whose
emoluments are set out in note 10 above. Details of the
emoluments of the remaining three (2020: three) non-
director and non-chief executive highest paid individuals for
the year are as follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

10. EEM=E (2

(i) PR2021FE9B 13H B ERNITES ©

(ii) 2021 E7A7HRERTES REFERRE -

HE2017F 12831 HIEEE BETESFAE
EAHAREBRRBEMBBELRLABNR2017F78
T4HIRMZ RIDIZEN ST R TRE KRG
ERE—THEBEHNRYBRRME3I2 &
ERERMZAFE (HENFBHBNER
NHER) ERNBEHBIETE #HZE2021F128
SIHEFEE TERIRELEEURDGAE
BEZ T (20205 ¢ AR #378,0007T) ©

11. BEi#rATL

FRNLLEEHFALTEEMBES (20204 :
MBESE) 2HMWFBEHN EXWF10-FRX
Hif =% (2020F : =%) FESF - R1T
BABZEREHALZHMFBEOT :

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AREF AEBKEEF T

Salaries and allowances = ] 12,681 14,801
Retirement benefit contributions RIABHHRR 187 121
12,868 14,922
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M5 ERAR MIEE

11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 11. Bai#AL #E

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive and HINBUTHEBE ZIEEEZ - FEFSHITHAER
highest paid employees whose emoluments fell within the EaimEEHBAOT

following bands are as follows:

2021 2020
202145 20204
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AH

HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000
(RMB4,989,356 to RMB5,405,135,
2020: RMB5,356,411 to RMB5,802,778)

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000
(RMB4,573,576 to RMB4,989,355,
2020: RMB4,910,043 to RMB5,356,410)

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000
(RMB4,157,797 to RMB4,573,575,
2020: RMB4,463,676 to RMB4,910,043)

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000
(RMB3,742,017 to RMB4,157,796,
2020: RMB4,017,308 to RMB4,463,675)

6,000,001 7 £6,500,0007 75

(AR #4,989,35670F

AR #85,405,1357% » 20204 :

AR5,356,411T %

AR#5,802,7787T) - 1
5,500,001 7 75 £6,000,0007 75

(NR#4,573,57675F

AR #4,989,3557T » 20204 :

AR4,910,0435F

AR #5,356,4107T) 1 —
5,000,001 75 %5,500,00078 7T

(NR#4,157,797 &

AR #4,573,5757% 2 20204 :

AR 84,463,67670F

AR #4,910,0437T) - 1
4,500,00178 75 E5,000,0007 75

(NR#3,742,017 L&

AR #4,157,7967T 20204 :

ANER#84,017,308702
ANER#44,463,6757T) 2 1
3 3
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no B E2021F K2020F12B31HIEFE K&
emolument was paid by the Group to the directors or any ITESNHFEMFTESHENARESTA
of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join THEABMAREBR 2 RE RIEABEREE-
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of REE2021F K%2020F12831HIEFE > I
office. None of the directors or any of the five highest paid BREFNEMAEEam ATHREXRAEN
individuals has waived or agreed to waive any emolument 2 F o] Fr B o

for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

12. DIVIDEND 12. KB

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended HE2021FK%2020F12831HIEFE > W&
31 December 2021 and 2020, nor has any dividend been SRR ESZEARE  RREHKRBINERS
proposed since the end of the reporting period. ERKRE -

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. EREMN - (5B8)

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share () EBRELEF (BE)

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share is SREARF (BB DREBEXAAAER
based on the profit/(loss) attributable to the owners of ANEEZER (B5iE) AR 168,819,000
the Company of RMB68,819,000 (2020: RMB5,767,000) (20205 : AR #5,767,00070) RERE &
and the weighted average number of 744,750,000 (2020: TEEKRMEFHET744,750,0008% (2020
744,750,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year, & 1 744,750,0008%) 5t & > W FFATR -

calculated as follows:

2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B T ARETT
(Restated)
G==p7l))
Earnings/(Loss) &BH/ (E518)
Profit/(loss) for the purpose of BRstEEREERRF]/
basic earnings/(loss) per share (B548) Zm#A) (E518)
— from continuing operations —FHEREE 68,840 (5,743)
— from discontinued operations —IFFBKEER (21) (24)
68,819 (5,767)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares: ZERMETSH :
2021 2020
202145 20204
'000 ‘000
The Th
Weighted average number of P12831B 2 &EK
ordinary shares at 31 December IR 744,750 744,750

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR 1 65
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Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is the same as the basic
earnings/(loss) per share as there were no potential ordinary
shares outstanding during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 respectively.

14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In June 2021, the Group ceased its business in other
general trading as a result of unfavourable market
conditions and price competition in the relevant industry,
and the businesses were stagnant since the first quarter in
2021.

The analysis of the results of discontinued operation is
as follows. The comparative consolidated statement of
comprehensive income has been re-presented to show
the discontinued operation from continuing operation
separately.

13. SKREF (BiE) @)
(b) ESRBEERF (EHH)

SERBERAN  (FE) AERELXEF (&
18) HHE A& E20214F %2020F12H831H
EEERITESETENZZBEZER

14. FEFBRESER

R2021F6RB AEBEFLEM-—KREZHFE
B hEARTHEGEAEEMERTEERS
FHI BERAEBB2021FF5 —FTE LUK

(E RIS

FRBREEBZEXBEONMUN T I HERES
EPEHRnREEEINFEFELEXHTRRE
BEEEB DR

2021 2020

20214 20205

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Revenue WA - -
Administrative and other operating expenses THREMEEER (21) (24)
Losses before income tax expense BRETIS MRz RIS 1B (21) (24)
Income tax expense PRt - S
Losses for the year from discontinued operation — JEFF/AEL S £ EE B (21) (24)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBPTRAZIRE$RE (1) 3)
Total net cash outflows FIRE MR (1) 3)
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A5 ER R MIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ME -BERSZE
Office and
Plant and other Motor Construction ~Leasehold Right-of-use
Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress improvements assets Total
AR LS
BY HERRS  HtRE 8 HRIR £ EREEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A\EETR  ABEBTR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETn ARKTR
At 31 December 2019, net of accumulatedi®2019E 128318
depreciation and impairment NREHTEREE 7780 141,987 24301 1,841 1,193 524 72,894 2505520
Additions e - 9RA478 7,762 Al - 5225 11,007 122,883
Transfer from prepayment BAHEEA 6,099 49,646 1018 - - - 26,546 83,309
Construction expenditure capitalised ~ BA(CHEERT - - - - 79 - - 719
Legse modification figeE - - - - - - 2038 2038
Transfers &g - 1,144 (1,144) - - - - -
Disposals tE - (381) (604) = = = = (985)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ ERHTER(E (134) (32,120 (113%9) (731) = (817) (14,001) (59,294)
Fffect of foreign curency exchange ~~ SMEERZEZ2
differences - - B3) - - - (908) (911)
At 31 December 2020, net of R2020E128318
accumulated depreciation and MBEHERAE
impairment 13,745 258752 19,931 1521 1912 4,932 97486 398279
At 31 December 2020: 12020£128318 :
Cost B 14,035 549,845 54,548 5,169 347 7529 122,570 757,113
Accumulated depreciation and EMERAG
impairment (290) (291,093) (34617) (3,648) (1,505) (2,597) (25,084) (358,834)
(arrying amount KEE 13,745 258752 19,931 1521 1912 4932 97486 398279

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

167



168

Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. YME- -BEKRRE (&
(Continued)
Office and
Plant and other Motor Construction ~ Leasehold ~Right-of-use
Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress improvements assets Total
AR HEnE
BY HERGE  HtRE A8 HRIR R EREEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A\E®TE  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn  ARETn  ARETn ARETR
At 31 December 2020, net of 20204128318
accumulated depreciation and MBEHERAE
impairment 13,745 258752 19,931 1521 1912 4932 97 486 398279
Additions HE 618 34,618 1,305 24 - 1,625 4,601 42,981
Transfer from prepayment SEMENEEYN 7513 27,500 - 100 - = = 35,113
Construction expenditure capitalised ~ BA{CHEERR = - - - 80,764 - = 80,764
Lease modification HEET - - - - - - 752 752
Tansfers ag - - - - (1,116) 1,116 - -
Disposals HE - 11 (668) - - = = (657)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ EAITE R (454) (45,644) (11,281) (691) - Q3%7) (15678 (76,105)
Effect of foreign curency exchange~~ JNEERZEZ 2
differences - - 82) - - 9 23 (114)
At31 December 2021, net of RANENA3E:
accumulated depreciation and MBEHERAE
impairment 1422 25,231 9,205 1,144 81,560 5307 87138 481,013
At 31 December 2021: RANENENA
Cost s 22,166 611913 54,763 5,398 83,005 8,666 127,981 913,952
Accumulated depreciation and EMERAG
imparment (744) (336,676) (45,558) (4.254) (1,505) (3359) (40.843) (432,939)
Carrying amount KB 0422 275,231 9,205 1,144 81,560 5307 87,138 481013
a) The Group's buildings are held under medium term a) AEEZEFRAPBEAREMLPHBLORE
leases in Mainland China. Be
b) The Group has pledged certain property, plant and by XEBBEBEFETYE BREIKE
equipment to secure banking facilities granted to UBREE20215F %2020F12H31H
the Group during the years ended 31 December TFEFERTFTAEENRITHERHEER
2021 and 2020 (note 30). (Fft5E30)
Q) Certification of ownership in respect of certain @) R2021F 12831 AEBERAEFE

buildings of the Group located in Luodin with
net carrying amount of RMB6,683,000 as at 31
December 2021 (2020: RMB8,735,000) had not yet
been issued by relevant PRC authorities.
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A5 ER R MIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ME-BEKRRE (&
(Continued)
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bfd 5 ARBTT ARBTFT
Ownership interests in leasehold land and  FA 1237 B Bl Z< 51 B 2 45 1F
buildings held for own use, carried at BERAEL M KRIEFT S
depreciated cost, with remaining lease AR
term of: Her M FEAR -
— between 10 and 50 years —10ZE504F (i) 79,506 73,264
Other properties leased for own use, HITEM AR
carried at depreciated cost HimeaRAHEEY= (ii) 28,077 36,961
107,583 110,225
Ownership interest in leasehold land RIITERARTIRZ
and investment property, carried at METHMERKREE S
depreciated cost, with remaining AR
lease term of: Her T EAR -
— between 10 and 50 years —10E504F 21,849 22,559
129,432 132,784

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by BEFEESNEoNGERAEEERIZEDN

class of underlying asset is as follows: wmr
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREFTT
Ownership interests in leasehold land carried at AR EIIZITE AT IR 2
depreciated cost in the PRC, with remaining ~ fAE L ihEHA R
lease term of: HEx TFH%A -
— between 10 and 50 years —10ZE50F 59,061 60,525
Other properties leased for own use, carried at 3ZITE R ZASFBR 2
depreciated cost HthBRAEEY = 28,077 36,961
87,138 97,486
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M5 ERAR MIEE

15.

Note:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
held for own use

The Group owns several commercial buildings where its
operating facilities are primarily located with office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties have
been presented separately.

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its
offices use through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 3 to 6 years. Lease payments are
usually increased every 3 to 6 years to reflect market rentals.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, additions to right-
of-use assets were RMB4,601,000 (2020: RMB37,553,000).
No purchase of leasehold land during the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: RMB27,190,000). The remainder
primarily related to the capitalised lease payments payable
under new tenancy agreement.
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AARE -AEERZEYFE D (BEAREEL
) 2 BEFA N REB—RIMEFENRIENEIE
ZENPERm RSEEYFRZAET M OEE
‘25

HhBRHEEME

FEEBEBHE RIS R E MY ERER
ARENERAE -HEBENS BHBEF - HEN
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A5 ER R MIEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 16. KREMYE
RMB'000
AREF T
At 1 January 2020: 1£20201818 -
Cost BN 25,078
Accumulated depreciation REtifeE (2,844)
Carrying amount IREE 22,234
At 1 January 2020, R2020F1 A1 8 NBRRETHITE
net of accumulated depreciation 22,234
Depreciation provided during the year FRITELEE (681)
At 31 December 2020 522020512831H 21,553
At 31 December 2020 and at 1 January 2021: 12202012 831H /%2021F1818
Cost BN 25,078
Accumulated depreciation EHEtine (3,525)
Carrying amount IRMEE 21,553
At 1 January 2021, 20211 A1 8 R RETHTE
net of accumulated depreciation 21,553
Depreciation provided during the year FRITELEE (681)
At 31 December 2021 522021512831H 20,872
At 31 December 2021: 72021128318 :
Cost BN 25,078
Accumulated depreciation KREtife (4,206)
Carrying amount IREE 20,872

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR 1 71
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M5 ERAR MIEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

a) The Group’s investment property is held under
medium term leases and is situated in Mainland
China.

b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group did
not have any changes on investment property and
the certificate of ownership was custodied by the
bank.

Q) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the details of the Group's
investment property and information about the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2021, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs, that is, observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the
fair value of the Group’s investment property was
approximately RMB138,700,000 (prepaid land lease
payment: RMB85,340,000; and building: RMB53,360,000)
and RMB143,700,000 (prepaid land lease payment:
RMB92,240,000; and building: RMB51,460,000)
respectively, based on the valuations performed by Roma
Appraisals Limited, an independent professionally qualified
valuer.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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16. REWE (@)

a) AEEZREVEHRBEFHBENES
AT S R K o

b) RESTHPR FAEEZREVEILEAE
&g PREEZRRITRE -

o RFERE

TREJNKREBRNR2021FE12831HZEEY

ERARBATFERBENZFE  LIRZRERE
MHBEBRSENFI3RKLATFEFEMREZLR
FERED R =BATEXRBE - AFEFES
2ELEREFFRBABBZUEREER
EEMIADATEERUOT :

. F—EBREE: AERAF—ERBARK

B (HEERPBEREENERAER
BHiE EREHEZRE) stERTE

. BE_EBRfLE : ﬁﬂ%ﬁ: Z AR A BUE
(BIAREFE—EBRZIBEGAK
B)STEAFTE" ﬁ'ﬁT@ﬂ%EEE’JTT
BEERAREBE - TIHREHAHBREE
ERMT IS BBz AR

. FEZEBHREE: EREENITIERER
ABIEFERTE

2021F12831H&2020%F12831H >
AEBREYMEZRAFEINNA AR
138,700,000 (T EFENHIE | AR
85,340,000t ; Mi#EF : AR ¥53,360,000
70) R AR #143,700,0007C (T A S B X
I8 AR%92,240,0007T ; RIBF : ARE
51,460,0007C) * H iR BRI B XS B K EHE
MZEEBEERTEERABEHMNGE-
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)
Q) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The details of fair value of the investment property as at

31 December 2021 and 2020 determined by the external
valuer is as below:

BEZRE

KREWME (&)
NTERE (&

R2021F K2020F12H31H > BHIMNEE G EED
SYENTFEWNEBOT .

Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2021 using
#mmﬁuﬁmam2$ﬁdgﬁﬁhm

Quoted
prices in
active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
MRS ET HtEERN EER
&R Th % CIE kS NGk
BER1E & A BUR i A RS
(E—E4%) (BZE#HR) (B=B#)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AEETT AEREBT
Investment property KREME - - 138,700
Fair value measurements
at 31 December 2020 using
122020 12A31 BN AT EE A KA
Quoted
prices in
active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
HREET HiEZH BEMN
VB T 5 IR NG
HIER1E 9 A Bis A BUis
(E—EH E_ER  (E=ER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFIT ARBTF T ARBT T
Investment property "EYE - = 143,700

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
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M5 ERAR MIEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Q) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
valuation for the investment property located in Shenzhen
was based on income capitalisation approach (term and
reversionary method) which use unobservable inputs (Level
3) at 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively. The key
inputs are term vyield, reversionary yield and market unit
rent. An increase in the unit sale price adopted would
result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the
investment property by the same magnitude, and vice
versa.

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

16. REWME (@
o ATEREE

HE2021F K2020F12831BLEEE > Ui
FNZEKEYXZHEDRBIERE (FH4
FEEE) D RIERER20214FE 52020512
B31BZABREARE (F=ZBR) &7
AE - FTEHABBATHLERE - EERLOR
ERMHBEUEE HFANEBLEEENEE
BREEMENLAFEFEUEEREEN &
2R e

17. R—HEBEAT Z#Exm

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’'000 RMB‘000

AREFT ARBKEF T

Unlisted investment: Share of net assets ELEFRE | ELEEFE 35,791 17,910

Details of the Group’s interest in an associate, which is
unlisted limited partnership whose quoted market price is
not available and accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

ZHMERBDLFLTERGRBEE WA ERE
MHERE TREDZINAGREMHREX X
EERZBMELATZE@FBUOT -

Proportion of ownership interest

WERLH
Place of Contributed and Group's Held by
establishment/  committed amount/Issued and effective  the Held by
Name of company operation paid up registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
BRREEE/ TEE HAAE  HREAR
RE B M/ SEnY BROKBSRTHMES ERfEx HF 5] TERK
Logan Pass Private Equity Fund ~ Korea/Korea Contributed and committed 29.98% - 29.98% Asset management
26/ %E amount of KRW5,971,421,935  (2020: (2020: (note 1)
B R KEEEAS, 971,421, 93588 29.98%) 299%8%)  BEER MWL)
29.98% 29.98%
(2020 (2020
29.98%) 29.98%)

Note 1: Logan Pass Private Equity Fund was acquired by the Group
through acquisition of subsidiary which engaged in asset
management business in Korea.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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A5 ER R MIEE

17.

Summarised financial information of an associate, Logan
Pass Private Equity Fund, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 17. ©
LUF# BB = A F5Logan Pass Private Equity
Fundz M BERNBE > HKHRBET M G 5T
RER THAREVBERRINEEDEHK !

R E AR Z s

in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed

(48)

below:
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Gross amounts S RE
Current assets TRENE E 123,472 60,450
Non-current assets FERIEE 25,762 5,081
Current liabilities mEas (29,042) (5,791)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (810) =
Equity e 119,382 59,740
Revenue WA 75,886 32,727
Profit from continuing operations FERE £ m 59,642 13,817
Other comprehensive income Hih2mKam - 3,435
Total comprehensive income 2EWN A 59,642 17,252
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in an associate: FAZREE R —BHE AT 2
T HER
Net assets BEFE 119,382 59,740
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest NEEBER LA 29.98% 29.98%
35,791 17,910
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REE#GHRAE 35,791 17,910
18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. HATEFAHMZAWKENERE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE =
INCOME (“FVOCI”)
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Unlisted investment in equity securities, BATESBEZRARES
at fair value FLEHRE 12,435 25,893

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
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M5 ERAR MIEE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (“FVOCI") (Continued)

The above unlisted equity investment represents an
investment in the unlisted equity securities issued by a
private entity incorporated in Hong Kong. This investment
was irrevocably designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the Group considers the
investment to be strategic in nature.

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities was arrived
at by reference to the valuation performed by management
by using cash flow projections based on the financial
budget prepared by the board of directors of the investee
entity.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVPL")

18. BAFESIAHRMEZERENERME
E (B

3t I b 7 B 9 5 7 B — R AE B 2 R AR
UMW EERETHE L TRAES 2B
AomRAEARARREZHEBHBR
& IR A R R A E i E A T
PEES L

ZEFLELTRAEAESHNAFTEHZSEEERE
BEUAREHKRERZEFTTRENYBRE
EREENRERERIMETHNLEMR
H o

19. BAFESAABRmNEREE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®ETT AR¥TT
Unlisted equity investments outside Hong Kong ~ &BMUINYIE L HRERE
— fund investments —HeKE
409,092 369,519
Non-current portion JEBDHRER D 409,092 369,519

All of the Group’s unlisted fund investments were
designated as financial assets at FVPL. The fair values of the
investments were measured with reference to the audited
net assets value as reported by the funds management.

1 76 TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

A5 ER R MIEE

20. HthEREE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBTF T
Cost D%
At 1 January R1B1H 5,809 5,372
Additions =T 436 437
At 31 December R12831H 6,245 5,809
Accumulated amortisation REH#H
At 1 January B1A1H 4,505 3,804
Amortisation provided during the year FAEHEEE 921 701
At 31 December R12H31H 5,426 4,505
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 128318 819 1,304
Other intangible assets represent computer software held HtMEFEEEAEBRFAZERIR MG - KAF

by the Group. The amortisation charge for the year is
included in “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

21. INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED
STRUCTURED ENTITIES

To determine whether control exists in a structured entity,
the Group uses the following judgements:

For private equity funds where the Group involves as both
general partner and limited partner, the Group assesses
whether the combination of investments it holds together
with its remuneration creates exposure to variability of
returns from the activities of the fund that is of such
significance that it indicates that the fund manager is a
principal. The fund shall be consolidated if the Group acts
in the role of principal.

The Group served as general partner, manager of
structured entities and therefore had power over them. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the variable
returns the Group is exposed to over the structured entities
that the Group has interests are not significant. The Group
therefore did not consolidate these structured entities.

E#ETHAAGeEakEth2EKmRZ

MTHERIA-

21. RIFEHGEEMEERZE

AEEFEERN —BEBLEEERES
HRE o AREERAB U T HE S

SEAE

HRTEBRKEREBEGBRAKRARER
AL ERERS  *EBFGEAFTRER

HEMWWEN  EEEBRMEEEZEHN

FEOREMERN URKRPAESTKERS
AN fHEFEBREEEZEA  AARZEESS
i

rEBBHNEEIEEEERZEEGR A
BEEA RIEHEEFEGFE - AATESFR
A AEEREARGNERBEEREDZADN
AERRLIFER - AL AEBMUERZE
EREERSH AR
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M5 ERAR MIEE

21. INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED
STRUCTURED ENTITIES (Continued)

The Group classified the investments in these
unconsolidated structured entities as financial assets at

FVPL.

The size of assets under management, carrying amount and
maximum exposure to loss of the Group’s investments to
unconsolidated structured entities are as follows:

21. RIFEHEBEERZED (B

FERBNZSFFeHERUEERENRED
BRBAFTESFAEaNEMEE-

FEBRHIFFEHERBLEERNRENEES
ERE REEARKRGERRNOT :

31 December 2021

2021F12H31H
Size of Maximum Income from
assets under Carrying exposure  structured
management amount to loss entity  Income type
BE & REGEREKT
BERE REE BREER BENBA  BABE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT ARBTR ARBTR ARBT:R
Private equity funds hWEREEE 4,660,467 409,092 409,092 103,918
48,767  Management fee
income
BEEWA
55,151 Investment gain
REWE
31 December 2020
2020F12831H
Size of Maximum  Income from
assets under Carrying exposure structured
management amount to loss entity  Income type
BB RA  REGEBKL
BERR REE BERR BENBA  BWARE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETFT ARBFR AREFT ARBT=R
Private equity funds hERkEES 7,557,842 369,519 369,519 88,964
53,780  Management fee
income
EEERA
35,184 Investment gain
REWE

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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A5 ER R MIEE

22. INVENTORIES 22. =F&
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB‘000
AR¥EFT ARBEF T
Raw materials RA7 28,407 34,942
Work in progress RS 34,855 40,994
Finished goods &pl 282,586 186,603
345,848 262,539
Provision against slow-moving inventories TiHTF R (97,645) (84,202)
248,203 178,337
23. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 23. BIRFIEREKRERE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREF AEBEFT
Accounts receivables (note a) FEWTRIE (fata) 184,677 169,623
Less: loss allowance (note 40(b)) B ESIEEsE (BYaE400)) (9.316) (8,268)
175,361 161,355
Bills receivables (note b) BN ZER (IaEb) 15,614 23,881
190,975 185,236
a) Accounts receivables a) FEURFRIE

Accounts receivables consist of trade receivables
and asset management fee receivables. The Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit periods for accounts receivables of
MLCC segment are generally one to four months.
The credit periods for accounts receivables of
investments and financial services segment are due
from the date of billing. The asset management fee
is received or receivable at the end of each quarter.
Each customer is assigned a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control
policy to minimise its credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by management. The
accounts receivables are non-interest-bearing.

BUEHREEERRESMEREBREE
EEE - AEERRTFZESRRNER
REE-MLCCOMZEBRENEE
H—RAS—ZE0ER KREKREMRE
DEZEWARENEERANELIRER
I -BEEEEERSTERERIE
e ERENE—ERSEE#E-
FAEEHAREEBRBURNBEERELE
EoUREEEEFNRRUFEEER
RRERBR EEBEEHBRSBHE
BR o EUBRRIBR N5t B °
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M5 ERAR MIEE

23. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

a) Accounts receivables (Continued)

23. BKRREREBKRERE (&

a) BWRIE #@)

i) An ageing analysis of the accounts receivables as i) MEREGHAR RBUBARIBHZEWK

at the end of the reporting period based on the MIEREDTAOT -
revenue recognition date is as follows:

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBT T

Within 90 days 90H A 71,409 79,901

91 to 180 days 912 180H 13,163 17,584

181 to 360 days 181&E360H 23,925 19,892

1 to 2 years 1ZE24F 37,396 23,498

2 to 3 years 2F3F 25,081 18,513

Over 3 years 3FEM E 13,703 10,235

184,677 169,623

b) Bills receivables

The bills receivables were all due within one year
from the end of the reporting period.

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of bills receivables based on bills issue date
is as follows:

b) BKERE

i) PRERWERTHRREMRESIER
| H

i) RBEBEE REABFHONARE
RN E R R AT

2021 2020

20214 20204F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARETT

Within 90 days 90HA 13,431 22,721
91 to 180 days 91£180H 1,987 -
181 to 360 days 181&360H 196 1,160
15,614 23,881

Further detail on the Group's credit policy and credit risk
arising from accounts and bills receivables are set out in

note 40(b).
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A5 ER R MIEE

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 24. FAIRRIE R HEHMEUWTRIE
OTHER RECEIVABLES
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBTF T
Prepayments to suppliers I FHERZTBNRIE 2,627 6,731
Other prepaid expenses HhfEMHEZ 12,440 5,799
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WEEMZE B MR ERYZE
plant and equipment 48,622 25,709
Rental deposits HeHEw 5,917 5,566
Other deposits HithizE 222 513
Other tax receivables HAE IR IE 21,617 21,219
Other receivables Hfih FEWRIE 8,588 17,908
100,033 83,445
Impairment (note) BB (H13E) (851) (851)
99,182 82,594
Representing: AV
Current BIHA 47,495 53,933
Non-current JERNHA 51,687 28,661
99,182 82,594
Note: KizE -

The movements in the provision for impairment of other receivables

are as follows:

HEWRIEREREZHIT -

2021 2020

20215 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREBTT

At 1 January and 31 December MMB1EKR12831H 851 851

Included in the above provision for impairment of other receivables is
a provision for individually impaired other receivables of RMB851,000
(2020: RMB851,000) with a total carrying amount of RMB851,000
(2020: RMB851,000). The individually impaired other receivables relate
to debtors that were in financial difficulties and are credit impaired.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

ST A LA EL At P Wik TE R 1 43 5 5 1B Bl B R B EL fh FE IR R
TE# 5 A\ R 1851,0007T (20204 : AR #851,0007T) » HER
HE4E%E4 AR #851,0007T (20204 : AR#E851,0007T) ©
B EREEtMERREEmET SRS S AR
T EESTEESRE - AEB T ERILSERIFE T ART
R EMAIGRE S5 o

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

181



182

Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 25. RERBPITHEFRREMREREEE
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
a) Cash and bank balances a) RERIRITLHEER
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR¥TT
Cash and bank balances REMIRITAE BR 62,864 60,298
Notes: Htat -
i) At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank i) RIREHR ZEBUARKS|EZ R HIRTA

balances and time deposits denominated in RMB amounted
to RMB50,003,000 (2020: RMB26,938,000). Although
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

ii) Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods ranging from three months to one year
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group
and respective time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks. The carrying amounts of
the cash and bank balances approximate their fair values.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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25. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)

b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

25. RERRITEHFREMRERETL

(%)

b) RMEITBMELERERZHI

Lease Bank and
Liabilities other loans Total

RITR
HEaR’ HEm st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT

(Note 28) (Note 30)

(H+5E28) (M+5E£30)
At 1 January 2020 122020F181H 39,150 200,742 239,892
New lease entered ]I FTFRAY 10,363 = 10,363
Changes from financing cash flows FEIRERE 2 &5 (14,165) 10,869 (3,296)
Lease modification HEESE 425 = 425
Exchange adjustments bE R ER R (196) (10,528) (10,724)
Interest expenses (note 8(a)) MEZH BEEs@) 2,301 19,053 21,354

At 31 December 2020 and at 122020F12831H K&

1 January 2021 1220211818 37,878 220,136 258,014
New lease entered SJILFTAEAY 4,601 - 4,601
Changes from financing cash flows FREIRERE 2~ & (15,385) 159,389 144,004
Lease modification HE®E 676 = 676
Exchange adjustments bE e EE (81) (8,942) (9,023)
Interest expenses (note 8(a)) MEZH Wa28a) 1,878 20,463 22,341
At 31 December 2021 122021%E12831H 29,567 391,046 420,613
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26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

26. BTESRERENERE

2021 2020
20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TFT AR®BT T

Trade payables FE(T B Z I8 60,552 63,771
Bills payables NS 8,431 7,799
68,983 71,570

a) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the
end of the reporting period based on the suppliers’

statement date is as follows:

a) MBRERPR HHUEDHE
HEZBNESRIBEZRE

BRAMSE
oFWMT

2021 2020

202145 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®B T ARBTF T

Within 90 days 90H ™A 50,485 58,453
91 to 180 days 91£180H 9,342 5,011
181 to 360 days 181Z&360H a1 -
1 to 2 years 1EZE25F 9 163
Over 2 years 28 E 675 144
60,552 63,771

b) The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled within 30 to 120 days.

b) ENEBZMERTFR

1200 REAT °

—BR30E

Q) An ageing analysis of the bills payables as at the end c) REBEEHR RERETLHBHHRAEEY

of the reporting period based on bills issue date is as ENEHRZREDTUT .
follows:

2021 2020

202145 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARBT T

Within 90 days 90H M 8,431 7,799

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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A5 ER R MIEE

27. DEFERRED INCOME, ACCRUALS AND 27. IREWA - FEETE R RHEMEIRRIE
OTHER PAYABLES
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEFT ARETT
Accruals FEsTEA 2,235 2,205
Salary payables NE 35,733 36,374
Other payables for acquisition of property, WK BEMIZE ~ RS Re skt 2 ELAth
plant and equipment FETFRIE 34,203 27,326
Other payables HAE IR 17,043 10,232
Dividends payable FETIZE 88 88
Due to a non-controlling party of FEN—MIERENRB AR
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary FEERR T 187 197
Financial liabilities measured at M A2 EMBE
amortised cost 89,489 76,422
Deferred income (note 29) EIEU A (2£29) 2,710 2,856
Other tax payable HAEMIRIE 9,110 3,159
101,309 82,437

The amount due to a non-controlling party of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free, and

repayable on demand.

BN—BFE2ENBARFERSSELE
HF - RERREREEE-
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, lease liabilities were

28. THE&®E

R2021F K%2020F12831H EEEHRE S

repayable as follows: Bl
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTFT ARBT T
Within 1 year 1R 12,931 14,084
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FRBE2ER 11,234 9,685
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBEFER 5,402 14,109
16,636 23,794
29,567 37,878
29. DEFERRED INCOME 29. IRIEUWA
Government grants BT R
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B T ARBTFT
Carrying amount at 1 January K1B1HZREE 18,208 20,453
Granted during the year FAREH - 503
Released as income (note 7) FMAEWA (HfaE7) (5.492) (2,748)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12B31BZREE 12,716 18,208
Current portion included in deferred income, BIEEREWRA BT ER K
accruals and other payables (note 27) H e RIB Z BN ERER
(Hfzt27) (2,710) (2,856)
Non-current portion JEBPERER 1S 10,006 15,352

The government grants have been received from various
government authorities specifically for the purchases of
qualified plant and equipment in respect of the production
of MLCC. Except for the condition that the government

grants must be specifically used for the purchases of
qualified plant and equipment in respect of the production
of MLCC, there are no other conditions attached to these

grants.
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A5 ER R MIEE

30. BANK AND OTHER LOANS 30. IRITREMER
2021 2020
20215 20205
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®FR ARETT
Bank loans: BITEN
— Repayable within one year ——FREE variable
rates fixed rates
HEHE 3.99% 18000  EIEAE 3.7% 8,000
Bank loans that contain a repayment on - AR EXRFFEERTZ
demand clause (show under current  SR{TER (RAEEEE
liabilties) but repayable: THm) BERU T HREE
— Repayable after one year but within ~ ——F&BMERERE variable
two years rates
HEHE 4.65% 1,000 - = -
— Repayable after two years but within ~ —WEABRLEREE variable
five years rates
EEpES 4.65% 113,400 - - -
Other loans: HEhEm
— Repayable within one year ——FREE fixed rates fixed rates
EEFE  9.1%-10.0% 2424 EERE 10% 212,136
— Repayable after one year but within ~ ——E&BREREE fixed rates
two years EEME  9.1%9.7% 6,222 -
391,046 220,136
Analysed for reporting purpose as:  FLIRE B DHTA
Non-current liabilities FRBaE 6,222 -
Current liabilities it JI=NE 384,824 220,136
391,046 220,136
Analysed as: pLir R
Secured BiEH 153,744 8,000

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

187



188

Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

30.

*

BANK AND OTHER LOANS (Continued)

A leasehold land and land use right of the
Group with carrying values of approximately
RMB56,209,000 (2020: leasehold land of
RMB18,175,000 was secured by a corporate
guarantee provided by Chuzhou Puhui Financing
Guarantee Co., Ltd.*, an independent third party)
in aggregate was pledged to a bank to secure the
banking facilities and a guarantee was provided by
a wholly owned subsidiary to the bank in respect of
the bank facilities.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has aggregate
banking facilities of approximately RMB568,000,000
(2020: RMB20,000,000). Unused facilities amounted
to approximately RMB435,600,000 (2020:
RMB12,000,000) as at 31 December 2021.

Certain other loans are secured by property, plant
and equipment of the Group of RMB18,367,000
(2020: Nil) as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has aggregate
other facilities of approximately RMB408,591,000
(2020: RMB394,165,000). Unused facilities
amounted to approximately RMB198,107,000
(2020: RMB195,878,000) as at 31 December 2021.

The English name of company established in PRC are for
indentification purpose only.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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30.

IRITREMER (2

AEBREBEAHEOAARK
56,209,000t (20205 : AR ¥
18,175,000t WA E LM UBILE =
FHENTEERERRBRELATIRERMEN
NEEFRAIEE NEE LR T E
BHRBIEFARTUARTEERME
ROUWH—BE2ENBRABMIBITRE
MIRITIRMIER

R2021F12HB31H > x"EEBBIETT
REAHEHNAR®K568,000,0007T
(2020&F : AR #¥20,000,0007%) °
R2021F12H31H  RAHEEA
M ANRMA435,600,0007C (20204
12,000,000) °

R2021F12831H BT HMEFHL
NEEAR®18,367,0007% (20204
H) 2 E -MEREREAEE

R2021E12831H AEB B Ht#E
EEHH ANRKA408,591,0007T (2020
F: ANR#394,165,0007%) ° 22021
F12B31H  XFABEANAR
#198,107,0007% (20204 1 AR
195,878,0007T) ©



30.

Notes to the Financial Statements

BANK AND OTHER LOANS (Continued)

b) The carrying amounts of the bank approximated its

fair value.

Q) At 31 December 2021, other loans comprised
of outstanding principal and interests of
RMB258,646,000 (2020: RMB212,136,000) which
was due to the independent third parties to the

Group.

31. DEFERRED TAX IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

A5 ER R MIEE

30. RITREMER &

b) RITKREEREAFERS-

) R2021F12B31H EMMERBER
BELAERFMEASANR258,646,000
76 (20204 : AR#212,136,0007T) °
DAENTAERBIUIE =28

31. FREMBRRRPIELERE

a) Deferred tax assets recognised a) CHlEBZEERERE
Credit loss
Provision allowance of
against accounts Impairment  Recognition of
slow-moving and other of items accelerated
inventories receivables of PPE expenses Total
FEWFRIE R
wHEEE  HMEKRE YR BER
BE ZEEEERE REEERE 2 BERRHER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT UNCE S ARETR NS AERETR
At 1 January 2020 120201818 14,487 1,973 9,347 - 25,807
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated ~ FERREEIEER
statement of profit or loss and OCl HEth2EhER (k) /
during the year (note 9) A (H3t9) (1,123) (839) 107 - (1,855)
Effect of foreign currency exchange SMEEREBRE (H1729)
differences (note 9) - 6) = - ©)
At 31 December 2020 and K20205128318 %
1 January 2021 20211818 13,364 1,128 9,454 - 23,946
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated FARGEERER
statement of profit or loss and OC| Hit2ERERF A/
during the year (note 9) (40k%) (Hrzz9) 2,405 225 (862) 756 2,524
Effect of foreign currency exchange SNEEREERE (Wi29)
differences (note 9) - (5) = - )
Effect on deferred tax balances at R1B1BEARRESEMELN
1 January resulting from a change HRER TR BN 2
in tax rate - - 1,831 - 1,831
At 31 December 2021 120215128318 15,769 1,348 10,423 756 28,296
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31. DEFERRED TAX IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b) Deferred tax liabilities recognised

31. REMBRRRPIIEERIE (&

b) BHREZELERERR

Depreciation
allowances in

excess of
Withholding related
taxes depreciation Total
it
HERRITERN
FEIN#R ITERE “ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®BTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2020 2202018 1H 22,172 23,964 46,136
Credited to the consolidated FRRGEERR
statement of profit or loss and Hh2mEkmx
other comprehensive income st A (B7EE9)
during the year (note 9) (944) (4,623) (5,567)
At 31 December 2020 and 120205 12831H &
1 January 2021 20211818 21,228 19,341 40,569
Credited to the consolidated FRARGEERK
statement of profit or loss and Hih2miama=
other comprehensive income st A (B75£9)
during the year (note 9) (2,353) (8,603) (10,956)
At 31 December 2021 7220214128315 18,875 10,738 29,613

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated as from 1 January 2008.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

31. DEFERRED TAX IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b) Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2020: nil) for taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
Group's subsidiaries.

Q) Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB199,083,000 (2020:
RMB120,926,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax was recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021
(2020: nil) since it is not probable that future taxable profits
against which the losses can be utilised will be available
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Expiry dates of
unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

31. REMBRRRPIIELERIE (&

b) BHIBZELZREER (E

R2021F128B31H AEBETHWE AT R
EABMN MBI EANSRKBERZEILERIE
B f& (20204 : ) o

0 KRERZBREREEE

R2021E12831H  ~"EBB ARG BERIEES
B AR K199,083,0007 (20204 : AR
120,926,0007c) AJ K EH K R iEF) o 522021
F12B31H HREBARTA iEERER
HAOEHBARKRERRA BUEBBARIERS
B HWERLCRBAEAKEVBERIEZTESR
(2020F ' ) - AR MNBEEBBEVIBE AW
o

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT

Unrecognised tax losses will expire in: RIEDIRIBEBRICUT

FFREEIHR :

2024 20244 3,336 24,941
2025 20255 4,163 4,583
2026 20265 6,894 -
2029 20294 46,039 77,399
2030 20305 124,234 -
184,666 106,923
Unrecognised tax losses without expiry date THEEIHAE 2 RIERIRIEE R 14,417 14,003
199,083 120,926

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%



192

Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

Share award scheme by the Company

On 14 July 2017 (the “Adoption Date"”), the Board adopted
a share award scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purposes
of (i) providing the beneficiaries with an opportunity
to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company; (ii)
encouraging and retaining the beneficiaries to work with
the Company; and (iii) providing additional incentive
for the beneficiaries to achieve performance goals, with
a view to achieving the objectives of increasing the
value of the Company and aligning the interests of the
beneficiaries directly to the shareholders of the Company
through ownership of shares. A trustee, as an independent
third party, was appointed by the Company for the
administration of the Scheme. The award shares may be
satisfied by (i) existing shares to be acquired by the trustee
from the market; or (ii) new shares to be allotted and issued
to the trustee by the Company under the mandate sought
from the shareholders in its general meeting, in both
case the costs of which will be borne by the Company.
The trustee shall hold such shares in trust until they are
vested to the beneficiaries in accordance to the rules of the
Scheme.

The directors of the Company may, from time to time,
at its discretion select any employee of the Group for
participation in the Scheme and grant such number of
awarded shares to any selected employee of the Group at
nil consideration. The directors of the Company are entitled
to impose any conditions with respect to the vesting of the
awarded shares.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme by the Company (Continued)

The Scheme came into effect on the Adoption Date, and
shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the tenth anniversary
date of the Adoption Date; and (ii) such date of early
termination as determined by the directors of the
Company.

The aggregate number of shares, whether they are new
shares to be allotted and issued by the Company or
existing shares to be purchased on-market by the trustee,
underlying all grants made pursuant to the Scheme shall
not exceed in total 10% of the Company’s issued share
capital as at the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Limit”). No
account shall be taken into the calculation of the Scheme
Limit of any shares where the right to acquire such shares
has been released or lapsed in accordance with the
Scheme. The Scheme Limit may be refreshed from time to
time subject to obtaining of prior approval from the Board
(the “New Approval”) but in any event the aggregate
number of award shares administered under the Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the New Approval.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share of
the Company has been purchased from the open market
(2020: nil). At 31 December 2021, no share of the
Company was held in trust by the trustee (2020: nil).

A5 ER R MIEE

32. REGHEHURMNARRZRS @

TATZRID RS E (B)

SHEIRNHRMBEN UAFRUTRELIR
WEHB&LE ((VBERMBBMES R TEE &
(INVERBEFRAENRERERIEAN-

RESEIREZFAERD (BREXATRA
BRETZARNAZFEARKRTEHE LBA
ZHRAERNG BEEGHAIBRBBERI N RMA
HEAEEITRAZ10% (T5t38 LR1) 15t
HEtE LIRE R B WUEEN B W AR R
KU ERARDAESFEER 5B LR
KEFTEAME (THLE) BARKRERN
HRBEFSEEZRBRONBHAER N AT
TEBEARANMMHEAREETREZ
10% °

REZ2021F12B31HIEEE > BERARB
MBEBATAAELTRMG (20204F © #]&) o1
2021F12831H R A EUGEEENF
EEAENAT RS (202045 © ) o
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme by the Company (Continued)

Movements in the number of awarded shares outstanding

during the years are as follows:

32.

RELEEURNMABRZRS &

TATZRID RS E (B)

FRABRTEERRDBEEHUWT :

Number of awarded shares

RBRHHE
Balance at
31 December
Fair value Balance at Lapsed 2020 and Lapsed Balance at
Date of grant per share 1 January during 1 January during 31 December
Categories of awardees (Note 1) (Note 2) 2020 the year 2021 the year 2021
120205
12B318%
BRATHE 1420205 W15 120215

ERBAER REAH W) W2) BB ZH RERKH 1B1R 248k REREKY  1B3EZER

Directors of the Company (mofe 4) 14 July 2017 RMB1 5,958,000 - 5,958,000 - 5,958,000

FARES (f4) 2017%7A148 NE#IT

Notes: et -

1 The date of award refers to the date on which the selected 1 326N H A1 (B B R RURGE IR IR AR D AV L R
employees agreed to undertake to hold the awarded shares REFBEBRA I FEEZRAEZE 2 RAAER
on the terms on which they are granted and agreed to be HER-
bound by the rules of the Share Award Scheme.

2 The fair value of the awarded shares are based on the fair 2 RERG 2 ATFEDRBEERBEHBRZ ATEE
value at the date of grant. TE °

3 The awarded shares granted to the beneficiaries during the 3 REE2017F12A31HEFEE TR A ZEE
year ended 31 December 2017 would be vested in three RS =HEE  Sit#1,986,0008 K175 /B
tranches of 1,986,000 shares each on the vesting date on HHBD B 220184 « 20194 &2020E3H31H ° i
31 March 2018, 2019 and 2020 respectively. Subject to the B AR BN St B 8B > 5 B B R A A
expiration of the Share Award Scheme, in the event that the IEEFE ISR Bz B B R (E 5 B BRI
specific vesting conditions cannot be fulfilled on a particular B BEE B RMRHIEER - RS IEZEIFT 8B Mg
vesting date of any given year, the entire vesting schedule 2] 18 AR AT (618 18 2R 57 /88 RO HE BN AP A8 25 SR B Al 23
shall be adjourned until such conditions are met. Upon expiry RER ©
of the Share Award Scheme, any outstanding but unvested
award shares shall lapse and become returned shares.

4 5,958,000 awarded shares granted during the year ended 31 4 REE2017F 12831 HIEFERFRAEELE

December 2017 were granted to Mr. Zhou Chunhua.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the vesting
conditions cannot be fulfilled and the vesting schedule has

been adjourned.
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33. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the government of the PRC.
The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of RMB15,569,000
(2020: RMB4,642,000) represents contributions paid
to these schemes by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, there were no
material forfeitures available to offset the Group’s future
contributions (2020: nil).

A5 ER R MIEE

33. EERAKEF
TE BB IR 5T

AEBRBEEBCRAFIEABEEEA ) A
SEB(EEEA)EENEERILAFER
Eestd (MafEesta)) - 2AFEta 22—
BEREIISTTASENTEEHEDNBRARTS R
Bt BT REEDH BiZESHEREE
WA Z5%M 58 /FH R HAERA WA
30,0008 54 £ o @ 5 2 /F 1 BV 7 BN &
BRI o

AEBT2M-—BAPERFRINERE
BERAEHNGE -AEBETEHNBELATINE
EXNZ2NMBEREEZRKEMNFE -ZSZHBEQ
B EARFHFEMAZHEB D L@ RKER
BFHERUSAZERBARHESZ - AEE
IEIERIREA 5t 8BV IE— S E BB IEEBY

HER -

FABGZNAER A AR®15,569,0007T
(2020 : AR ¥4,642,0007) W AERE
F2021F 12831 HIEFERMEREE Bz
T o R2021F12H31H  TEERLB KRS
MO IRHAER Z RRMER (202145 © ) o
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 34. AABHMFHERART
OF THE COMPANY
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’'000 RMB‘000
Mz AR®FTxT ARETT
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment EN YRGS 4 4
Investments in subsidiaries RBABZEE 252,255 252,255
252,259 252,259
Current assets RENEE
Due from subsidiaries AN NGRS O] 884,342 895,607
Deposits and prepayments ¥ RFENRIE 19 20
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTT4E R 471 5,353
884,832 900,980
Current liabilities mENaE
Accruals and other payables FEST & A K H A & 7B 3,538 3,624
Due to subsidiaries N NGO 488,416 490,142
491,954 493,766
Net current assets MENEERE 392,878 407,214
NET ASSETS BERE 645,137 659,473
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARKEE
Share capital N 35(a) 6,637 6,637
Reserves B3] 35(b) 638,500 652,836
TOTAL EQUITY 4ERE TS 645,137 659,473
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

35. BAK#fE

a)  Share capital a) K=&
Authorised and issued share capital EEREEITRE
2021 2020
202145 20204
HKD'000 HKD'000
FAET FAET
Authorised: ERE -
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,0000¢ S REE B
HK$0.01 each 0.018B Tz EERK 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE -
At the beginning and end of the year R S K 744,750,0008%
744,750,000 (2020: 744,750,000) (20204 : 744,750,0008%)
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FHIREE0.01E T2 ZimAR 7,448 7,448
Equivalent to RMB'000 AREFTZEE 6,637 6,637

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. Al
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

EERZEEAEREEAFEIRNRE I
MERRNMEFRARRAGLEA—FX
RIE-FIEEBRANVNARTDZAGFEEZA
B F R
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

b) Capital and Reserves

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial

statements.

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual
components of equity between the beginning and the end

of the year are set out below:

35. BAEkf#HE =
b) EARKiHE

AEERFFERBAFEZ HECBRE
BRUBERR RS REBHRLT -

FNEFARBAEARBEREm D 2 E 5
BEEIMOT

Attributable to owners of the Company

i WNGIE PN
Share Share
premium  Contributed award Accumulated Total
Share capital account surplus reserve losses equity
i)
Bx  RIVEER BB 4 B8 miEn
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETR ARETR AREFT ARETR
At 1 January 2020 120201518 6,637 491,518 364,952 4,597 (190,868) 676,836
Loss and total comprehensive FRBERZEEEEE
loss for the year - - - - (17,741) (17,741
Recognition of equity-settled share-based T SRRk (7 4251 2178 2R 1E
payment expenses under share award  EEURBAERZ IFFEZ
scheme (note 32) (Hat32) - - - 378 - 378
At 31 December 2020 1120201283185 6,637 491,518 364,952 4,975 (208,609) 659,473
At 1 January 2021 20211818 6,637 491,518 364,952 4,975 (208,609) 659,473
Loss and total comprehensive FREBREEEELE
loss for the year - - - - (14,336) (14,336)
At 31 December 2021 12021128318 6,637 491,518 364,952 4,975 (222,945) 645,137
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35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

<) Nature and purpose of reserves
i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account of the Company is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which a dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

ii) Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus of the Group represents:

- the difference of RMB203,536,000 being the excess
of the nominal value of the shares and contributed
surplus of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
group reorganisation over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor;

- the deficit of RMB2,823,000 arising from the
acquisition of Dongguan Eyang Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (“DG Eyang”) from the non-
controlling shareholders of DG Eyang;

- the deficit of RMB1,774,000 arising from the
disposal of Shenzhen Eycom Technology Co., Ltd. to
the related party;

- the credit of RMB9,468,000 arising from the
deemed contribution from the shareholders when
acquiring Shenzhen Eyang Energy Company Limited
and its subsidiary (the “Energy Group”) during the
year ended 31 December 2012; and

- the deficit of RMB650,000 arising from deemed
distribution to the shareholders when disposing the
Energy Group during the year ended 31 December
2013.

A5 ER R MIEE

35. BAREE (E
o RFEZMEERRR

i) BR17EE

RIERASBEEREE (ER]) XRATZKRMD
HERAUDIKTFTEARDRE  BERERZD
KEREERB KRB ERENBERBER
FHEEET -

i) EHEE
REBEBHBRIE

— REEEE4HCEKWENRBATIZRME
EREHBHBERAT TR MET
ZRMmhEEzEZ%B AR®203,536,000
7T 5

- HRRETFHRXERAERAF (IR
EFB) FERERRRBREFHME
FRBAANRTE2,823,0007T ;

= S EEFITEENEERAS
EEZEAHMARM1,774,0007T ;

= BE2012F12831HIEEE > £ iE
RINTFHERBRABARENEB AR
(TSERER)) B BIEREIEELE
2 #EIR AR %9,468,0007T 5 &

= HZE2013F12H31HILEEFEE ITHE
FEEREBER BERREDIREEZE
4 AR #650,0007T °
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M5 ERAR MIEE

35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

<) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
iii) Share award reserve

The share award reserve comprises the portion of the fair
value of unvested outstanding award shares granted by
the Company that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in
note 2(t)(ii).

iv)  Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 2(x).

v) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investment designated at FVOCI under IFRS 9 that are held
at the end of the reporting period (see note 2(i)).

vi) Statutory reserve

Pursuant to applicable PRC regulations, certain PRC
subsidiaries in the Group are required to appropriate 10%
of their profit after tax (after offsetting prior year losses)
to the statutory reserve until such reserve reaches 50%
of their registered capital. Transfers to the reserve must
be made before distribution of dividends to shareholders.
Upon approval by relevant authorities, the statutory
reserve can be utilised to offset the accumulated loss or
to increase the paid-up capital of the subsidiary, provided
that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of its
registered capital.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for one subsidiary licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission which is obliged to
meet the regulatory liquid capital requirements under the
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“FRR") at
all times.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. For
the licensed subsidiary, the Group ensures the licensed
subsidiary maintains a liquid capital level adequate to
support the level of activities with sufficient buffer to
accommodate for increase in liquidity requirements arising
from potential increase in the level of business activities.
During the financial year, the licensed subsidiary complied
with the liquid capital requirements under the FRR at all
times. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

A5 ER R MIEE

35. BEkf#HE =
d BFEE

AEREAEEZTEZEENRRAREAERE
FECERERFEENERLER UXFER
TERRREBEZRAE-

FEBERIRRNEMIISHEMNZELRE
KROEEBSRMEEBEEREZETHRZ
—BNE AR RKRABETES KRS (MHE
) RA (T HERRR) BIHNRBMEESR

EERE-

AEBEBREEAERBIRELSERLE S
HEMEHBAE ATHEFTABBEEAEHE K
EENEABREREZRESZ T OREBFE
BEAFETHRD -MIFEMBARTMES > K
EERERFENBADHIFTEUNIFER L
FKFEZRERKTE  TEETRDNEHE
SO BEHEFT T KFETEEME M
MBMBER - RAVBEER FRENBAF
—BHETHHRERFUNEBETHNREMEE AR
Eo B E2021F &2020F12A31BLEEE
EEBEAZERE BRI ERPULEES o
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M5 ERAR MIEE

35. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net
debt is calculated as the sum of bank and other loans,
obligations under finance lease, lease liabilities, trade and
bills payables and accruals and other payables (excluding
deferred income and receipts in advance) less cash and
cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable
to owners of the Company (excluding share capital). The
Group's policy is to keep the gearing ratio at a reasonable
level. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:

35. BAEkf#HE =
d EBFEE#

AEBUBEEARIERERER EEA[LL
KREFEFHEUBEEMEFREE - BREHHR
ThEMER MEEERE -HEER IE
NEZRERENRE EBstERRHEMEN
RE(FEFEETERAREBYIEBA) ZMER
ERBEEEFBYABE - BEXRELTRATAEEAZ
s (FEERE) AEBZBRRERE
ERALEXERFTEEEZ KT L REREFHEX
ZEEBRLEERNT

2021 2020

202145 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBEFT ARETT

Bank and other loans RITRHEMER 391,046 220,136
Lease liabilities HE&®RE 29,567 37,878
Trade and bills payables FE B Z B RN R 68,983 71,570
Accruals and other payables FEST & A A H & FRIE 98,599 79,581

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 25) B IR RIREEBY) H5225) (62,864) (60,298)
Net debt HETS 525,331 348,867
Total equity excluding share capital wrEm (FEERZE) 932,589 864,046
Equity and net debt e k% 1,457,920 1,212,913
Gearing ratios BEEAE 36% 29%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

36. COMMITMENTS

a) Operating lease commitments
i) The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 16) under
operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to eight years, with an option to
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of
the leases includes contingent rentals.

At 31 December 2021, total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place
will be receivable by the Group in future period as follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

36. KiE
a) IREHAEKIE

) FEEFEZLHTEAA

FEERBESHOZEHEHREY X (M
16)  KENZHENFEHRHIEESELRF |
EERENEAMARAEKER ZFHEOT
BENAEE-

R2021F 128318 AEER KRR AR R
BRASCHHOCERNBERZZ RRREAE
TN

2021 2020

20215 2020%

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®B T ARBT T

Within one year 1R 2,559 1,768
After one year but within five years 1B EFER 4,323 5,067
6,882 6,835

ii) The Group as lessee

The Group is the lessee in respect of certain of its factories
and office premises under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for properties are negotiated for terms of two to six
years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms
are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals. Pursuant to the lease agreements, the monthly
lease charges for certain leases is subject to review by the
landlord based on market terms every two years.

i)  FEEFEBEAEA

FEERERNKERNZHBETETERE R
WMAMERNABA -WEBRNZ FHEMN
R2EECF AEERENEBMMA RARE
BH ZFTHOFEEHARAEE - BEBAOH
FOATHANSEHEERARHEETIRED
GRS EEITIRET
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M5 ERAR MIEE

36. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
b) Capital commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2021

not provided for in the financial statements were as
follows:

36. KiE (&)
b) B &I

R2021F12B3 1B RN B HRERFEBZ
BRAENT

2021 2020
202148 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT

Contracted for: BETAY
Construction fEE= 86,964 123,748
Land use right T fEFR 43,812 =
Plant and machinery i 55 e 1% 23 34,595 36,360
Fund Investments BEEEE 91,430 95,973
256,801 256,081

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year and
balances with related parties at the end of the reporting
period:

Key management personnel remuneration
The key management personnel include directors of the

Company (note 10) and certain highest paid employees
(note 11), and their remuneration is as follows:

37. RS R 5 RAEER

FRZSEUBRERAMEHFLAZRZIN X
EERFRNERAB A XS RNBSHRA
REE S 2 AEERU0E -

TEEBRRBASZHMN

TEEBEEAECEARTES (ZF10) &
ETEREHEES (MEE11)  Hi#: :

2021 2020

20215 20205

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Short-term employee benefits HAEE R 21,367 25,175
Post-employment benefits EEBEBEER 232 169
Equity compensation benefits i& A EREF - 378
21,599 25,722

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
8(b)).
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38. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38.

COMPANY

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

ERAEIMBAB ZHBER

FTERBABNR2021F12B31HZEBER

2021 are as follows: WwE
Place of Issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid-up/ equity attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
g AR SR ERTREREMEE FATEGREE AL TEEHR
Direct Indirect
B R
% %
Eyang Management Co., Limited BVI/HK 10,000 ordinary shares of 100 - Investment holding
US$1 each
EBRUHE/TE 1000085 REEIZETZ RETKR
a7 5% AL
b
Hong Kong Eyang Holdings (Group) ~ HK/PRC 10,000 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding
Co., Limited
EEFRER &E) BRAR &8/ PE 10,0008 & 48 A% KWEZRR
Hong Kong Eyang Technology BVI/HK 50,000 ordinary shares = 100 Trading of MLCC
Co., Limited of US$1 each
HBRULEE/EF 50,0008 EREE BEMLCC
1ETZ BER
Hong Kong Eyang Electronics Limited ~ HK/PRC 500,000 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding and
trading of MLCC
EEFHEFERAT &4/ 500,0008% & &A% REZRKREEMLCC
A FEERRERERAR PRC/PRC Registered capital of = 100 Manufacture and sale of
RMB350,000,000 MLCC
e,/ HFE &2 AR #350,000,0007 RIS RIHEMLCC
Anhui Jineyang Electronic PRC/PRC Registered capital of - 100 Manufacture of MLCC
Technology Co., Ltd.* RMB4,500,000
ZHEFHREFREBRAF I/ HhE & A A K #4,500,0007T BEBEMLCC
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M5 ERAR MIEE

38. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. FKATIMBAGRZHRER (&
COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid-up/ equity attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
&8 MR EEMYE ERTRERERERE FAERIGRERDL FEEH
Direct  Indirect
E# GikES
% %
BREFHENEEERRAT PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Property holding
RMB11,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB20,000,000
thEl,/HE AR #20,000,0007¢ MERE
AMERRESELR
AE#11,000,00070
ZHFBRRERERAR PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of RMB Nil = 100 Inactive
out of registered capital of
RMB100,000,000
g,/ AR #100,000,0007c % BEREX
BAREHERARES T
FNTEFHBRRZERBRAR"  PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of = 100 Inactive
RMB35,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB350,000,000
i,/ HE AE #35,000,0007C BREX
AfMERRESELR
A #35,000,0007%
NER Management Ltd. BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 - Inactive
HERZHE /B \REEIETZEER TREX
Tianli Financial Limited HK/HK 105,200,000 ordinary shares - 100 License corporation and
provision of advisory
services
FAHERERAH &8/ 5% 105,200,0008% & @K R B R AR
Tianli Investment Management Limited  Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100 Provision for fund
management services
e REEIZETZ 8K RUESEERE
Tianli Financial Group Limited Cayman/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 - Investment holding
BE /&8 REEI1ET @R REZR
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A5 ER R MIEE

38. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. AREMBABRZFIEEH (&)

COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid-up/ equity attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
&8 MR EEMYE ERTRERERERE FAERIGRERDL FEEH
Direct Indirect
E# GiEES
% %
Tianli Capital Limited Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 100 Investment in private funds
Be/He REEIET @R hWEETERE
Tianli Global Opportunities Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100  General Partner of
Investment Partners Limited investment private fund
HE /HEe 1REEI1ET BER WEEEREEREBA
Tianli China Opportunities Fund | Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100  General Partner of
Limited investment private fund
Be/He REEI1ZTZ B8R MEEEREEREBA
Tianli China Opportunities Fund II Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 100  General Partner of
Limited investment private fund
BHe/HE IRAEIETZEBR MWEETREEBEBA
Tianli UK Opportunities Fund Limited ~ Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100  General Partner of
investment private fund
HE /HEe 1REEI1ET BER WEEEREEREBA
Tianli US Opportunities Fund Limited ~ Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100  General Partner of
investment private fund
Be/He REEI1ZTZ B8R IEEEREEREBA
Tianli Private Debt Investment Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 100  General Partner of
Partners Limited investment private fund
BHe/HE IRAEIETZEBR MWEEETREEBEBA
Tianli Private Debt Fund Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100  General Partner of
Investment Limited investment private fund
HE /He 1REE1ET BER WEEEREEREBA
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M5 ERAR MIEE

38. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38.
COMPANY (Continued)

ERABIMBABZHBEER (&)

Place of Issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid-up/ equity attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
&8 MR EEMYE ERTRERERERE FAERIGRERDL FEEH
Direct Indirect
E# GikES
% %
Tianli Public Markets Investment Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 100  General Partner of
Partners Limited investment private fund
BHe/HE IRAEIETZEBR MWEETREEBEBA
Tianli Special Situations Investment Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100  General Partner of
Partners Limited investment private fund
HE /He 1REE1ET BER WEEEREEREBA
Tianli M & A Investment Limited Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 100 General Partner of
investment private fund
Be/He REEIZTZEBR IWEESREEREBA
Asia Enhanced Income Investment Ltd.  Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 - 100  General Partner of
investment private fund
GV REEIZTZEBR MWEETREEEEBA
Wasen-Tianli Investment Cayman/Cayman 2 ordinary shares of - 100 Assets management
Management Limited US$1 each
Be/He UREREEIZTZERR BEEE
Wasen-Tianli SPC Cayman/Cayman 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 100 Assets management
GV REEIETZ EBR BEEE
Universal Blossom Limited BVI/Macau 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
EEBRAT BBEULHE /B 10,00085RERIZETZ RETR
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38. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38.

COMPANY (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

ERABEIMBABZHBEER (&)

Place of Issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid-up/ equity attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
&8 MR EEMYE ERTRERERERE FAERIGRERDL FEEH
Direct Indirect
E# GiEES
% %

Tianli Financial Holdings Limited HK/HK 2,000,000 ordinary shares = 100 Investment holding and
provision of financial
services

A ERERBRAT &8/ 5% 2,000,0008% & 4% REZRRRETRRE

Tianhe Medical Investment Limited BVIHK 1,000 ordinary shares of - 50.7  Investment holding

US$1 each
HEREEHE/EE 10008E8RARIZETZ RETR
EEk
First Promise Limited BVI/HK 100 ordinary shares of - 50.7  Financial investment
US$1 each
HERZHE/BE 100RERERIZTZEER TR E
Star Chaser Ventures Limited Cayman/Cayman 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100  Financial investment
US$1 each
He/He 10,000REREEIXTZ THRE
LER
Asia Capital Real Estate V Pte. Ltd. Singapore/Singapore 5,316,169 ordinary shares of - 94.42  Financial investment
("ACRE") US$1 each and 100 ordinary
shares of SGD$1 each
b T 1D 5,316,169 B RAEIETZ THRE
BER K100 EREE!
MK Sk
Tianli Investment Trading Limited HK/HK 20,000,000 ordinary shares = 100  General trading
AREEZERAT &8/ B8 20,000,0008% & B2 —%E
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M5 ERAR MIEE

38. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 38. BAEMBABZEBER (&
COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Issued and Percentage of
incorporation/ fully paid-up/ equity attributable to
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
&8 MR EEMYE ERTRERERERE FAERIGRERDL FEEH
Direct  Indirect
E# GikES
% %
Celestial Hope Limited BVI/HK 10,000 ordinary shares of = 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
KEBRAH HERZHE/BE 10000KERARIETZ REZR
Epl
FImREREBRAR PRC/PRC Paid-up capital of - 100 Finandial technology
RMB70,000,000 out
of registered capital of
RMB70,000,000
e,/ HE AR#70,000,0007c: SRR
BXRESHERAARE
70,000,0007%
* These companies were established in the PRC in the form of & ZERNBABRFELIZNIIN EEE R

wholly-foreign-owned enterprises.

ZERNB RN HFERINPEANERE AT

i\‘l“ll:

L These companies were established in the PRC as PRC L
domestic-invested companies.

» This company was established in the PRC in the form of sino- 8 Z AR AR RBR I NPIEER S R
foreign equity joint venture.

ol

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, there is no subsidiary of R2021F &2020F 128318 » 24~ £ B # &= 1T
the Group which has material non-controlling interests. B ASIESE AJEEERES o
The English name of companies established in the PRC are REERIIZ A 2B XL TBILEMRHR o

for identification purpose only.
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

39. HEMBAR

A5 ER R MIEE

There is no disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended REZE2021F12B31HIEEFERBELENRB
31 December 2021. NSIIC

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE2020F12A31HILEEE

On 9 July 2020, the Group entered into share transfer 2020 7R 9B AEBEFPEA X TE X (K

agreements with China Tian Yuan Capital (International)
Holdings Limited, for the disposal of several subsidiaries.

The net assets disposed are as follows:

B ZEREBRABDITURMNEENZ > S
EETWBAR -FIEEZEEFENT :

2020
20205
RMB'000
ARBT T
Consideration received: BURARE :
Cash received BIRE 2,251
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEEVEZEERGRZOM:
which control was lost:
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 2,491
Accruals and other payables FESTE A R H Mg (I =18 (42)
Balance with fellow subsidiaries, net HERNB ARG 258 (424)
Tax payables FETHRIE (198)
Net assets disposed of HEZFEE 1,827
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBAE
Consideration received BWAE 2,251
Net assets disposed of HEZFEE (1,827)
Waiver of intercompany debts bR B EHMERS (424)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of HENBRABZREREDMUT :
subsidiaries is as follows:
2020
20205
RMB'000
ARBT T
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELZFIREME :
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents ~ MUIRE£ KIS LEBYWERZ K E 2,251
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B HEZRERIREEEY (2,491)
(240)
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M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include the

HHBEREEZ BRREE

FEBZIESHITAGEUTRE!

followings:
Categories of financial instruments SR T EER
2021 2020
202148 20204
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREF AERKEFT
Financial assets ERMEE
Accounts and bills receivables JFE W TR T8 By FE U 2 45 190,975 185,236
Refundable rental deposits (note i) RERERE W) 5,917 5,566
Other receivables HihpE U siE 7,737 17,057
Cash and bank balances I8 & MIRTT4E R 62,864 60,298
Financial assets at amortised cost BEER At ENSHEE 267,493 268,157
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFESAHEMEE R ED
EMEE 12,435 25,893
Financial assets at FVPL BATFEFABGNEHREE
— Designated at FVPL —EEABATESAER 409,092 369,519
Financial liabilities ERaE
Trade and bills payables FE(T B Z R IE M BN R 68,983 71,570
Accruals and other payables FEST & B R HE Mg =B 89,489 76,422
Bank and other loans IRITREMER 391,046 220,136
Lease liabilities HEaE 29,567 37,878
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B#EN At 22 EMAaE 579,085 406,006
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Categories of financial instruments (Continued)

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
and other loans, and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise/provide
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts and
bills receivables, finance lease receivable, lease liabilities,
trade and bills and other payables, which arose directly
from its operations. The Group also invests in equity and
debt investments.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

Note:

(i) Rental deposits are typically paid for leased properties, which
are refundable after the expiry of the leases.

a) Fair values

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

A5 ER R MIEE

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

TR T RER &)

AEBZITEZEERMIAGERTKREME
PORERBTER ZFEMIAZIES
M REEBZREER REES -KAEH
BEZHRERNCHEEELE ZHEMEMEE
ke fINMERREREBRRE BERME
HERE HEAR - BUVESMERENR
BURHEMEMRBE AEBTRENRRKRAER
BHRSE -

FEBTRIAIRZZTERARASFAXEA
FHNNERR-EFEERRKRABET AR &
EEERZZTRARAREAERREEZSTA
SRR AZEREAREERRRBERH AN
o

Hat -

(i) HERSEEMAEYES T UREEERER
REBo

a) yASA

)  BATEAEZEHEERER

R FEFE

TRENFEERBSHARABREEMEEES
EZEMIBZATE UREBERVBERS
ZRIFI3R/TAFEFEBIFMREZAFER
BOR-BATERB ATFEFEES2ZM
BREFMABABBZIEREEREEN
BoRmrEEROT :

. F—REBREE:: AEBREF—EBRBEA
BE BEtERREREEXNERE
EETHE ERERBZRE) SHEQTF
Ee
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M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs, that is, observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

The Group has a team headed by the finance manager to
perform valuations for the financial instruments, including
financial assets at FVOCI and at FVPL which are categorised
into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The team reports
directly to the executive Directors and the audit committee.
A valuation report with analysis of changes in fair value
measurement is prepared by the team at each interim
and annual reporting date, and is reviewed and approved
by the executive Directors. Discussion of the valuation
process and results with the executive Directors and the
audit committee is held twice a year, to coincide with the
reporting dates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

A5 ER R MIEE

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

a) QAFEGE

) BATFENEZZHEERER (B

R FEFRE (B

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2021 categorised into

R2021FE 12831 BN A FE =D

Fair value at
31 December
2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20214
12H31H
HNAFE BBk BB BB
RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB‘000 RMB‘000
ARBTT ARETR ARETRT ARETR®
Recurring fair value measurements EHEM AT (EHE
Assets: BE .
Financial assets at FVOCI BATESAHMZE
WEMEHEE
— Unlisted equity instrument (note a) —JFrmEETH
(Hfzta) 12,435 - - 12,435
Financial assets at FVPL BATESABRN
THEE
— Unlisted equity instruments (note b) —FEmERTR
(Hiztb) 409,092 - - 409,092
421,527 - - 421,527
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M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

a) QAFEGE

) BATFENEZZHEERER (B

R FEFRE (B

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2020 categorised into
R2020 1231 BN AT EFENE

Fair value at
31 December
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
120204
128318
MATE E—EMR F_RBH%R E=BHR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT AR®BTT ARETR
Recurring fair value measurements EHEM AT (EHE
Assets: BE .
Financial assets at FVOCI BATESAHMZE
BENEREE
— Unlisted equity instrument (note a) —JFrmEETH
(Hfzta) 25,893 - - 25,893
Financial assets at FVPL BATESABRN
THEE
— Unlisted equity instruments (note b) —FEmERTR
(Hiztb) 369,519 - - 369,519
395,412 - - 395,412
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Fair values (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as
at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Notes:

(a)

The valuation techniques and key inputs used for unlisted
financial assets at FVOCI in level 3 fair value measurement at

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

a) QAFEGE

) BATFENEZZHEERER (B

R FEFRE (B

HE2021F K2020F12831BLEEE 5 —
BREAF _BHRoBTEEE TERE=ZR
MEBANESEH AEBRRBEELEEHE R
SHRERATERESEBHR B EE-

Mt -

(@) RBREHEA ARE=BRATEFEZRATE
StAHMEEWRENIF EHEMBENGERER

the end of the reporting period are as follows: FRBASTEAT !
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range
HERE BEARFTAIBRZRH AR #E
Unlisted equity instrument Discounted cash flow Discount for lack of marketability 20%
ELEmEaT A IREE/Rh= (note 1) (2020: 20%)

TRZ g BT (Bat1)

Discount for lack of control
(note 2)

TRZ ERIRE TR (Ha22)

Weighted average cost of capital
(note 3)

MEFTE R A (#1523)

Long-term revenue growth rate
(note 4)

RHAWmIERE (Ha24)

Long term pre-tax operating margin
(note 5)

REAMATARE RF= (BaE5)

(20204 : 20%)
15%

(2020: 15%)
(20204F : 15%)
9%

(2020: 10%)
(20204 : 10%)
10%

(2020: 13%)
(20204F : 13%)
20%

(2020: 31%)
(20204 : 31%)
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M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of unlisted equity investment is determined
using the discounted cash flow adjusted for lack of
marketability discount and lack of control discount. The fair
value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount
for lack of marketability, lack of control discount and
weighted average cost of capital. (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
() (Continued)

1) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of discount for lack of marketability by 3% (2020:
3%), with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's other comprehensive income
by approximately RMB1,296,000 (2020: RMB1,195,000).

2) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of discount for lack of control by 3% (2020: 3%),
with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group's other comprehensive income by
approximately RMB1,296,000 (2020: R\MB1,195,000).

3) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of weighted average cost of capital by 3% (2020:
3%), with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's other comprehensive income
by approximately RMB10,955,000 (2020: RMB16,374,000).

4) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of long-term revenue growth rate by 3% (2020:
3%), with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's other comprehensive income
by approximately RMB2,671,000 (2020: RMB2,097,000).

B)) At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of long-term pre-tax operating margin by 3% (2020:
3%), with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s other comprehensive income
by approximately RMB 1,233,000 (2020: RMB790,000).

(b) For unlisted equity instruments classified under Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy, the fair values are determined based on
the net asset values of those investment funds determined
with reference to valuation of underlying investment portfolio
and adjustments of related expenses. The higher the net
assets values, the higher the fair value.
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a) QAFEE
) HEATEAEZZHEEREE (B

R FEFE (B

FLETRERENAFEDRBERRZS
EREMITERRZEFRITETUREZ
FRETREETE A TEFBHRZTHR
BUEFE R EFTBBRNEFHE LR
X288/ (B

Htst - (&)
() #)

1) R2021E12B31H EFFEEMESRIFT A&
BRT B mE TR, 3%
(2020%F : 3%) At AEEBEMEZE K E
1IN AR 1,296,0007T (20204 @ AR
1,195,0007T) ©

2) K20215128318 AT A HthEEREFTE 218
T ERZ PRI R AR AN, 3% (2020
F13%) st ELAEMAMEEER D1
4\ E¥1,296,0007T (20204 © AER¥51,195,000
7T) °

3) 2021128318 EFfF B EME B RE R
ZIBERT IEFEEEARRASTERZE M, R 3%
(2020% : 3%) Lt AEEEMEEINGE R
b IBINA A R #10,955,0007T (20204 : AR
16,374,0007T) °

4) K20215128318  EFTA HthEERETE 2 1E
R REAWAR REEEIEM,H3% (2020
F13%) At ELAEMEMBEREIEIN,
D NEE2,671,0007T (20204 © AR #52,097,000
7T) °

5) R2021E12B31H EFFEEMESRIFAE >
BRT  RERATAE R KRR, R 3%
(2020%F : 3%) At AEEBEMEZE K E
I, B AR EE1,233,0007T (20204 @ AR
790,0007T) ©
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A5 ER R MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. BHHEMEEEZBEREE (&
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued) a) Q2FE®@

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair i) BAFEAEZEHEEREE ()

value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) W FELE (42)
Notes: (Continued) Wizt (#8)
(© The movements during the year in the balance of these Level (© ZER—BRATEFEZERNENEFUNT

3 fair value measurements are as follow:

Financial asset

Financial assets

at FVPL at FVOCI
BATAE
BATE STAEM
FFAEER EHEWERN
EMEE EMEE
Unlisted Unlisted
debt equity
instruments instrument
L i
BHIA HETH
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETT
At 1 January 2020 720201818 383,269 11,353
Disposals HE (23,342) -
Net gain recognised in B2 EU R R 2 W B 4R
other comprehensive income - 15,836
Net gain recognised in AU A T FRIBE S > I35 R 5E*
profit or loss included in revenue* TARKA ot e 7 4 35,184 -
Exchange differences included in “exchange fluctuation=f A £ fth 2 i 35 TRE SR £ 48| ~ [E 2= 58
reserve” in other comprehensive income - (18,671) (1,296)
Dividend received BuREE (6,921) _
At 31 December 2020 120206128318 369,519 25,893
At 1 January 2021 202141818 369,519 25,893
Share buyback BE15 B [T - (19,492)
Net gain recognised in TR ELfh 2 T R e 58 2 W e VB B
other comprehensive income - 6,832
Net gain recognised in S AU 2 PR REER 2 Wk B A
profit or loss included in revenue* 55,151 -
Exchange differences included in “exchange fluctuation=f A = fth 2 i 25 TE SR 248 | = [E R 2= 58
reserve” in other comprehensive income - (15,578) (798)
At 31 December 2021 120214128318 409,092 12,435
* Includes unrealised gains or losses recognised in profit or loss attributable to balances held at the end of the reporting period
* SRS ARPIFER MmN B AR 2 R ER W s A8
2021 202148 55,151 -
2020 20204 35,184 -
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M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

a) Fair values (Continued)

i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(© (Continued)

Included in other comprehensive income is an amount of
RMB6,832,000 gain (2020: RMB15,836,000) relating to
unlisted equity securities classified as equity instruments at
FVOCI (2020: equity instruments at FVOCI) held at the end of
the current reporting period and is reported as changes in fair
value reserve (non-recycling).

if) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable
to accounts receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-agencies, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

Accounts and bills receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 16% (2020:
16%) and 52% (2020: 52%) of the accounts and bills
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)
Accounts and bills receivables (Continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Accounts receivables are due within one to four
months from the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are more than four months past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's
historical credit loss experience indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivables of
MLCC segment as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

A5 ER R MIEE

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

b) FEER @
R IBR BN (&

AEBHFMAERGEEBBRETRNER
ETENEEFE ZSFHEETPREFB
FTEEIPRBZLRRER ZERET
TEBERPZREBENMURBEMALEIR
BZREEN - BBHNEREHERER —=M
BRAREIH XRAaHBANERNEH AR
RXfFRBERBERRER  HEEREMERI
EE - —RMz  AEEFEZREFREMHET

=)
on °

AEBRBASNE2MRAEERBE 8
EBRWNREBEZEGRER ARTELERER
EEFESH - AEAEENEEEEGRER
BETRARAZERIBZEREBRAEERER &
ROEPREAENBEEEREFIERFTRAS
FEBE—FED-

TRHEHEBAREBMLCCH 2B 2 FE U= IE R
2021 &2020F12H3 1 HEEMNEE AR &
HEEHRIEZER

Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHEARS A= IRE4EZE E51E#EE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2021 20214 % AR®TT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BNER (R ER) 0.1% 59,144 68
1-30 days past due AHA1ZE30H 2.0% 1,382 24
31-60 days past due AHA31E60H 11.0% 60 6
61-90 days past due #FHA61ZE90H 0% 2 -
91-180 days past due AHA91E180H 0% - -
181-360 days past due AHA181E360H 90.0% 7 6
More than 360 days past due A EAEE360H 100.0% 9,212 9,212
69,807 9,316

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFZEREMARAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%

221



222

Notes to the Financial Statements

M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

b) EFEER #@)

Accounts and bills receivables (Continued) FEW B R [EI ZHE (42)
Expected Gross

loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
FEHAES A= IREA2%R ESiER A
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2020 20204 % ARETFT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BNER (ki ER) 0% 37,846 =
1-30 days past due AHEA1E30H 1.5% 19,436 292
31-60 days past due FHA31E60H 2.0% 10,337 206
61-90 days past due #1HA61ZE90H 3.4% 3,981 137
91-180 days past due #HA912180H 10.0% 1,063 106
181-360 days past due HER181E360H 69.0% 2,952 2,027
More than 360 days past due #HHRBB360H 100.0% 5,500 5,500
81,115 8,268

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivables
of investments and financial services segment and other
general trading segment as at 31 December 2021 and
2020:

TREHABRAAERR2021F %2020F128
BSTHMERERERBRESREM—KRE S
NEZzZERREEENEERRE REHEE

BEZER:

Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE X IRE4EZE E51EEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2021 20214 % AREFxT ARETT
Current (not past due) BNER (G ER) 0% 114,871 =

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 &%



Notes to the Financial Statements

A5 ER R MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

Accounts and bills receivables (Continued)

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

b) EFEER #@)

W IBR B (&

Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE X IRE4EZE E51E#EE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2020 20204 % AREFT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BOHER (SR HR) 0% 88,508 -

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 2 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

An ageing analysis of the bills receivables that are neither

RHEREXDERBEMEZERBIBE
B o ZFHERGBAE > R MIERE L8R
HBEZ&ERR - BARREREERLZFE
WRIBEZRAFEHABEERREEZZEN

=R

WIERNNERRBREZERREZRE

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as AT
follows:
Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHARSIE R AREARER BiEE A
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2021 20214 % AREBFT ARBTT
Current (not past due) BDER (GR7EHR) 0% 15,614 =
Expected Gross
loss carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TEHARSIR R AREAEER BiEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
2020 2020 % AREFTxT ARETT
Current (not past due) BNHR CR#1ER) 0% 23,881 -
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M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)
Accounts and bills receivables (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
accounts receivables during the year is as follows:

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

b) EFEER #@)
B HIBER BT ()

FRNRRRBZ GREGERESHUWT :

2021 2020

20215 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®B T ARBT T

Balance at 31 December 2020 7220205128318 2 48R 8,268 13,707

Reversal of impairment B (358) (5,775)

Written off [=Fii/ 6] - (47)
Impairment losses recognised FRES 2 RERE

during the year 1,462 457

Exchange realignment PE A% (56) (74)

Balance at 31 December 2021 FR2021E12831 8 2 4565 9,316 8,268

Q) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate
risk arises primarily from bank deposits, bank and other
loans, bond payable and lease liabilities.

Bank deposits and bank loans at variable rates and time
deposits, bank and other loans, bond payable and lease
liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
The management continuously monitors interest rate
fluctuations and will consider further hedging interest rate
risk should the need arise.

Bank deposits are carried at low interest rates and the
interest income thereon is not significant.
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A5 ER R MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Q) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The effective interest rates of the interest-bearing financial
instruments of the Group are set out below.

i) Interest rate risk profile
The following table details the interest rate risk profile of

the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments at the
end of the reporting period:

MR (&)

FIE R IET

MHHBEREEZBRREEK (&

AEEGFEEMIAZERMEFHN T

TRFLFEBFEEHMIARBSHRZ
MEREBEER

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notional Notional
Amount Amount
mE H1E
RMB’'000 RMB‘000
AR¥FT AREEF T
Fixed interest rate EEF=E
Financial liabilities By =L
Bank and other loans IR1T R EAM (258,646) (220,136)
Lease liabilities HEaE (29,567) (37,878)
(288,213) (258,014)
Variable interest rate FENFIE
Financial assets TREE
— Cash at bank —iR1TIR% 62,864 60,289
Financial liabilities TRIEE
Bank and other loans RITREMER (132,400) —
Net JREE (69,536) 60,289
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M5 ERAR MIEE

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Q) Interest rate risk (Continued)
ii) Sensitivity analysis

Bank and other loans, and lease liabilities of the Group
which are fixed rate instruments, are insensitive to any
change in interest rates. A change in interest rates at the
end of the reporting period would not affect profit or loss.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate financial instruments, the analysis
is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 100 (2020: 100) basis points increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2020.

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 (2020: 100) basis points in
interest rates for variable-rate financial instruments,
with all other variables held constant, would decrease/
increase the Group's loss after tax and increase/decreased
retained earnings by approximately RMB1,011,000 (2020:
RMB503,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate cash at bank.
Other components of consolidated equity would not
change in response to the general increase/decrease in
interest rates.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

d) Currency risk
i) Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables
and cash and bank deposits that are denominated in
a foreign currency, that is, a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily United States Dollars (“US$"), HK$ and Japanese
Yen. The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to
an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies
at spot rates when necessary to address short-term
imbalances.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate
at the end of the reporting period.

A5 ER R MIEE

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

d S¥ER
) HEBEEEE

FEBRTERNELEUERXZAERNERRY
RBIIETNBE G IS > B LA IS 5T BY B IR AR IR ~
BARBEAREERBTERNEERZ MK
REBRAR -SIRNZERNEBEESET
(M) Bk BE -AEEEBNBE
Frig BN EAEE R E A S8 NS > LIBR B K
o RBEERRERBBPEERNIERT ZK

7 o

TRFINAEBNRREMRAAZHNERR
B EEBERRARBMERININESR
LS EBSHENERIEENERME
F-MEHRBNME > ABRBBUAREI TR
IR SRR A BN EE R 5 o

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)

SMERERE UARKEREMD

2021 2020
20215 20204
Japanese Japanese
HK$ Yen us$ HK$ Yen
ETT AT =] ETT BT H
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETr ARETRT AREBTRT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Accounts and bills receivables  FEUIB R B ZE K K
and other receivables HFEWRTE 16,446 652 - 20,441 1,244 -
Deposits and other receivables  #<& K EL M E UGB 68 - - 72 -
Cash and bank balances RERRITERS 9,818 2,286 - 19,514 7,314 3,681
Trade and bills payables and FE(T B 5B K FE{
other payables ERRHEMENRIE (15,907) (3,705)  (10,941)  (18,126) (3,988) (8,722)
Net exposure arising from EEIEERK
recognised assets and liabilites ~ B&E% 2 Bk F58 10,357 (699)  (10,941) 21,829 4,642 (5,041)
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

d) Currency risk (Continued)
ii) Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the US$, HK$ and Japanese yen exchange rates, with
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/loss
before tax.

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

d E&%aEk @)
i)  HEEDH
T RBREMRETEBZRRANGEHN BB

En -BTKRBEZEXGEAIEEH 28R
B o

2021 2020
20215 20204

Decrease/ Decrease/

(increase) (increase)

Increase/ in profit Increase/ in loss

(decrease) before (decrease) before

in rate income tax in rate income tax

FRERIGIR BRRTE

bl A5 1R

EXiEE/ L/ EXRS "L/

(PE1E) (&) (FE1E) (1)

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETR AR®BFTx AREETR

Us$ X7 5 518 5 1,091
(5) (518) (5) (1,091)

HK$ ABTT 5 (35) 5 232
(5) 35 (5) (232)
Japanese Yen H 5 (547) 5 (252)
(5) 547 (5) 252

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ profit/(loss) before tax measured
in the respective functional currencies, translated into RMB
at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting
period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged
rate between the HK$ and US$ would not be materially
affected by any changes in movement in value of the US$
against other currencies. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2020.

TIANLI HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED XFiZEREMAIRAR
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Notes to the Financial Statements

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

e) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to the
parent company’s board approval.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial liabilities and financial assets
(for example, accounts receivables) and projected cash
flows from operations.

The Group's policy is to maintain sufficient reserve of cash
and cash equivalents and have available funding through
bank loans to meet its working capital requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay, is as
follows:

A5 ER R MIEE

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

e) HRBEZER

AEEETZENEEEREABTEER:
BRI SEREBEFZERRERERE
RUBMEAREER ERAESESRIES
EHER  HRETT

AEBECERARBRERDESAI TAERHES
TRRER - LTEEZEHEREEREME
E (EWmE 23 HEAEKEZRE

==
AILEE °

AEBZHREEFERARRERRESTEY
B RBEBRTENESTRESZUENHE
EEEEFRE-

RBRERR *EBZIFTESTREBERE
WAIMBRERBE (BEUSGHMN XY (NEFH
M) BRBERRZBETARGFEZFER
H) 2B RARAER A AN RT BN
B

2021
20215
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
HESE ek k]
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but Carrying
On Less than less than less than amount at
demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
ZME E2yX:3 128318
RERE DRME B2 BNASE fEt ZIREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETr AR%®Tx ARBTT AR®BTRT AR®ETRT ARETRT
Non-derivative financial JEfTE£RIE &
liabilities
Bank and other loans RITREMER 114,400 289,675 11,730 6,730 422,535 391,046
Trade and bills payables & & ZHIERK
SRS - 68,983 - - 68,983 68,983
Accruals and other FESH & B R E e (T
payables EE] - 89,489 - - 89,489 89,489
Lease liabilities HE&RE - 13,336 12,131 6,161 31,628 29,567
114,400 461,483 23,861 12,891 612,635 579,085
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

e) Liquidity risk (Continued)

40. HHEREEZBRREE (&

e) MBEETRKE (B

2020
20205
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
SIAARITIRAE R
More than More than

1 year but 2 years but Carrying
On Less than less than less than amount at
demand 1 year 2 years 5 years Total 31 December
E2NE:S L4 128315
SEKEF DR BR245 B/RR5E K5t ZEREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARBTT AREBTT AREBETx ARET®

Non-derivative financial ~ JFfTESREE
liabilities

Bank and other loans RITREMER - 251,430 - - 251,430 220,136
Trade and bills payables & & ZHIERK
ENEE - 71,570 - - 71,570 71,570
Accruals and other FE&H & B R E (T
payables FRIE - 76,422 - - 76,422 76,422
Lease liabilities HE&RE - 14,434 10,560 16,586 41,580 37,878
- 413,856 10,560 16,586 441,002 406,006

41. COMPARATIVE CHANGES

Certain comparative figures have been adjusted

to

conform to the disclosure requirement in respect of the
discontinued operations set out in note 14 to the financial
statements. In addition, the comparative figures in the
consolidated income statement have been restated as if the
operation discontinued during the current year had been

discontinued at the beginning of the prior period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

42. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and which have not been early
adopted in these financial statements. These include the

A5 ER R MIEE

42, #HE2021F12831BLEECE M
BERERZIETE  FsT £ K2
B2 BELE

EEVBREATNEEH BREHENEZES

BEMETESIA M ER RERE IS
1@‘%?2&\%EETEEE'J&E%EFQEEEEZONJ@H2)?
BTHLEFERAREN BRRMBHREDPRE
FRW - HPEEUTAEARNEERRRE -

following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to
IFRS 3
Amendments to
IAS 16
Amendments to
IAS 37
Amendments to
IFRSs
Amendments to
IAS 1
IFRS 17 and
Amendments to
IFRS 17
Amendments
to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to
IAS 8
Amendments to
IAS 12

Reference to the Conceptual Framework'

Property, Plant and Equipment—
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous contracts — cost of
fulfilling a contract’

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020"

Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current?

Insurance contracts?

Disclosure of accounting policies?

Definition of accounting estimates?

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction?

BRI RS 2R 35y BSERZ 2R
(EHEN
Bt 2ER| 16582 L EN N
BRI ER®REIMAEmE
BIPR & st 2R 5375k > BIREH
(EHEN —-BITaHNMAA
Bl A 53R S 2R 2 2018¢i2020¢%%ﬁﬁk
(EHEN REERNEENE
BIFR & 2R H 192 BEEDEA R
BRI FETREY
BRI EERE175  RIESH?
R B PRE ERS 22 R 5
1758 2 BT
PRt R F 158 Bt BUR A1 B2
B PR B 75 3R 5 22 A
0. VN=F Vi P4
1BEIA
BIPR & st 2R 852 b E &2
1BEI 2

. =] DTL EQ‘J%QTZ
5T

HE-RZEENEER
& ERRNELERE
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42.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2021 (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

None of the amendments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

43.

(i)

(ii)

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 31 March 2022, First Promise Limited, an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group
entered into the share repurchase agreement
with Nancy International Limited, pursuant to
which First Promise Limited agreed to sell and
Nancy International agreed to repurchase the
repurchased shares at an aggregate consideration
of US$1,976,073 (equivalent to approximately
HK$15,439,651).

On 21 April 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group entered into an amendment to the loan
agreement with an independent third party, with
a loan principal of HK$463,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB378,600,000), The loan interest
will be decreased from 10% to 5.5%, and repayable
on 12 August 2025. As at 31 December 2021,
the outstanding principal and interests of the loan
agreement amounted to RMB258,646,000 (note
30).
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! 12022 1B HS 2 Bz FERBEX

2 120231 A1 HSZ Btz FEREX

ZEBITHABRRA 2 2 AEBRNR AIHH
ABERB 2 EERFFTRRLELEREX
TRE AEBRUERARASHRBEREN
ZAEfIHET 2R SRR o

43. HREHRFE

()  F2022F3B31H AEBZBEIES
&M B A EIFirst Promise Limited#2Nancy
International Limiteds] 37 & 17 B8 [B] 177 5% »
1t > First Promise Limited[dE = & & 15
miNancy Internationall® = 880 % % 0 fE
B&1D > 48 1L1BA1,976,073% 7T (HBERL
15,439,651 7T) °

(i) M2022Z4B21H  xEBRZE2ENNB
ANEBE—ZBIIE=F]IL— R ENRES
FpE EARAEA463,500,0008 70
(FHEMRH ARMK378,600,0007T) ° %
EERENEEHIO%BES 5% I
202588 12HEE - 120214612
B3 HZERNAREELAERFIEAA
R 258,646,000 (M{zE30) °
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